

Gates, L. J. (2021) The Impact of Different Sources of Fatty Acids on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

Access from the University of Nottingham repository: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/65114/1/L%20GATES%2014102696%20Thesis.pdf

Copyright and reuse:

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

This article is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution licence and may be reused according to the conditions of the licence. For more details see: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.5/

For more information, please contact eprints@nottingham.ac.uk

The Impact of Different Sources of Fatty Acids on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

Louise Joanna Gates

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the

degree of Doctor of Philosophy, 2020

Division of Nutritional Sciences School of Biosciences University of Nottingham

ABSTRACT

Maternal hypercholesterolaemia has been associated with atherosclerosis in the offspring of humans and animal models. Partially hydrogenated vegetable oil (P) and ruminant milk fat (R) contain trans fatty acids (TFA) that differ in isomer distribution and cause changes to cholesterol metabolism. TFAs are passed to the offspring across the placenta during fetal development and via the mother's milk. The study aimed to assess whether maternal consumption of two types of TFA diet (P and R) and a diet rich in saturated fatty acids ("Western" W diet) would differentially alter maternal lipoprotein metabolism causing changes to the offspring's lipoprotein metabolism and increasing their susceptibility to atherosclerosis in adulthood. Experimental fat diets were fed to female C57BLI6 mice during pregnancy (PC, RC, or WC), or throughout pregnancy and lactation (PP, RR, WW). Female offspring carrying the human ApoE*3 Leiden gene (AEL) were weaned onto post-natal diets for 12 weeks: (i) Chow (CCC, PCC, RCC); (ii) Atherogenic (CCA, PCA, PPA, RCA, RRA, WCA, WW); (iii) or remained on their dams' allocated fat diet (PPP, RRR or WWW). Maternal and offspring serum lipoprotein concentrations were measured, and offspring atherosclerosis assessed by lipid staining in cross sections of aorta. At day 17 gestation, dams consuming P diet had increased serum total cholesterol and triacylglycerol concentrations compared to R dams. Dams that had consumed P or R during pregnancy and C during lactation had similar serum cholesterol concentrations. However, continuing the fat diet throughout lactation caused R dams to have significantly greater serum cholesterol compared to P, W, and C dams. Dams consuming P and R had diet specific trans isomers in their adipose tissue, indicating the developing fetus and neonate were exposed to different TFA isomers. Maternal TFA consumption during pregnancy appeared to protect offspring from atherosclerosis in later life, irrespective of isomeric distribution of the TFA, however this effect was lost if the TFA diet was continued to be fed during lactation and early development periods. In conclusion, maternal consumption of TFA and SFA diets did not increase susceptibility of offspring to atherosclerosis. Both R and P TFA diets during pregnancy had an athero-protective effect. There was no effect of maternal W diet on offspring atherosclerosis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

With sincere thanks to all those who supported me on my PhD thesis journey.

Thank you to my sterling team of supervisors. My heartfelt thanks go to my supervisors for their perseverance, boundless patience, and sage advice - Professor Andrew Salter and Professor Simon Langley-Evans (University of Nottingham). Sincere thanks to my 2 supervisors across the pond, Professor Adam Lock (University of Michigan) and Dr Jana Kraft (University of Vermont) for their support, input, dietary fatty acid provisions and kind assistance in all things Fatty Acid.

For financial support and project funding sincere thanks go to the University of Nottingham, USDA NRI, and the University of Vermont. A special thank you to Professor Dale Bauman (Cornell University Ithaca, New York, USA) for gifting us the Ruminant Milk fat from a previous study. Thanks also to Nestlé, Vers-chez-les-Blanc, Switzerland for providing cocoa butter for the atherogenic diets. Thanks also go to Louis Havekes for providing the original breeding stock of ApoE*3 Leiden mice. Thanks also go to the University of Nottingham team who helped with animal duties and advice.

Finally thank you my fiancé, family and friends who supported me throughout and always believed in me. And a big thank you to all members of the Nutrition Division staff and colleagues - past and present - who guided me and rescued me and my pipettes throughout the studies. I will always have fond memories of "George" aka Perkin Clarus the temperamental GC machine that always worked when shown the spanner.

PUBLICATIONS

Gates, L. J., Langley-Evans, S. C., Kraft, J., Lock, A. L., and Salter, A. M. (2017). Fetal and neonatal exposure to trans -fatty acids impacts on susceptibility to atherosclerosis in apo E*3 Leiden mice. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 117, 377–385.

Data presented at Conferences

Gates, L. J., Langley-Evans, S. C., Kraft, J., Lock, A. L., and Salter, A. M. (2012). Impact of high fat "Western" diets on the fetal programming of atherosclerosis. *Nutrition Society Conference*, Belfast, N.Ireland

Gates, L. J., Langley-Evans, S. C., Kraft, J., Lock, A. L., and Salter, A. M. (2011). Impact of *trans*fatty acid sources on the fetal programming of atherosclerosis, *Experimental Biology Conference (DOHAD)*, Washington DC, USA.

COMMONLY USED ABBREVIATIONS

А	Atherogenic post-natal diet
AA	Arachidonic Acid
ABCA1	ATP Binding Cassette Transporter A1
AEL	ApoE*3 Leiden (in context to topic, mouse, or gene)
ALA	α-Linoleic Acid
ApoLP	Apolipoprotein
ASPA	The Animal (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986
C57	C57(Black)J6 Wild Type Mouse
С	Chow diet
CCA	Chow Pregnancy diet / Chow lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
CCC	Chow Pregnancy diet / Chow lactation diet / Chow post-natal diet
СоА	Co-enzyme A
CE	Cholesteryl Ester
Chol	Cholesterol
CLA	Conjugated Linoleic Acid
CRP	C-reactive protein
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DHA	Docosahexaenoic Acid
EA	Elaidic Acid trans 9
EC	Endothelial Cell
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
FA	Fatty Acid
FAME	Fatty Acid Methyl Ester
FFAs	Free Fatty Acids (or Non-esterified fatty acids)
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
ICAM	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1
IDL	Intermediate Density Lipoprotein
IL	Interleukin
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
LA	Linoleic Acid
LC	Long Chain Fatty Acid
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
LDLr	LDL Receptor
LP	Lipoprotein
MLP	Maternal Low Protein diet
MUFA	Mono-unsaturated Fatty Acid
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty acid liver disease
NCD	Non-Communicable Diseases
NDNS	National Diet and Nutrition Survey 2008-2012

0A	Oleic Acid cis 9
P or PHVO	Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil diet
PCA	PHVO Pregnancy diet / Chow Lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
PCC	PHVO Pregnancy diet / Chow Lactation diet / Chow post-natal diet
PPA	PHVO Pregnancy diet / PHVO Lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
РРР	PHVO Pregnancy diet / PHVO Lactation diet / PHVO post-natal diet
PPARy	Peroxisome proliferation activated receptor-y
PPL	Phospholipid
PUFA	Poly-Unsaturated Fatty Acid
RA	Rumenic Acid
R or RTFA	Ruminant Trans Fatty Acid diet
RCA	RTFA pregnancy diet / Chow lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
RCC	RTFA pregnancy diet / Chow lactation diet / chow post-natal diet
RRA	RTFA pregnancy diet / RTFA lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
RRR	RTFA pregnancy diet / RTFA lactation diet / RTFA post-natal diet
SFA	Saturated Fatty Acid
SMC	Smooth Muscle Cell
TAG	Triglyceride
TFA	Trans Fatty Acid
VA	Vaccenic Acid trans 11
VCAM-1	Vascular Cellular Adhesion Molecule-1
VLDL	Very Low Density Lipoprotein
W or Western	'Western style' diet which is high in saturated and contains mono and poly-
	unsaturated fatty acids
WCA	Western pregnancy diet / Chow lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal diet
WWA	Western pregnancy diet / Western lactation diet / Atherogenic post-natal
	diet
WWW	Western pregnancy diet / Western lactation diet / Western post-natal diet

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1	LINTRODUCTION
1.	GENERAL INTRODUCTION
1.1	NATIONAL AND GLOBAL HEALTH INITIATIVESAND RECOMMENDATIONS
1.1.1.	Global Health Initiatives for Action on Non-Communicable Diseases and Premature Mortality
1.1.2.	UK Governments' Health Initiatives and Recommendations
1.1.3.	UK Population Nutrient Intake 4
1.2	CORONARY HEART DISEASE AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS
1.2.1.	The Role of the Vascular Endothelium in Atherosclerosis
1.2.2.	Plaque Development 10
1.2.3.	Atherothrombosis
1.3	LIPIDS AND LIPOPROTEIN METABOLISM
1.3.1.	Lipoproteins and Apolipoproteins
1.3.2.	Lipid Metabolism: Exogenous Pathway13
1.3.3.	Lipid Metabolism: Endogenous Pathway15
1.3.4.	Lipid Metabolism: Reverse Cholesterol Pathway (HDL)16
1.4	CHOLESTEROL-ATHEROSCLEROSIS HYPOTHESIS
1.4.1.	Cholesterol Synthesis and LDL Receptor 19
1.4.2.	Health Initiatives for Cholesterol
1.4.3.	Fatty Acid Activation of Gene Expression in Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis Pathways
1.5	THE IMPACT OF DIFFERENT FATTY ACIDS ON SERUM CHOLESTEROL AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS
1.5.1.	Saturated Fatty Acids25
1.5.2.	Unsaturated Fatty Acids (UFA)
1.5.3.	Trans Fatty Acids (TFA)
1.5.4.	Impact of MUFA/PUFAs and SFAs on Cholesterol-Atherosclerosis
1.5.5.	Impact of FAs on Serum TAG and CHD Risk35
1.5.6.	The Impact of PHVO and RTFA on Cholesterol-Atherosclerosis
1.5.7.	Other Macronutrients and their Impact on Serum Cholesterol

1.6	FETAL PROGRAMMING AND DEVELOPMENTAL ORIGINS OF HEALTH AND DISEASE (DOHAD)
1.6.1.	Origins of Fetal Programming Hypothesis – Undernutrition in Human Retrospective Studies
1.6.2.	Fetal Programming by Undernutrition in Animal Models
1.6.3.	Fetal Programming of CHDs by Overnutrition45
1.6.4.	Fetal Programming by Overnutrition in Animal Models
1.6.5.	Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
1.6.6.	Impact of TFAs on Fetal Programming 48
1.6.7.	Impact of TFAs on Fetal Programming in Animal Models 50
1.6.8.	Mechanisms of Fetal Programming 51
1.6.9.	Developmental Programming of NCDs by Early Life Nutrition
1.6.10.	Impact of Different Sources of FAs on the Developmental Programming of NCDs by Early Life Nutrition
1.6.11.	Developmental Programming by Early Life Nutrition in Animal Models
1.7	ANIMAL MODELS OF FETAL AND DEVELOPMENTAL PROGRAMMING 59
1.7.1.	Animal models of Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
1.7.2.	Rodent Models of Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
1.7.3.	ApoE*3 Leiden Mouse Model of Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis
1.8	AIM AND HYPOTHESIS 64
CHAPTER 2	MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.	REAGENTS
2.1	DIETS FOR ANIMAL EXPERIMENTS
2.1.1.	Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil TFA (PHVO or P)68
2.1.2.	Ruminant TFA (RTFA or R) 68
2.1.3.	Western Diet (Western or W) 68
2.1.4.	Atherogenic Diet (Athero or A) 69
2.2	ANIMALS 69
2.2.1.	ANIMAL HUSBANDRY
2.2.2.	Parturition/Suckling

2.2.3.	Offspring
2.2.4.	Study 1 Diet Groups: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
2.2.5.	Diet Groups Study 2: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
2.2.6.	Diet Groups Study 3: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
2.3	TISSUE SAMPLES
2.4	SERUM COLLECTION
2.5	GENOTYPING
2.5.1.	DNA Extractions
2.5.2.	PCR Amplification
2.5.3.	Gel Electrophoresis
2.6	SERUM ANALYSES
2.6.1.	Colorimetric Assays –Serum Total Cholesterol and Triglyceride
2.6.2.	Colorimetric Assay – Serum Glucose
2.6.3.	Serum Lipid Analysis (Randox)
2.7	FATTY ACID ANALYSIS
2.7.1.	Direct Fatty Acid Methyl Ester (FAME) Synthesis
2.7.2.	Gas Chromatography of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (FAME) 80
2.7.3.	Fatty Acid Analysis of Perirenal Adipose Tissue 81
2.7.4.	Lipid Extraction from Liver Tissue
2.7.5.	Liver Cholesterol and Triglyceride Assays 82
2.8	HISTOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF THE AORTA and atherosclerosis quantification 82
2.9	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
CHAPTER 3 APOE 3*LE	3 METHOD DEVELOPMENT FOR ATHEROSCLEROSIS LESION QUANTIFICATION IN EIDEN MICE
3.	INTRODUCTION
3.1	MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1.1.	Mice and Diets

3.1.2.	Heart Dissection and Microtomy
3.1.3.	Histological Analysis of Atherosclerosis within the Aorta
3.1.4.	Oil Red O Staining 88
3.1.5.	Imaging and Quantification
3.2	RESULTS - ANALYSIS AND QUANTIFICATION OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS
3.2.1.	Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression throughout Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice
3.2.2.	Comparison of Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis of All Sections
3.2.3.	Quantitative Analysis of Subsets of Atherosclerosis Lesions
3.3	DISCUSSION
3.4	CONCLUSION
CHAPTER	4: THE IMPACT OF A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE)
4.	INTRODUCTION
4.1	AIM AND HYPOTHESIS
4.2	DIETS
4.3	MICE
4.3.1.	Pregnancy Study (Dams/Fetus): Wild type C57BL/6J mice
4.3.2.	Study 1 Dams: Wild type C57BL/6J mice
4.3.3.	Study 1 Offspring: ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 100
4.4	RESULTS - THE IMPACT OF CONSUMING A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON MATERNAL PHYSIOLOGY (C57 MOUSE)
4.4.1.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Body Weight
4.4.2.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Body Composition and Organ Weight
4.4.3.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Fetal and Placenta Development
4.4.4.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose

4.4.5.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids
4.4.6.	The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue (%FAME)
4.5	RESULTS - THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON ATHEROSCLEROSIS DEVELOPMENT IN OFFSPRING (AEL MOUSE)
4.5.1.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body Weight of Offspring
4.5.2.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring
4.5.3.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Serum Glucose and Serum Lipids of Offspring
4.5.4.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Liver Lipids of offspring
4.5.5.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue (%FAME)
4.5.6.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring
4.6	DISCUSSION 117
4.6.1.	The Impact of a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal and Fetal Physiology
4.6.2.	The Impact of a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Development of Atherosclerosis in AEL Offspring
4.6.3.	Study Limitations
4.7	CONCLUSION
CHAPTER	5: STUDY 2 - THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN THE APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE
5.	INTRODUCTION
5.1	AIM AND HYPOTHESIS
5.2	METHOD
5.3	MATERNAL RESULTS –THE IMPACT OF CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON MATERNAL BODY COMPOSITION AND TISSUES

5.3.1.	The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA OR Western diet on Pregnancy Weight Gain
5.3.2.	The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA OR Western diet during Lactation on Post-weaning Maternal Bodyweight
5.3.3.	The Impact of Maternal consumption of P, R or W diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Body Weight, Organs and Tissues
5.3.4.	The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose
5.3.5.	The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Liver Lipids
5.3.6.	The Impact of consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation of the Fatty Acid composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue
5.4	OFFSPRING RESULTS – THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE)
5.4.1.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Bodyweight of Offspring
5.4.2.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring
5.4.3.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose Offspring
5.4.4.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Liver Lipids of Offspring
5.4.5.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring
5.4.6.	The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring
5.5	DISCUSSION
5.6	CONCLUSION
CHAPTER	6: STUDY 3 - THE IMPACT OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET THROUGHOUT LIFESPAN ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN THE AEL MOUSE. 159
6.	INTRODUCTION
6.1	AIM AND HYPOTHESIS 160

6.2	METHOD
6.3	OFFSPRING RESULTS: THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET THROUGHOUT LIFESPAN ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (ael mouse)
6.3.1.	The Impact of P, R or W Diet throughout Lifespan on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring164
6.3.2.	The Impact of a P, R or W diet throughout Lifespan on Liver Lipids of Offspring
6.3.3.	The Impact of Different Dietary Fats throughout Lifespan on Serum Glucose and Serum Lipids of Offspring
6.3.4.	The Impact of P, R and W diets on Perirenal Adipose Tissue in Offspring 169
6.3.5.	The Impact of Different Dietary Fats throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis in Offspring
6.4	DISCUSSION
6.5	CONCLUSION
7.	GENERAL DISCUSSION
7.1.1.	The Effect of Maternal Consumption of P and R Diets on Maternal Physiology and Lipoprotein Metabolism During Pregnancy and Lactation (C57 Mouse)
7.1.2.	The Effect of Maternal Consumption of P, R, W Diets on Offspring Physiology and Atherosclerosis Development (AEL Mouse)
7.1.3.	The impact of P, R or W Throughout Lifespan on Atherosclerosis Development in Offspring (AEL Mouse)
7.2	STUDY LIMITATIONS
7.3	MAIN IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE WORK
7.4	CONCLUSION
REFERENC	CES

TABLES

Table 1.1 Abridged Results of the National Diet and Nutrition Survey 2008-20126
Table 1.2 Lipoproteins and Apolipoproteins13
Table 1.3 Fatty Acid and Cholesterol Transport Proteins 14
Table 1.4 Fatty Acid Regulation of Transcription Factors 22
Table 1.5 Fatty Acid Composition of Human Breast Milk57
Table 2.1 Experimental Diets Fatty Acid Profile 66
Table 2.2 Animal Feed Experimental Diets 68
Table 2.3 Tissue Samples
Table 2 4 PCR Extract-N-Amp Solution77
Table 2.5 PCR Thermocycler Parameters for the AEL Genotype
Table 2.6 Infinity [™] Assay Dilutions
Table 2.7 FAME Analysis Gas Chromatography Specifications and Programme
Table 3.1 Comparison of Atherosclerosis Quantification Techniques ¹ 85
Table 3.2 Results of the Analysis of Different Quantities of Aortic valve cross-sections 93
Table 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet consumed during Pregnancy on Materna
Body Weight
Table 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Fetal and Placenta
Development
Table 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet During Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Lipids
and Serum Glucose
Table 4.4 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body
Weight of Offspring 107
Table 4.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body
Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring 108
Table 4.6 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Serum
Glucose and Serum TAG of Offspring 110
Table 5.1 The Impact of consumption of PHVO, RTFA OR Western diet during Pregnancy or
Maternal Body Weight 127
Table 5.2 The Impact of consumption of P, R or W diet during Pregnancy and Lactation or
Maternal Tissue 130
Table 5.3a The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation or
Maternal Serum Lipids 133
Table 5.3b The Impact of consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation or
Maternal Serum Glucose
Table 5.4 The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation or
Maternal Liver Lipids
Table 5.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and
Lactation on Bodyweight on Bodyweight of Offspring 139
Table 5.6a The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy
and Lactation on Serum Lipids of Offspring 143
Table 5.6b The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy
and Lactation on HDL-LDL and Non-HDL/HDL Ratios of Offspring

Table 5.6c The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet through	out Pregnancy
and Lactation on Serum Glucose of Offspring	
Table 5.7 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout	Pregnancy and
Lactation on Liver Lipids of Offspring	
Table 5.8 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout	Pregnancy and
Lactation on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspri	ng 148
Table 6.1 The Impact of P, R or W Diet on Serum Glucose, TAG and Choles	sterol ratios of
Offspring	168

FIGURES

Figure 1.2 Lipoprotein Metabolism and Atherosclerosis	Figure 1.1 Progressive Atherosclerosis	7
Figure 1.3 HDL Metabolism 17 Figure 1.4 Conversation of Essential Fatty Acids to Eicosanoids and Docosanoids 27 Figure 1.5 PHVO and Ruminant <i>trans</i> isomers 28 Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid 31 Figure 1.8 The effect of SFA, PUFA, MUFA and TFA on Serum Total Cholesterol-HDL Ratio 34 Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease 42 Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease 42 Figure 2.1 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.4 Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 106<	Figure 1.2 Lipoprotein Metabolism and Atherosclerosis	.16
Figure 1.4 Conversation of Essential Fatty Acids to Eicosanoids and Docosanoids 27 Figure 1.5 PHVO and Ruminant trans isomers. 28 Figure 1.6 Hydrogenation of PHVO. 29 Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid 31 Figure 1.8 The effect of SFA, PUFA, MUFA and TFA on Serum Total Cholesterol-HDL Ratio 34 Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease 42 Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets 67 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight. 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 102 Figure 3.4 Chaitative and Quantitative Analyses of AhoreSclerosis 91 Figure 3.4 Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. 89 <td>Figure 1.3 HDL Metabolism</td> <td>. 17</td>	Figure 1.3 HDL Metabolism	. 17
Figure 1.5 PHVC and Ruminant trans isomers	Figure 1.4 Conversation of Essential Fatty Acids to Eicosanoids and Docosanoids	. 27
Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid .31 Figure 1.8 The effect of SFA, PUFA, MUFA and TFA on Serum Total Cholesterol-HDL Ratio .34 Cholesterol-LDL Ratio .34 Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease .42 Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets .53 Figure 2.3 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis .71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis .74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy .86 Figure 3.2 Brady 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Iterspan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis .74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy .86 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. .89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of Apler'3 Leiden Mice. .90 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight. .102 Figure 4.2 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring. .102 Figure 4.1 The Impact of a	Figure 1.5 PHVO and Ruminant trans isomers	. 28
Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid	Figure 1.6 Hydrogenation of PHVO	.29
Figure 1.8 The effect of SFA, PUFA, MUFA and TFA on Serum Total Cholesterol-HDL Ratio and Total Cholesterol-LDL Ratio	Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid	. 31
Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease 42 Figure 1.10 Tissue Remodelling 53 Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnaming of Atherosclerosis 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight	Figure 1.8 The effect of SFA, PUFA, MUFA and TFA on Serum Total Cholesterol-HDL Ratio and To Cholesterol-LDL Ratio	otal . 34
Figure 1.10 Tissue Remodelling 53 Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets 67 Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Iterspan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis. 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy. 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApDE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 102 Figure 4.7 The Impact of A Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.3 The Impact of Anternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Patternal Adipose Tissue 104 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 110 <t< td=""><td>Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease</td><td>. 42</td></t<>	Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease	. 42
Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets 67 Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.4 Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 102 Figure 4.4 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perimenal Adipose Tissue in offspring 103 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in Offspring 111 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in Offspring 112 Figure 4.4 The Impact of A Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in Offspring	Figure 1.10 Tissue Remodelling	. 53
Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis. 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.4 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.8 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Adetrnal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pertan of Atheroselerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 1112 Figure 4.1 The Impac	Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets	. 67
Atherosclerosis 71 Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 4.1 The Impact of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 113 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Ath	Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming) of
Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis	Atherosclerosis	.71
Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of 74 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 74 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 86 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. 89 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 90 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 111 Figure 4.8 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 4.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R	Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA	or
Atherosclerosis 72 Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 102 Figure 4.4 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 102 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 111 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 115 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P o	Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming) of
Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Ifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis. 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 105 Figure 4.4 C18:1 <i>trans</i> Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.7 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Meant Atheroselerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Meant Atheroselerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression i	Atherosclerosis	.72
Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis 74 Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 102 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atheroselerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Apost-natal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression in Offspring 115 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern	Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet through	out
Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy 86 Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 109 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of Advection Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 112 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression in Offspring 113 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumpt	Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis	.74
Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy 87 Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice. 90 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.5 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 115 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 115 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of <td< td=""><td>Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy</td><td>. 86</td></td<>	Figure 3.1 Orientation of Heart and Aortic Valves for Dissection and Microtomy	. 86
Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets 87 Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O. 89 Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice. 90 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight. 101 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.4 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 100 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 111 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring (%FAME) 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 115 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Leatation on Post-Weaning Maternal Body Weight 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning) 132	Figure 3.2 Diagram of Mounted Heart for Microtomy	. 87
Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O	Figure 3.3 Serial sections mounted onto slides in 3 sets	. 87
Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice 90 Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 101 Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 106 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 106 Figure 4.3 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 113 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal Body Weight 12	Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O	. 89
Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis 91 Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight	Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice	. 90
Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight	Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis	. 91
Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Visceral Adipose 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 106 Figure 4.4 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 109 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 113 Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 115 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 116 Figure 5.2 The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- 128 Figure 5.2 The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.2 The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.2 The Impact of a P, R or W D	Figure 4.1 The Impact consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Weight 1	101
Tissue 102 Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.4 C18:1 <i>trans</i> Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 109 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 115 Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 115 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 116 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning) 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum	Figure 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Visceral Adipo	ose
Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids 105 Figure 4.4 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue 106 Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring 109 Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring 111 Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring 112 Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 113 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 115 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout	Tissue1	102
Figure 4.4 C18:1 <i>trans</i> Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue	Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids1	105
Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring	Figure 4.4 C18:1 <i>trans</i> Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue	106
Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring	Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring1	109
Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring	Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring1	111
Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring (%FAME)	Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring	112
of Offspring (%FAME) 113 Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean 115 Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 115 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 116 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Postweaning) 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.3a Dietribution of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132	Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tiss	sue
Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring 115 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 115 Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of 116 Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Postweaning) 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum 132 Figure 5.3a Dietribution of C18:1 Trans EAs in Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue of mothers 132	of Offspring (%FAME)1	113
Atheroscierosis Lesion Area in Offspring	Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Me	ean
Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression in Offspring	Atheroscierosis Lesion Area in Offspring	115
Atherosclerosis Expression in Offspring	Figure 4.40 The Import of Materiael Concurrentian of D or D Diet during Dragmonau on the Detter	115
Figure 5.1 The Impact of Consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Lactation on Post-Weaning Maternal Body Weight	Athereodered Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern	1 01
Body Weight 128 Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Postweaning) 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning) 132 Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning) 132 Figure 5.3a Dietribution of C18:1 Trans EAs in Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue of mothers	Ameroscierosis expression in Onspring	110
Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- weaning)	Pigure 5.1 The impact of Consumption of a P, R of W Diet during Lactation on Post-wearing Mater	120
Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R of W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post- weaning)	Figure 5.22 The Impact of 2 P. P. or W. Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Pc	120
Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning)	migure 3.24 The impact of a 1, it of wildler during rifeghancy on Material Serum Cholesterol (10	132
Cholesterol (Post-weaning)	Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P. R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Ser	um
Figure 5.3a Distribution of C18:1 Trans FAs in Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue of mothers	Cholesterol (Post-wearing)	132
\mathbf{U}	Figure 5.3a Distribution of C18:1 Trans FAs in Maternal Perirenal Adinose Tissue of moth	ers
consuming P R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation (PP RR WW) 136	consuming P R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation (PP RR WW)	136
Figure 5.3b Distribution of C18:1 Trans FA in Maternal Perirenal Adinose Tissue of mothers P. R or W	Figure 5.3b Distribution of C18:1 Trans FA in Maternal Perirenal Adinose Tissue of mothers P. R or	r W
diet during Pregnancy and Chow diet in Lactation (PC, RC, WC)	diet during Pregnancy and Chow diet in Lactation (PC RC WC)	137
Figure 5.4 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a PTEA Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation	Figure 5.4 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a RTFA Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactat	ion
	on the Adipose Tissue of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet1	140
righte 5.4 The impact of maternal consumption of a ICT A Diet intoughout regnancy and Eactation	on the Adipose Tissue of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet1	140

Figure 5.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and
Lactation on Liver Weight of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet 141
Figure 5.6 Impact of maternal pregnancy diet on development of atherosclerosis in the aorta of the
offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet 150
Figure 5.7a The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the
Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet
Figure 5.7b The Impact of Maternal Consumption of R Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the
Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet
Figure 5.7c The Impact of Maternal Consumption of W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the
Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet
Figure 5.8 Impact of Maternal Pregnancy and Lactation Diet on Development of Atherosclerosis in the
Aorta of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet
Figure 6.1a The Impact of Maternal PHVO or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the
Weaning body weight of Offspring
Figure 6.1b The Impact of a PHVO diet on Weight Gain of Offspring
Figure 6.2 The Impact of a P, R or W diet throughout Lifespan on Liver weight of Offspring 164
Figure 6.3 The Impact of an RTFA Diet throughout Lifespan on Visceral Adipose Tissue of Offspring
Figure 6.4 The Impact of P Diet on Liver Lipids of Offspring
Figure 6.5 The Impact of P, R or W Diet on Serum Cholesterol of Offspring
Figure 6.6 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring 170
Figure 6.7 The Impact of P, R or W Diet throughout Lifespan on the Development of Atherosclerosis in
Offspring

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The fetal and developmental programming of atherosclerosis forms the basis of this thesis. The following paragraphs of the introduction outline the impact of nutrition on the health of populations and their link to the high rate of death through cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis (paragraph 1.1). The aetiology and physiology of atherosclerosis (paragraph 1.3) is described followed by the impact of different sources of dietary fats on human lipid metabolism (paragraph 1.4) and the cholesterol-atherosclerosis link (paragraph 1.5). These paragraphs set the scene of how different dietary fats impact on lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis. It goes onto review the origins of fetal and developmental programming in both humans and animal models of disease giving examples of maternal under nutrition and over nutrition, with note to the impact of different maternal dietary fats on the fetal programming of atherosclerosis.

1.1 NATIONAL AND GLOBAL HEALTH INITIATIVESAND RECOMMENDATIONS

An unhealthy diet and lifestyle choice can cause serious health problems such as obesity, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases which together increase the possibility of premature mortality worldwide (WHO, 2013a, WHO, 2015). In the following paragraphs, global and national (UK) nutrition and health initiatives are described in order to understand the ever-increasing rise in premature mortality from cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) and their risk factors. Thereafter it outlines the UK government's strategy to educate and empower its population into making healthier choices and changing their lifestyles to try and resolve these endemic health problems (DH, 2014b, DH, 2015, PHE, 2010). It is recognised an excess of energy provided by a variety of nutrients such as added sugars, saturated fat and salt all contribute to health problems throughout an individual's lifespan.

1.1.1. Global Health Initiatives for Action on Non-Communicable Diseases and Premature Mortality

The World Health Organisation (WHO) reports that over 36 million people die from noncommunicable diseases (NCD) annually; including 14 million who die young (aged 30-70). NCDs include CVDs, chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes, and cancers. CVDs, including conditions such as coronary heart disease (CHD) and cerebrovascular disease, are a major cause of death globally. In 2008, the WHO reported that by 2030, 23 million people worldwide will die annually from CVDs (WHO, 2008) with populations from developing, low or middle income countries seeing a rise in CVD related deaths. In 2012 an estimated 17.5m (31%) deaths worldwide were caused by CVD related diseases (WHO, 2015). The WHO are seeking to prevent and control CVDs worldwide, working through local governments and their public health initiatives, to educate populations in the management of their own CVD risk. Inherent CVD risk factors include genetics, age, gender, and ethnicity. It is recognised that prevalence of CVDs are also heavily influenced by socio-economic factors such as geographic region, poverty, poor diet, physical inactivity, smoking and harmful alcohol consumption (Townsend et al., 2012b, WHO, 2013a).

The WHO Global Action Plan 2013-2020 sets out 9 voluntary targets for its member states (including the USA and UK) in order to reduce premature death from NCDs, many of which are risk factors associated with CVDs. These targets include:

- 1. Halting the rise in diabetes and obesity.
- 2. Reducing activity insufficiency by 10%.
- 3. Reducing salt/sodium intake by 30%.
- Increase the number of people receiving drug therapy to reduce heart attacks and stroke by 50%.
- 5. Reducing and controlling raised blood pressure in populations by 25%
- 6. Increase availability of medical equipment and aid to treat NCDs by 80%.

- 7. Reducing tobacco use by population over the age of 15 years, by 10%.
- 8. Reducing harmful alcohol consumption by 10%
- Reducing premature deaths from CVDs, cancer, diabetes, and respiratory disease by 25%.
 (WHO, 2013a)

The WHO indicated that a healthy diet and lifestyle changes are the key to achieving these targets. They set out recommendations that governments should work nationally with food manufacturers and producers to assist populations in meeting these targets. The WHO Action Plan recommendations cover all age groups of populations, but also specifically apply these recommendations to maternal, infant, and young child nutrition. Their recommendations are that policies are developed to regulate and reduce portion sizes of energy dense products, reduce salt and added sugar content of products, and replace the use of *trans* fats (TFA) and saturated fats (SFA) with unsaturated fats (UFA) - ultimately reducing the use of energy dense products and increase the availability of affordable fruit and vegetables. They state that the marketing of energy dense food and beverages to populations and particularly to children should be carefully regulated. Additionally, they suggest that governments promote and support maternal policies such as breast feeding until 2 years of age.

The WHO goes onto suggest many other voluntary policies for implementation to address the 9 factors outlined in the paragraph above for example physical activity for health – for governments to provide the infrastructure for leisure activities such as walking and cycling and addressing physical education needs in schools from infant age upwards.

1.1.2. UK Governments' Health Initiatives and Recommendations

The UK Government's Department of Health (DH) has disseminated national public health strategies through its White Paper presented at parliament in 2010 (DH, 2010) and the development of Action Plans "Living Well for Longer" (DH, 2014b, DH, 2015). The Government's white paper and subsequent action plans reflect the targets set out by the WHO for reducing preventable deaths from NCDs including CVD risks and implementing

maternal, infant and child health initiatives. In particular, the Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-2016 sets out key areas for improvement that address reducing premature mortality from CVDs through public health improvements. For example (i) reducing the number of low birth weight term babies; (ii) implementation and support for breastfeeding initiatives and, (iii) reducing excess body weight in adults and children through diet; (DH, 2012c).

Working alongside the National Health Service and other public health bodies such as Public Health England the strategy is to influence the UK's population's behaviour through promoting healthier living habits and earlier detection of NCDs. These areas of public health are encompassed through the introduction of health initiatives including: (i) providing NHS health checks for all; (ii) Reducing salt intake; (iii) Increasing physical activity and providing infrastructure for activities; (iv) using the "Eat Well Plate" which recommends the consumption of fruit and vegetables "5 portions a day", increasing oily fish consumption; (v) reducing smoking and harmful consumption of drugs and alcohol and, (vi) effectively reducing the prevalence of obesity and type 2 diabetes (NHS., 2014, Townsend et al., 2012a, DH, 2015, DH, 2010).

1.1.3. UK Population Nutrient Intake

The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) identified that 62% adults and 28% children (2-15 years) in the UK were overweight or obese and at increased risk of heart disease, stroke, Type-2 diabetes, liver disease and cancers due to consumption of energy dense foods such as sugar, TFA and SFA. The DH and Food Standards Agency state that the greatest proportion of food energy in a daily diet is obtained from fat. Current guidelines are that on average diets should contain <35% fat with < 2% fats obtained from TFAs, and 11% SFA (DH, 2014b, DH, 2015). In 2014, the UK Government released its findings from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) 2008-2012 which monitored the population's average nutrient intake across the UK. The NDNS results showed that average consumption exceeded the recommended daily intakes (RDI) for added (non-milk extrinsic sugars) sugars,

4

SFA and salt (see table 1.1). It was noted that although overall fat consumption was normal for dietary reference values across all age groups the majority of the saturated fat consumed came from dairy and meat products. They also reported that consumption of TFAs, including those TFA found in animal products, were also in keeping with dietary recommendations (DH, 2014a). However, it is acknowledged that self-reported energy intake observations such as those obtained by the NDNS can be skewed and misreported by participants and are therefore limited in their use due to the inaccuracy of measurements (Subar et al., 2015, Ashwell et al., 2006). Subar et al (2015) noted reasons for misreported nutrient intake include participants not wanting to appear unhealthy, they have difficulty recalling food and drink consumed and have difficulty in estimating quantities of nutrients when weighing food was not carried out. Subar et al (2015) and the European Commission's report on TFAs (EC, 2015) also noted that due to the lower cost of use of PHVOs in manufactured food products and therefore lower price at point of sale, that poorer socio-economic groups would consume greater quantities of fast food or high fat manufactured foods thereby consuming higher quantities of TFAs. It was acknowledged that this demographic of the population is underrepresented in the population average nutrient surveys (Suber et al, 2015, EC, 2015).

Further issues to consider is the lack of labelling of TFAs on food products sold loose e.g. bakery items and those present in ruminant meat and dairy products. Additionally, manufactured foods do not need to declare PHVO TFAs on packaging if under 1% is present (EC, 2015). It is therefore recognised that content of total TFA in products sold and therefore quantity of TFAs consumed are underestimated (EC, 2015). The variation in quantities of TFAs consumed across populations is evident from maternal dietary studies. Desci and Boehm (2013) reported that between 0.5% TFA in Germany, and up to 13.8% TFA in Canada were present in breast milk samples of nursing mothers (see paragraph 1.6.7).

		Current Daily Intakes (Age Group)					
Nutrient	Recommended	Infants	1.5y-3y	4y-10y	11y-	19y-	65y+
Consumption	Daily Intakes	0-18m			18y	64y	
Added sugars (non- milk extrinsic sugars) (%food energy)	<11% all age groups	4-8%	11.8%	14.7%	15.6%	12.7%	11.4%
Total Fat (% food energy)	<35% 4y-64y	N/A ¹	N/A ¹	<35%	<35%	<35%	36.2%
Cis Mono- unsaturated Fat (%food energy)	<13% all age groups	N/A ¹	N/A ¹	11-13%	11-13%	12-13%	12-13%
Saturated fat (%food energy)	<11% all age groups	15-18%	15-18%	13.2%	12.5%	12.6%	13.8%
Trans fat (% food energy)	<2% all age groups	0.5%	0.5%	0.7%	0.7%	0.8%	0.8%
Salt (g/day)	0-12m<1g/day 1y-3 <2g/day 4y+ 6g/day	2.3g	3.7g- 5.1g	3.7g-5.1g	6.7g	6.9g	7.2g
Oily fish (% Participants)	Percentage of participants consuming 1 portion/week (140g)	N/A	N/A	8-12%	8-12%	23%	38%
Fruit & vegetables (portions/day)	Participants consuming x portions/day	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.9 portions /day	4.1 portions /day	4.6 portions /day

Table 1.1 Abridged Results of the National Diet and Nutrition Survey 2008-2012

Results show mean intakes for combined male/female populations across each age group. ¹RDI do not apply to children under 5y age for Total Fat as children are unable to consume sufficient energy required in small volumes of food. Source: (DH, 2011, DH, 2012b, DH, 2012a, DH, 2014c)

1.2 CORONARY HEART DISEASE AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Coronary heart disease is described as the partial or complete blockage of the myocardial coronary arteries which occurs as a result of progressive atherosclerosis (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 Progressive Atherosclerosis

It has been recognised that atherosclerosis is a vascular endothelium inflammatory disease, induced and exacerbated by risk factors such as high fat-high cholesterol diets, diabetes, obesity, hypertension and smoking (Hansson, 2005, Townsend et al., 2012b, Badimon and Vilahur, 2014). Atherosclerosis has been characterised by the accumulation and uptake and infiltration of oxidised LDL cholesterol which create fatty and fibrous lesions within the intima

Source: Adapted from Libby (2002)

of arteries and veins (Libby et al., 2009, Lusis, 2000, Libby et al., 2002). It is noted that atherosclerosis can also develop within limb and cerebral arteries with equally deleterious effects such as thrombosis, aneurism, vessel rupture and ischemic stroke (Daniels, 2008).

In the first stages of atherosclerosis, arterial endothelial cells (ECs) become inflamed in response to modified circulating cholesterol and lipoprotein particles, e.g. oxidised LDL and phospholipids and short-chain aldehydes, and a vascular inflammatory response is activated (Libby, 2002, Sprague and Khalil, 2009). Sprague and Kahlil (2009) describe the vascular inflammatory response as including, vasodilation, increased permeability of the endothelium and in severe cases of atherosclerosis such as ischemia and thrombosis - blood stasis. The following paragraphs describe the molecular events which occur in the stages of atherosclerosis development and deterioration.

1.2.1. The Role of the Vascular Endothelium in Atherosclerosis

Endothelial cells (ECs) provide a semi-permeable barrier between the blood flow, extracellular matrix, and intima of the artery wall. A healthy endothelium is naturally atheroprotective has anticoagulation properties e.g. negatively charged surface, nitrous oxide and prostaglandin production which inhibit platelet activation (Lusis, 2000, Sprague and Khalil, 2009, Sitia et al., 2010, Badimon et al., 2012, Petersen, 2007). The extracellular matrix (ECM) provides a connection between the Smooth Muscle Cells (SMC) and basement of ECs and contain amongst other molecules, collagens, elastin, and proteoglycans (Figure. 1.1) (Khalil et al., 2004, Badimon et al., 2012). Fluid shear stress, the frictional force of blood flow on ECs, is also a key factor in determining EC morphology and ergo their regulation of inflammation. For example, in cylindrical arterial regions of laminar blood flow without any branches or junctions, ECs lie parallel with the direction of blood flow, are elliptical in shape and show reduced permeability to particles e.g. LDL. These cells contain genes for superoxide dismutase, and nitric oxide synthase which produces nitric oxide which has vasorelaxation properties (Lusis, 2000, Chiu and Chien, 2011, Libby, 2002). Up-regulation of these genes inhibits Nuclear Factor $_{\rm KB}$ (NF_KB) that regulates expression of Vascular Cellular Adhesion

8

Molecule 1 (VCAM1) which is a binding site for monocytes - one the first leukocytes involved in atherogenesis (Lusis, 2000, Sprague and Khalil, 2009, Badimon et al., 2012, Libby, 2002). Subsequently less inflammation and atherosclerosis has been found to occur in these arterial regions. In contrast, regions of the arterial system that have branches and a greater disturbed blood flow have polygon-shaped ECs that do not align with blood flow (Lusis, 2000, Libby, 2002). The endothelial inflammatory response makes changes within the cytoskeleton of the ECs that modifies the cellular tight junctions and increases permeability. It is therefore recognised that the ECs themselves in their locale, morphology and genetic content either potentiate atherogenesis or confer athero-protective properties.

Platelets have been found to arrive at the site of inflammation prior to leukocytes and can recruit leukocytes themselves thus becoming mediators between ECs and leukocyte migration (Massberg et al., 2002). Platelet glycoproteins adhere to endothelial cells in tandem with vascular inflammatory gene activation e.g. up-regulation of NF_KB in response to increased levels of oxidised lipids and products, which in turn up regulates e- and p-selectins and adhesion molecules such as VCAM1 and Intracellular Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM1) on the EC wall (Massberg et al., 2002, Rainger et al., 2015, Badimon et al., 2012). These EC inflammatory molecules tether and roll monocytes and T-lymphocytes along the EC wall through the action of transient ligands such as integrin (Lusis, 2000, Rainger et al., 2015).

Endothelial cells express a cascade of inflammatory factors such as C-reactive Protein (CRP), and cytokines such as Interleukins (IL1 β), Tumour Necrosis Factor- α (TNF α) and Interferon- γ (INF γ), (Lusis, 2000, Rainger et al., 2015, Sprague and Khalil, 2009). They activate signal transduction cascades that alter the cytoskeleton structure and ECM cellular adhesiveness. Tethered leukocytes migrate through the altered EC junctions into the sub-endothelial space. Once in the intima monocytes undergo proliferation and differentiation into macrophages through the action of Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor which also regulates expression of their surface scavenger receptors, e.g. SRA Types I and II (Badimon et al., 2012). Scavenger receptors are further regulated by the transcription factor Peroxisome Proliferation Activated Receptor-γ (PPARγ) whose ligands include oxidised FAs, TNFα and IFNγ (Libby, 2002, Lusis, 2000, Sprague and Khalil, 2009). It is the action of these cells and their receptors which bind to the modified lipoprotein (LP) ligands and Cholesteryl Esters (CEs) internalising them, creating lipid laden "foam" cells. Additionally, it has been found that LDL passively diffuses through the EC junctions and becomes retained in the intima via the action of LDL ApoB and the proteoglycans within the ECM (Khalil et al., 2004). Oxidised LDL is able to be taken up by macrophages, increasing the ability of macrophages to bind with oxidised LDL and products – all of which increase accumulation of lipid within nascent intima lesions or "fatty streak" – the first stage of atherosclerosis (Lusis, 2000, Libby, 2002, Sprague and Khalil, 2009, Badimon et al., 2012).

1.2.2. Plaque Development

Platelets and SMCs play vital roles in endothelium regeneration or plaque growth and development. It is reported that, dependent on conditions, - chemokine Stromal Derived Factor-1 regulates progenitor cell differentiation into foam cells or endothelial cells (Badimon et al., 2012). A recent study (Allahverdian et al., 2014) concluded that SMCs in human atherosclerosis play a greater role in atherosclerosis lipid retention and lesion development. SMCs can become foam cells in the presence of LPs due to the action of their membrane receptors ATP Binding Cassette Transporter A1 (ABCA1). In the intima layer SMC ABCA1 have reduced expression and become unable to efflux cholesterol from the cell, retaining the lipid and becoming foam cells that contribute to the lipid burden of the lesion (Choi et al., 2009, Allahverdian et al., 2014).

Both the body's immune response and CHD risk factors have also been found to influence SMC proliferation. For example, hypertension has been found to regulate expression of platelet-derived growth factor which stimulates SMC production. Furthermore, hypertension regulates angiotensin II in the renin-angiotensin pathway which stimulates SMC and ECM production (Sitia et al., 2010, Lusis, 2000, Libby, 2002). In addition to these risk factors, the body's immune system continues its cellular chemotactic response - macrophages, B and T

lymphocytes initiate downstream cytokines e.g. IL6 and CRP which direct migration and proliferation of SMCs and promote fibrous plaque development (Sprague and Khalil, 2009, Lusis, 2000). As foam cell, ECM and SMC proliferation continue, the fatty lesion increases into a bulky fibrous lesion that contains increasing levels of thrombin generating SMC microparticles. Over time, these microparticles add fuel to the thrombotic nature of the plaque, the plaque increases in size and can cause arterial stenosis, limiting blood flow and reducing oxygen supply to the heart, thereby inducing clinical presentation of CHD conditions such as angina or ischemic events (Lusis, 2000, Libby, 2002, Badimon and Vilahur, 2014).

1.2.3. Atherothrombosis

When a plaque ruptures, it exposes the underlying ECM vasculature and brings the plaque contents into contact with the circulating blood, instigating the blood coagulation cascade simultaneously with platelet aggregation. Platelet aggregation and the coagulation cascade enhance and chemoattract more platelets and leucocytes to the injury site which perpetuates the growth of the thrombus leading to occlusion of the artery (Badimon et al., 2012, Badimon and Vilahur, 2014, Petersen, 2007). In the best of circumstances, the endothelium in repairing itself through the formation of a thrombus can also instruct dissolution of the clot through fibrinolysis and be resolved without incident. However, thrombus formation during sudden rupture or disruption can have fatal outcomes: (i) The thrombus grows in the arterial lumen and occludes it bringing about blood stasis, ergo reduced oxygen flow to the heart, ischemia and acute myocardial infarction. (ii) the thrombus can break away into the blood stream creating an arterial blockage "myocardial thrombosis" which induces ischemia and acute myocardial infarction and sudden death (Lusis, 2000, Badimon et al., 2012, Petersen, 2007, Badimon and Vilahur, 2014).

1.3 LIPIDS AND LIPOPROTEIN METABOLISM

Dietary fats, such as triglycerides (TAGs), fatty acids (FAs), cholesterol (Chol) and its esters (CE), and small amounts of phospholipids (PPLs), play pivotal roles in energy homeostasis and

cellular physiology (Gurr, 2016, Frayn, 2010, Anderson, 2003). Eaten in a balanced diet they provide an energy-dense nutrient (37 kJ/g) containing over twice as much energy as other macronutrients such as carbohydrates (16 kJ/g) and proteins (17 kJ/g) (BNF, 2018). Lipids also provide vital elements for many cellular functions, including, intermediates of lipid biosynthesis (e.g. phosphotidate) (Frayn, 2010), precursors of steroid hormones, key elements of membrane fluidity and cell signalling (Goldstein and Brown, 2015, Bloch, 1965, Anderson, 2003) and regulate gene transcription pathways (Goldstein and Brown, 2015, Salter and Tarling, 2007). However, it has been found that consumption of dietary fats can compromise metabolic pathways, increasing supply of circulating lipids and can lead to associated diseases such as dyslipidaemia (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003), metabolic syndrome, diabetes and atherosclerosis (Wilson, 2013, Keys et al., 1986). The following paragraphs give an overview of lipoproteins and FA metabolism.

Frayn (2010) outlines the three pathways for lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. The first is the exogenous pathway which allows for ingested dietary fats such TAG and cholesterol to enter the bloodstream and to be transported to the liver and tissues through the body's lymphatic system. Secondly, the endogenous pathway allows for the packaging of TAG and cholesterol with protein particles (lipoproteins) in the liver for transport to the cells and tissues. Finally, the third pathway focuses on the reverse cholesterol transport system, which returns cholesterol from cells to the liver for excretion in the bile.

1.3.1. Lipoproteins and Apolipoproteins

Lipoprotein (LP) is the name given to a combination of lipid and protein assembled in the body to transport hydrophobic lipids in the aqueous environment of the bloodstream and lymphatic system (Frayn, 2010). To aid this function apolipoproteins (ApoLP) bind with specific lipids and act as ligands for uptake into cells and tissues (see table 1.2) (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003).

12

Lipid/Lipoprotein	Apolipoprotein	Impact on atherosclerosis risk	Function
Chylomicrons	Apo Al, All, AlV ApoB48 (Intestinal) ApoCl, Cll, Clll, ApoE	t	Dietary TAGs. In intestine ApoCII activates LPL to hydrolyse TAG-rich chylomicrons into FFA + remnants. FAs transported to liver, muscle and adipose.
Very Low Density (VLDL)	ApoCl, Cll, Clll, ApoB100 (Liver) ApoE	1ApoB100 ligand LDLr	Cholesterol and CE. Liver synthesis of VLDL from FFA (Chylomicrons). CII activates LPL giving rise to LDL particles and FAs for adipose and muscle
Intermediate (IDL)	АроВ100, АроС АроЕ	1ApoB100 ligand LDLr	VLDL remnant is "IDL". Hepatic lipase converts IDL to LDL or taken up by liver LDLr
Low Density (LDL)	ApoB100 (Liver)	1ApoB100 ligand LDLr	Cholesterol and CE. Created from hydrolysed VLDL see above, delivered to liver and tissues via uptake by LDLr. Oxidized LDL particles taken up by scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis.
High Density (HDL)	Apo Al, All, AlV ApoCl, Cll, Clll, ApoE	↓ApoAI Liver receptor BI	CE and PPL. Attracts cholesterol from cells to HDL particle through SRBI by CETP or action of cholesterol esterification through activation of lecithin:acetyltransferase for transport to liver. Liver, Intestine

Table 1.2 Lipoproteins and Apolipoproteins

Source: (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003, Rader et al., 2009, Rye et al., 2009, Schaefer, 2002)

1.3.2. Lipid Metabolism: Exogenous Pathway

The exogenous pathway allows for dietary fats including TAG and cholesterol absorption into the blood stream to the liver and tissues via the lymphatic system (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). TAGs are emulsified via the action of bile acids and salts and pancreatic lipases to form mixed micelles, which are then absorbed by enterocytes of the small intestine by passive or facilitated diffusion (see Table 1.3 for transport proteins) (Frayn, 2010). Some are reesterified to form new TAGs which are incorporated with other molecules such as cholesterol, cholesterol esters, proteins (e.g. ApoB48) and phospholipids to form large lipoprotein particles known as chylomicrons. Chylomicrons then enter the blood stream via the lymphatic system and transport TAGs from the intestines to the liver and adipose tissue (Frayn, 2010). Final transport of TAGs and cholesterol to tissue receptors are dependent upon the apolipoproteins acquired e.g. ApoCII a key activator for Lipoprotein Lipase (LPL) (see Figure 1.2) (Khetarpal and Rader, 2015). The chylomicron becomes a substrate for capillaries expressing enzymes such as LPL which hydrolyses TAG to release free fatty acids (FFA) (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). Remaining particles are transferred to other LPs such as HDL or form chylomicron remnants with associated ApoLPs (see Table 1.2) (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003, Rye et al., 2009). These LPs become ligands for receptors e.g. hepatic LDL receptor (LDLr) or VLDL receptor (Frayn, 2010, Khetarpal and Rader, 2015). FA regulated Transcription Factor Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor 4 (HNF) regulate chylomicrons and cholesterol metabolism e.g. via ApoLPs AII, AIV, CII and CIII (Salter and Tarling, 2007, Sladek et al 1990) see Table 1.2 and Figure 1.2a.

Transport Protein	Tissue				
Fatty Acid Translocase (CD36)	Adipose tissue, small intestine, myocardium, skeletal muscle.				
Fatty Acid transport Protein	FATP1: Adipose, small intestine, skeletal muscle, brain				
(FATP, isomers 1-6)	FATP1, FATP5 Liver				
Fatty Acid Binding Protein (plasma	Specific to plasma membranes.				
membrane) FABPM					
Acetyl-CoA synthase	Transport of FAs into cells and esterification of FAs with CoA				
ATP Binding Cassette (ABC)	Cholesterol transport Enterocytes,				
ABC-A1	ABC-A1 & ABC-G1 involved in reverse cholesterol transport -				
ABC-G1	cholesterol from cells to HDL particles				
ABC-G5					
ABC-G8					
Niemann-Pick C1 Like Protein	Cholesterol transport				
(NPC1LP)					
Cholesterol Ester Transport	Involved in the reverse cholesterol transport system				
Protein (CETP)					

 Table 1.3 Fatty Acid and Cholesterol Transport Proteins

Source: Frayn (2010), Khetarpal and Radar (2015), Rye et al., (2009), Vitali et al (2017)

1.3.3. Lipid Metabolism: Endogenous Pathway

The endogenous pathway involves liver synthesis and secretion of lipoproteins (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). Liver TAG and cholesterol esters are packaged in the liver with apolipoproteins (ApoB100, ApoE and ApoC groups, see table 1.2) and are secreted into the bloodstream as VLDL particles. The VLDL act as a substrate to LPL within capillaries and deliver TAG from liver to tissues e.g. energy for muscle cells or storage by adipocytes (Khetarpal and Radar 2015). Redundant VLDL particles such as phospholipids, cholesterol esters or TAGs can be transferred to other lipoproteins such as HDL through the action of transport proteins e.g. Cholesterol Ester Transport Protein (CETP) or Phospholipid Transfer Protein (PPLTP) (Rader et al., 2009). The VLDL remnants and other redundant particles from circulating lipoproteins aggregate and increase the amounts of apolipoprotein (e.g. ApoB, ApoE and ApoC) in the particle which then become ligands for receptors in tissues e.g. hepatic LDL receptor, LDLr or B/E Receptor (see Table 1.2 and Figure 1.2) (Frayn, 2010, Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). Remaining circulating particles shrink through action of lipoprotein lipase until surface components are removed and the remnant forms an Intermediate Density Lipoprotein (IDL) consisting of a core of cholesteryl ester, ApoB100, free cholesterol and phospholipids (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003, Frayn, 2010). Cholesterol is delivered to cells through the selflimiting LDLr uptake of LDL particles and through moderation by FA regulated SCAP-SREBP2 system (Brown and Goldstein, 2009a) – see paragraphs 1.4-1.4.3 for further details.





Source: Khetarpal and Radar (2015)

Diagram shows lipoprotein metabolism and link to atherosclerosis Key: HL: Hepatic Lipase, LPL: Lipoprotein Lipase, ANGPTL4, ANGPTL3 – secreted protein inhibitors of Lipoprotein Lipase

1.3.4. Lipid Metabolism: Reverse Cholesterol Pathway (HDL)

HDL is often referred to as "good cholesterol" due to its inherent function in humans to "collect" cholesterol from tissues and transport it to the liver for excretion via the bile – see Figure 1.3 (Frayn, 2010, Rader et al., 2009). HDL plays a key role in the transfer of cholesteryl esters, TAGs, and phospholipids between lipoproteins (Kingsbury and Bondy 2003, Rye et al., 2009). Pre β -HDL particles consist of liver and intestinal secreted Apolipoprotein AI (ApoAI) and phospholipids (PPL) to form a discoidal HDL (Frayn 2010). It accepts cholesterol and PPL from cells via action of PPL Transfer Protein (PPLTP) or ATP Binding Cassette (ABCA1) to form mature, spherical HDL₂ (larger particles) or HDL₃ (smaller particles) (Kingsbury and Bondy,

2003, Rye et al., 2009). ApoAI and Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) are essential HDL cofactors as LCAT esterifies cholesterol in cell membranes and transfers the CEs to HDL₂ via cell membrane ATP Binding Cassette proteins (ABC – see table 1.3 and Figure 1.2) to create mature, spherical particles (Kingsbury and Bondy 2003, Rye et al., 2009). These larger particles deposit cholesterol through direct interaction with scavenger receptors at hepatocytes for onward excretion in bile – recreating lipid-poor ApoAI particles for regenerative cholesterol transport (Frayn, 2010). Control of HDL cholesterol synthesis and feedback pathways are to some extent controlled by FA gene regulated transcription factors, e.g. hepatic LXR-RXR control ABCA1 involved in reverse cholesterol transport system and ApoE, LPL and CETP function (Salter and Tarling, 2007) (see paragraphs 1.4-1.4.3).



Figure 1.3 HDL Metabolism

Key: EL Endothelial Lipase HL Hepatic Lipase PLTP Phospholipid Transport Protein LCAT: Lecithin-Cholesterol Acyltransferase CETP: Cholesterol Ester Transport Protein. ABC ATP Binding Cassette Protein SR Scavenger Receptor

TTC39B gene promotes ubiquitination and degradation of LX Receptor reducing ABCA1 expression GALNT2 gene encodes enzyme GaINAC-T2 and glycosylation of target proteins such as PLPT that increases PPL transfer and therefore increases HDL.

Source: Vitali et al (2017)
1.4 CHOLESTEROL-ATHEROSCLEROSIS HYPOTHESIS

There has been over 100 years' research into the impact of dietary fats on serum cholesterol (and their associated lipoproteins) and the development of atherosclerosis in both animal models and human dietary intervention studies (see section 1.5). The following paragraphs give an overview of cholesterol synthesis pathways, metabolism and its FA controlled mechanisms and association with atherosclerosis development.

Anitschow and Chalatow published their paper in German in 1913 which was translated into English in 1983 (Pelias, 1983). The translated publication describes the results of their experiments feeding cholesterol rich diets to rabbits, guinea pigs and rats and that rabbits were the most successful animal model for this type of research. They identified that egg yolk and brain fed to their experimental rabbits were high in what they described at the time as a protein "cholesterin" and that it was "absorbed through the gut lumen into the blood and can be detected there". They concluded that cholesterin had a harmful effect on many organs, including permeating the liver, adrenal glands, renal cortex, and thickening of aorta intima which was penetrated with fat like substances or "lipoids" (Anitschow and Chalatow, 1913, in Pelias, 1983). Schoenheimer and Breusch (1933) demonstrated mice could synthesise cholesterol when fed a cholesterol-free diet and conversely when mice were fed a cholesterol rich diet the cholesterol contribution from the mice was negated. This study has been noted as the first to evidence an "end-product feedback system of a biosynthetic pathway" (Goldstein and Brown, 2015). Additionally, it wasn't until 1940s that a methodology was developed to identify the classes of lipoproteins within human plasma samples through the use of ultracentrifugation and electrophoresis techniques (Gofman et al., 1949). These techniques first elucidated to the role of cholesterol Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) and its Apolipoprotein B in the development of atherosclerosis and correlation with CHD mortality risk (Gofman et al., 1949, Gofman et al., 2007, Goldstein and Brown, 2015).

1.4.1. Cholesterol Synthesis and LDL Receptor

Dyslipidaemia is identified as an abnormal plasma lipid profile, characterised by elevated circulating levels of cholesterol or TAGs (Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). One form of dyslipidaemia is what is now known to be a genetic disorder of lipoprotein metabolism known as Familial Hypercholesterolemia (FH). FH is characterised by elevated plasma LDL in the absence of dietary cholesterol or FA consumption and an increased risk of early CHD mortality (De Castro-Orós et al., 2010). Michael Brown and Joseph Goldstein (1974, 1977) identified the LDL receptor and its major role in cholesterol metabolism and FH. The LDLr is a transmembrane receptor, having 839 amino acids, with an external seven repeat cysteinerich NH₂ terminal and cytoplasmic 50 amino acid COOH terminal (Goldstein and Brown, 2015). The LDLr binds LDL cholesterol with high affinity to its Apolipoprotein B and LDL enters the cell via endocytosis (Goldstein and Brown, 2015, Kingsbury and Bondy, 2003). Goldstein and Brown (1977) found that cells could regulate uptake of plasma LDL cholesterol through activation of HMG CoA reductase and associated production and localisation of LDL receptors (LDLr) at the cell surface. Excess cholesterol entering the cell reduces HMG CoA activity and suppresses de novo cholesterol synthesis, but in turn activates Acyl-CoA cholesterol transferase (ACAT) which attaches a LCFA to cholesterol to synthesise storable CEs (Goldstein and Brown, 2015, Goldstein and Brown, 1977). When cell levels of cholesterol are low, de novo cholesterol synthesis is possible from Acetyl CoA through a 20+ step enzymatic pathway (Sato, 2010). Goldstein and Brown's (1974) study into FH reported that HMG Co-A reductase activity was equated with lipoprotein binding: (i) the amount of bound LDL, (ii) VLDL as a competitor for LDL binding and acted as a HMG-CoA reductase repressor, (iii) HDL does not suppress HMG Co-A activity. They concluded that FH was caused by a genetic mutation of the LDLr causing defective binding of LDL. However, since that initial discovery over 1200 allelic mutations of the LDLr that either partially or fully destroy its function have been identified (Goldstein and Brown, 2015). Additionally it has been found that the LDLr is not alone in being causative of FH disorder, for example genetic mutation of its ligands ApoB or ApoE e.g. Apo E3 Leiden amongst others are also responsible (De Castro-Orós et al., 2010).

1.4.2. Health Initiatives for Cholesterol

The discovery of HMG CoA reductase in cholesterol metabolism led the way for the identification of a competitive inhibitor of HMG CoA reductase "compactin" (Endo et al., 1976). The subsequent discovery of a similar fungal metabolite "mevinolin" (Alberts et al., 1980) led to the development of commercial cholesterol lowering drugs commonly known as "Statins". These drugs are proven to reduce cholesterol levels and associated CHD mortality (Goldstein and Brown, 2015, Endo, 2010, Tarantino et al., 2017). Tarantino et al, (2017) noted that statins have also been reported to inhibit hepatic VLDL production due to TAG and cholesterol lowering effect of the drug potentially through other FA targeted genes e.g. PPARs. Identification of other FA activated TFs (see paragraph 1.4.5) have also been exploited for therapeutic means. For example, PPAR agonists such as fibrate are used to treat dyslipidaemia increasing LPL synthesis thus lowering TAG, LDL, hepatic VLDL and raising HDL and reducing atherosclerosis and CHD mortality (Tarantino et al., 2017, Ahmed et al., 2007).

1.4.3. Fatty Acid Activation of Gene Expression in Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis Pathways

It also became apparent through cholesterol synthesis studies in animal tissues (Dietschy et al., 1993, Schoenheimer and Breusch, 1933) that the liver was a key site for total cholesterol synthesis and regulation (Brown and Goldstein, 2009b). However, it wasn't until the 1990's onwards that key roles in activating specific transcription factors involved in the gene expression of cholesterol synthesis and atherosclerosis pathways were identified e.g. LDLr (Wang et al., 1993, Wang et al., 1994) scavenger receptors (Libby, 2002) and cholesterol synthesis enzymes (Goldstein et al., 2006). Additionally, it is recognised there are 4 families of transcription factors that are activated by FAs (Salter and Tarling, 2007) which are involved in cholesterol metabolism (Sato 2010, Brown and Goldstein 2009) and in inflammation and atherosclerosis pathways (Libby 2002, Ahmed et al 2007): (i) Sterol regulatory binding proteins (SREBPs), (ii) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), (iii) Liver X

Receptors (LXR) and, (iv) Hepatocyte nuclear factors (HNF)– see table 1.4 for isoform/subtype information and roles (Salter and Tarling, 2007).

1.4.3.1 Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein (SREBP)

During the 1990's a group of membrane bound transcription factors – SREBP1a, SREBP1c and SREBP2 were characterised and light shed on the tightly regulated by a negative feedback mechanism for cell cholesterol synthesis (Wang et al., 1993, Wang et al., 1994, Sato, 2010). SREBP are nuclear receptors (Salter and Tarling 2007). They contain a basic helix-loop-helix leucine Zipper motif and are synthesised within the cell's endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Sato 2010). Each SREBP subtype has been found to have its own role in lipid metabolism (see Table 1.4). However, the regulation and activation of SREBPs involve a complex proteolytic pathway, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) proteins: SREBP cleavage activating protein (SCAP) and HMG Co-A reductase (Sato, 2010). In the presence of cell sterols SCAP or HMG CoA reductase undergo conformational changes and bind cholesterol. This in turn binds to two insulin-induced genes (Insig1 and Insig2) which are fundamental in the SCAP/SREBP complex being anchored in the ER (Brown and Goldstein, 2009b). This step inhibits cleavage of the membrane bound SREBP1 thereby downregulating gene expression of LDLr and HMG CoA synthase (Sato, 2010). Conversely if cell sterol levels are depleted, SREBP-SCAP moves to the Golgi via binding of SCAP-CO PII coated vesicles where site-1 (S1P) and site 2 (S2P) proteases cut the SREBP releasing it from the ER membrane and translocates to the nucleus to regulate transcription (Sato, 2010, Salter and Tarling, 2007).

TF	TF isoforms/sub-type	Tissue	Gene regulation	Examples of Ligand	Source	
Family				Activators		
SREBP/SCAP	SREBPIa,	Expressed in most	FA and TAG	Sterols	Sato (2010),	
	SREBP1c,	tissues but mainly in	metabolism		Wang (1993),	
		liver and adrenal gland			Wang (1994)	
					Goldstein et al 2006	
	SREBP2	Ubiquitous expression	Cholesterol	Sterols	Brown and Goldstein	
			Metabolism		(2009)	
			LDL receptor			
PPAR/RXR	ΡΡΑRα	Expressed in Liver,	FA metabolism	SFA, MUFA and PUFAs	Salter and Tarling (2007)	
		kidney, intestine				
	PPARβ	Expressed in small			Salter and Tarling (2007)	
		intestine, colon, heart,			Tarantino et al (2015)	
		adipose and brain.				
	ΡΡΑRγ	Ubiquitous expression	Adipocyte	ΙΝϜγ, ΤΝϜα	Salter and Tarling (2007)	
	(subform γ1, γ2, γ3)	Expressed in Adipose	differentiation	LDL Cholesterol	Libby (2002) Viladomiu et al (2016)	
		Macrophage	scavenger receptors	CLA isomers		
LXR/RXR	LXRα	Liver, intestine, kidney,	Cholesterol	LCFA,	Lee and Tontonoz (2015)	
		adipose, macrophage	metabolism	Oxysterols:	Salter and Tarling (2007)	
			ApoE, Lipogenesis,	22Rhydroxycholesterol		
	LXRβ	Ubiquitous expression	carbohydrate	24,25epoxycholesterol		
		·	metabolism			
HNF-4α	HNF1, HNF2, HNF3	Liver, Intestine, Kidney	Lipoprotein	LCFA saturated	Sladek et al (1990)	
	HNF4a, HNF4y	and Pancreas	metabolism	Co-Acyl	Salter and Tarling (2007)	

Table 1.4 Fatty Acid Regulation of Transcription Factors

1.4.3.2 Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors (PPARs)

PPARs are steroid hormone nuclear TFs with ligand binding domain and a response element in the promotor region (Ahmed et al., 2007). Ligands include SFA, MUFAs, PUFAs and their derivatives eicosanoids (Salter and Tarling 2007). It has been identified that RTFAs – in particular Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA) isomers are potent activators of PPARγ (Viladomiu et al., 2016). On ligand binding PPARs change conformation and form a heterodimer complex with nuclear ligand activated receptor Retinoid X Receptor (Ahmed et al 2007, Salter and Tarling 2007). Accessory molecules are recruited (e.g. CREB-binding proteins, PPARγ coactivator = PGC-1) to create a PPAR/RXR/Accessory molecule complex which can then be phosphorylated (Ahmed et al, 2007). Ahmed et al., (2007) also noted that PPARs can also repress gene transcription through interaction with other TFs including NF-kB and signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins (STATs).

As outlined in paragraph 1.4.2 PPARs are targeted for therapeutic treatment with fibrate to treat dyslipidaemias or thiazolidinediones that treat diabetes (Ahmed et al, 2007, Tarantino et al 2017). Of particular note is the role of PPARy and its ligands e.g. oxidised FAs, TNF α and IFN γ in regulating expression of macrophage scavenger receptors. As outlined in paragraph 1.2.1 these receptors bind modified LP ligands and CEs internalising them, creating a lipid laden "foam" cells that are the characteristic of atherosclerosis and cause of thrombosis, strokes, ischemia, and myocardial infarction (Libby 2002).

1.4.3.3 Liver X Receptors (LXRs)

LXRs are ligand activated nuclear TFs that also respond to cell cholesterol levels (Salter and Tarling, 2007). As PPARs above they form heterodimers with RXR to regulate transcription of genes through direct binding of DNA. Co-repressor proteins bind the LXR/RXR complex to silence transcription. Oxidised cholesterol derivatives e.g. oxysterols (see Table 1.3) act as

ligands, causing a conformational change and activation of gene transcription (Lee and Tontonoz, 2015). LXRs are found to have anti-inflammatory function through action of LXR/Co repressor proteins silencing inflammatory genes (Lee and Tontonoz, 2015). They are also found to control adenosine triphosphate binding cassette protein (ABCA1) involved in reverse cholesterol transport system and ApoE, Lipoprotein Lipase and CETP function (see paragraph 1.3.4) (Salter and Tarling, 2007) supporting the reported increase in HDL production and anti-inflammatory effects of LXRs described by Lee and Tontonoz (2015).

1.4.3.4 Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor-4α

Although there are several isoforms and sub-types of HNF (HNF1, HNF3 and HNF4α HNF4γ). HNF4α has been identified through its amino acid sequence that it is a ligand-dependent TF of the steroid/thyroid hormone receptors, that also play a role in differentiation and development (Sladek et al., 1990). Originally, HNFs were thought to be liver specific, however they have now been found in several tissues including kidneys, intestine and pancreas (Drewes et al., 1996). Its activation is through binding with high affinity to LCFA saturated Acyl CoA whilst unsaturated Acyl suppresses its activity (Salter and Tarling, 2007). In particular this TF regulates constituents of chylomicrons and cholesterol metabolism including lipoproteins All, AIV, CII and CIII (Salter and Tarling, 2007, Sladek et al 1990) see Table 1.2 and Figure 1.2.

Considering the information outlined in sections 1.2, 1.3. and 1.4, it can begin to be understood that the FA pathways in the aetiology of CHD is complex and intrinsically linked. Not only does the human body rely upon nutrients supplied for survival, energy, and function, but responds to nutrient supply, or lack thereof, in FA and cholesterol metabolism, the inflammation response and associated FA controlled gene transcription expression. In the following paragraphs the impact of different FAs: SFA, PUFAs and TFAs will be discussed to try and identify the body's response to these FAs in terms of lipid profiles and atherosclerosis.

1.5 THE IMPACT OF DIFFERENT FATTY ACIDS ON SERUM CHOLESTEROL AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

As outlined briefly in Section 1.4, animal models of cholesterol metabolism (Rader et al., 2009, Schoenheimer and Breusch, 1933, Spady and Dietschy, 1983, Goldstein and Brown, 2015) and atherosclerosis (Pelias, 1983, Zadelaar et al., 2007, Getz and Reardon, 2012) (discussed further in Section 1.7) and human epidemiological studies - see below, (Keys et al., 1965b, Keys et al., 1965a, Manttari et al., 1987, Mahmood et al., 2014) - have informed knowledge of how dietary FAs impact differentially on serum cholesterol levels and therefore atherosclerosis and CHD risk.

1.5.1. Saturated Fatty Acids

Many SFA are found in animal products such as meat and dairy but also extracted from plants e.g. palm oil. A fatty acid that contains no double bonds within the hydrocarbon chain confers a straight configuration. This fatty acid is denoted as a "saturated" fatty acid and confers a solid texture at room temperature.(Hernandez, 2013) . Animal products are also recognised as being high in cholesterol (Mensink et al 2003). Of the SFAs consumed by participants in human dietary intervention studies, many studies identified that the majority of SFA came from dairy products such as cheese, butter and milk (Kinsell., et al, 1952, Keys et al., 1965b; Keys et al., 1986, Mattinen, et al 1992, Mensink and 2003). Mensink and Katan (1992) excluded stearic acid (C18:0) from their analyses as they considered it to have hypocholesterolaemic impact on serum LDL compared to Myristic c acid (C14:0) and Palmitic acid (C16:0). Skeafe et al (2004) corroborated this by reporting that saturated fats such as Myristic acid (C14:0), Palmitic Acid (C16:0) and Lauric Acid (C12:0) are the main hypercholesterolemia inducing SFA within milk fat, with Stearic Acid (C18:0) having a lesser effect, along with Caprylic Acid (C8:0) and Capric Acid (C10:0).

1.5.2. Unsaturated Fatty Acids (UFA)

Unsaturated FAs have one (monounsaturated fatty acid "MUFA) or more than one (polyunsaturated fatty acid "PUFA") double bond within the hydrocarbon chain. The double bond binds two of the carbons together C=C. Where the bonds are positioned within the chain and on the chain lead to the formation of positional and geometric isomers. *Cis* unsaturated fatty acids have their bonds positioned on the same side of the chain causing a twist in the molecule which confers a bent configuration. *Trans* unsaturated fatty acids double bonds are positioned on opposite sides of the hydrocarbon chain and confer a straight configuration with an appearance similar to that of a SFA (Gurr, 2016). *Cis* and *trans* PUFAs can have two or more double bonds based along the chain and noted as n-3 for position the third carbon from the methyl end and so on (Gurr, 2016). The more double bonds, the greater instability of the molecule which lowers the melting point compared to saturated fats and the fatty acids become liquid (e.g. oils) at room temperature (Gurr, 2016, Hernandez, 2013). Unless otherwise stated, all MUFAs and PUFAs in this thesis are in the cis configuration.

The majority of MUFAs and PUFAs are extracted from plants (Hernandez, 2013). For example, olive oil is rich in MUFA Oleic acid (C18:1) and Rapeseed Oil is rich in PUFA Linoleic (18:2 n-6) and MUFA Oleic Acid. Olive oil in particular is linked to a "Mediterranean style" diet with beneficial impact on CHD (see paragraphs below) (Keys et al., 1986). These oils have been observed as having a beneficial impact on LDL and HDL cholesterol levels and improving the LDL/HDL ratio (Bos et al., 2010, Mensink et al., 2003) and atherosclerosis (Tonge, 2011). Additionally, essential fatty acids, Linoleic Acid (LA) (C18:2 n-6), and α -Linoleic Acid (ALA) (C18:3 n-3) are unable to be synthesised endogenously and must be provided in the diet (Mazzocchi et al 2018). LA n-6 PUFAs are prevalent in corn, soybean, safflower, and sunflower oils used worldwide (Innis 2007). However, ALA n-3 PUFAs are limited in soybean and canola oil (Innis, 2007) but can be found in "oily" fish products such as salmon and mackerel (Tonge, 2011). LA is elongated and desaturated to form Arachidonic Acid (AA, C20:4), whilst ALA is elongated and desaturated to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA C20:5) and docosahexaenoic acid

(DHA C22:6) (Mazzocchi et al., 2018) – see Figure 1.4 Metabolism of LA to AA is important as AAs are an essential component of cellular membranes. Whilst EPA and DHA are vital to neurological, visual and brain function. Eicosanoids (see Figure 1.4) play vital roles in maternal physiology and fetal development – modulating reproductive, pulmonary, cardiovascular, and inflammatory pathways including prostaglandins, thromboxanes and leukotrienes (Innis, 2007, Mazzocchi et al 2018).

C18:2 n-6	LA		C18:3 n-3	ALA
t		$\Delta 6$ -desaturase	Ť	
C18:3 n-6			C18:4 n-3	
Ļ		Elongase	Ť	
C20:3 n-6			C20:4 n-3	
↓		$\Delta 5$ -desaturase	Ļ	
C20:4 n-6	AA	EICOSANOIDS	C20:5 n-3	EPA
Ť		Elongase	Ļ	
C22:4 n-6			C22:5 n-3	
Ļ		Elongase	Ť	
C24:4 n-6			C24:5 n-3	
Ť		$\Delta 6$ -desaturase	Ť	
C24:5 n-6			C24:6 n-3	
Ļ		β -Oxidase	Ļ	
C22:5 n-6		DOCOSANOIDS	C22:6 n-3	DHA
				8

Figure 1.4 Conversation of Essential Fatty Acids to Eicosanoids and Docosanoids

Source Mazzocchi et al 2018.

1.5.3. Trans Fatty Acids (TFA)

There are two main sources of dietary TFA – these are industrially manufactured TFA and those produced by ruminant animals e.g. cows, goats. Although both TFAs have the same C18:1 *trans* isomers present, their distribution is different - see Figure 1.5. The following paragraphs gives a brief overview of both types of TFA.



Figure 1.5 PHVO and Ruminant trans isomers



■ PHVO (Industrially produced) □Ruminant TFA

1.5.3.1 Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil TFA (PHVO or P)

Typically, PHVO are manufactured from vegetable, fish, or animal oils to stabilise them for use in products such as margarines. *Cis* unsaturated fatty acids are saturated via a hydrogenation process where the fats and oils are mixed together with hydrogen under high pressure and in presence of a metal catalyst e.g. nickel or palladium (Hernandez, 2013, Clark,

2009). As hydrogenation increases, content of PUFAs decrease and MUFAs and TFAs increase (Figure 1.5) (Valenzuela and Morgado, 1999)

Figure 1.6 Hydrogenation of PHVO

Hydrogenation

$CH_2=CH_2 + H_2 \rightarrow CH_3-CH_3$

Source: Hernandez, (2013)

Three changes can occur during the hydrogenation process: (i) A double bond is changed to a single bond and two PUFAs are converted to MUFA, or MUFA converted to SFA. (ii) The double bond position moves within the chain.(iii) The double bond changes to/from *cis* and *trans* (Valenzuela and Morgado, 1999).

The USA FDA designate that an industrial hydrogenated fat is one which is solid at room temperature with between 15-25% *trans* fatty acids (TFA). *Trans* Fatty Acids due to their unsaturated and straight conformation are representative of naturally occurring saturated fats with comparative detrimental health benefits including cardiovascular diseases (Mozaffarian et al., 2006). Many countries, including the USA and UK have now taken steps towards reducing the content of *trans* fats in food products, however they are still present (2-4% daily total energy intake) in many processed and fried foods e.g. fries, snacks e.g. crisps, margarines and bakery items (Teegala et al., 2009, Mozaffarian, 2006). The majority of PHVO used in these products are *trans* fats with C18:1 configuration with a Gaussian distribution across C18:1 isomers of Elaidic Acid *trans*-9, -10, -11, -12 -see Figure 1.5. (Chardigny et al., 2008, Tyburcz et al., 2009).

1.5.3.2 Ruminant TFA (RTFA or R)

MUFAs and PUFAs found in plant materials are processed by biohydrogenation of rumen bacteria which synthesise 'natural' *trans* fatty acids which are found in body fat, meat, milk, and other dairy products. Anaerobic *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens* bacteria within the first stomach catalyses linoleic acid to intermediates such as cis, *trans* C18:2 n-9, n-11 (Enjalbert, 2009). These are hydrogenated further to create the main *trans* fatty acid isomer, Vaccenic Acid (VA) (*trans* C18:1 n-11) - Vaccenic Acid is a precursor for synthesis of CLA, cis-9, *trans*-11 C18:2 (Rumenic Acid – RA) and Stearic Acid (C18:0) see Figure 1.6 and Figure 1.7 Although quantity of TFA is dependent upon diet, these two TFA isomers generally represent between 1-9% of total TFAs (Chardigny et al., 2008). RTFAs are eaten in lower quantities than PHVO (2-3% daily total energy intake) at approximately 0.5% daily total energy intake (Lock et al., 2005, Mozaffarian et al., 2006, Valenzuela and Morgado, 1999).

1.5.3.3 Conjugated Linoleic Acids (CLA)

CLAs, although TFA isomers are considered to have anticarcinogenic and antiatherogenic effects in animal models (Tyburcz et al., 2009). However, many CLAs are derived from ruminant products including milk fat and meat (see Figure 1.7). They can also be synthesised from *trans* isomers of oleic acid by humans (Mazzocchi et al., 2018). CLAs are a family of positional and geometric conjugated dienoic isomers of linoleic acids e.g. cis-9, *trans*-11 CLA and *trans*-10, cis-12 CLA. They have a conformation of alternating single and double bonds which confer both *trans* and cis fatty acid configuration (Ophardt, 2003). Although CLAs are considered *trans* fats their polyunsaturated nature confers lower melting point properties and are found to have possible health benefits (see paragraph 1.5.6.2).

Figure 1.7 Ruminant Conversion of Linoleic Acid to CLA, VA and Stearic Acid

LA (C18:2 cis-9, cis-12)

ALA (C18:3 cis-9, cis-12, cis-15)

rumen isomerase

rumen isomerase

Ť

CONJUGATED LINOLEIC A. (C18:2 cis-9, trans-11)

rumen microbial biohydrogenation

> mammary ∆9desaturase

(C18:3 cis-9, trans-11, cis-15)

rumen microbial biohydrogenation

(C18:2, trans-11, cis-15)

VACCENIC A. (C18:1, trans-11)

rumen microbial biohydrogenation

Į

STEARIC A. (C18)

mammary ∆9desaturase



OLEIC A. (C18:1, cis-9)

Source Mazzocchi et al 2018.

1.5.4. Impact of MUFA/PUFAs and SFAs on Cholesterol-Atherosclerosis

Since the early 1950s there has been great interest in the impact of dietary fats on cholesterol levels and mortality from atherosclerosis and CHD events. Kinsell et al., (1952), reported a difference in total cholesterol serum for hospitalised human subjects fed "dairy-derived fats" and egg yolk, when compared to vegetable diets. Epidemiological studies of ethnic subgroups evidenced that populations such as Eskimos and Japanese farmers who consumed high levels of fish and n-3 PUFAs had lower CHD risk and mortality compared to people of the same ethnicity consuming high SFA western diets (Keys et al., 1958). Dietary intervention studies by Keys et al (1965a) confirmed this view and concluded that a high cholesterol diet (250-350mg cholesterol/1000 calories) increased serum cholesterol levels and swopping to a cholesterol-free diet reversed this outcome. Key's et al., (1986) 15 year follow up of the Seven Countries Study (SCS), initially carried out between 1958-1964, confirmed more geographic dietary anomalies and CHD mortality risk. Keys et al, (1986) reported that Northern European cohorts e.g. Finland and Northern American cohorts had a significantly higher CHD mortality rate that was strongly correlated with consuming more SFAs in diets. Equally, Southern European cohorts had lower CHD mortality that were strongly correlated consuming more MUFAs or PUFAs e.g. olive oil as Keys termed a "Mediterranean diet" as the main dietary fats - and finally the Japanese with the lowest CHD mortality rate and a mainly low-fat fish diet (n-3 PUFAs).

Research studies were also carried out to ascertain the cholesterol synthesis pathway (Bloch, 1965) and into a condition where hypercholesterolemia and early mortality from CHDs was present in families (Familial Hypercholesterolemia) – see paragraph 1.4.1. The FH studies added fuel to the cholesterol-atherosclerosis fire and linked dietary FA therapy of lowering plasma total cholesterol by swopping SFA with vegetable oils (Powell and Vacca, 1961). These dietary intervention and epidemiological studies influenced the development of the concept that dietary fats differentially elevated plasma total cholesterol and that elevated cholesterol (hypercholesterolemia) levels positively correlated with increased risk of CHD mortality.

In the USA large CHD cohort "Framingham Study" was also in progress to identify causes of CHD mortality. The Framingham Study is a multi-generation, familial study that commenced in 1948 and continues to this day (Mahmood et al., 2014). These studies identified that not only elevated plasma total cholesterol was a strong correlation but other risk factors were involved in CHD aetiology e.g. sex, age, hypertension, diabetes, smoking, and left ventricular hypertrophy (Dawber et al., 1959, Kannel et al., 1961). In particular, Kannel et al (1961) confirmed the relationship of hypertension and hypercholesteremia correlated with increased CHD risk- 2.6-fold in men and 6-fold in women. The study noted that whilst blood cholesterol in men >245mg per 100ml (13.5mmol/L) were 3-fold more likely to develop CHD women were only slightly affected by this factor - an indication that differences between sexes and CHD risk factors were present.

It wasn't until the 1960s and 1970s that analytical techniques were developed to identify classes of lipids e.g. triglycerides, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins (see Table 1.2). These analytical techniques were developed and standardised alongside another large USA dietary intervention study into CHD prevention strategies – US Lipid Research Clinics Program (LRC) (Fredrickson et al., 1967, Myers et al., 1989, NHLBI, 2013). These analytical techniques were also applied to the Framingham samples (Gordon et al., 1977, Wilson, 2013) and other LRC samples (Jacobs et al., 1990) that ascertained that plasma HDL cholesterol were strongly inversely correlated to CHD risk and mortality.

A human dietary intervention study whose objective was to reduce CHD risk through increasing plasma HDL and lowering LDL cholesterol in dyslipidaemic men commenced in the 1980s in Helsinki, Finland. (Manttari et al., 1987). The Helsinki study evidenced that their highest CHD risk group had plasma TAG >2.3 mmol/L and a ratio LDL/HDL cholesterol >5mmol/L. Their study confirmed that the most prognostic value for CHD risk was LDL/HDL ratio in conjunction with TAG (Manninen et al., 1992). Further meta-analyses of dietary manipulation of serum cholesterol studies were undertaken by Mensink and Katan (1992) and

Mensink et al., (2003). Their analyses confirmed the differential impact of FAs on serum LDL and HDL (see Figure 1.8). They estimated that MUFA and PUFAs had a positive impact by reducing LDL and increasing HDL – in a beneficial cholesterol profile for CHD risk. However, they found that SFA increased HDL more than the MUFA/PUFAs – even though LDL and its associated CHD risk were also increased. Finally, they identified that PHVO would decrease HDL but also increase LDL – shown in the ratios of total cholesterol/HDL cholesterol below – the higher the ratio the greater the CHD risk. A meta-analysis (Mozaffarian et al., 2010) corroborated the view that replacing SFA with PUFAs may reduce CHD events. Finally, a recent review of previous studies was conducted by Clifton and Keogh (2017) concluded that reducing SFA reduced CHD risk and that replacing SFA with MUFA/PUFAs in the diet further reduced CHD risk.





Source: Mensink et al., (2003) Δ Predicted change in the ratio of total cholesterol/HDL ratio and total cholesterol/LDL ratio when 1% energy carbohydrates replaced by FA. *P* < 0.05; +*P* < 0.01 ¥*P* < 0.001.

Studies in animal models have also reported similar outcomes with low fat diets compared to high-fat high cholesterol diets in being causative of atherosclerosis. The ApoE*3 Leiden (AEL) female mouse model is proven to develop atherosclerosis in response to a high fat high

cholesterol diet (Vanvlijmen et al., 1994, Tonge, 2011, Hofker et al., 1994). Using the AEL mouse model of atherosclerosis studies have consistently shown that raising or decreasing dietary SFA and cholesterol impacts on atherosclerosis lesion area: Groot et al (1996) reported that a high cholesterol diet increased lesion area whilst a study by Yates et al.,(2009) confirmed that a low fat, low cholesterol diet reduced atherosclerotic lesions. Further studies by Tonge (2011) confirmed that atherosclerosis was greater in animals fed SFA beef compared to groups fed a SFA beef diet that had been enriched with MUFA-rich Rapeseed Oil. These studies corroborate the epidemiological findings and show that atherosclerosis is correlated to dietary fatty acids.

1.5.5. Impact of FAs on Serum TAG and CHD Risk

It has been identified in several studies that hypertriglyceridemia was indicative of an elevated CHD risk – but only when taken into consideration with LDL cholesterol and other CHD risk factors e.g. diabetes, smoking (Gotto, 1992, Cambien et al., 1986, Gordon et al., 1977). These studies concluded that due to TAG interaction with both VLDL and HDL metabolism (see Table 1.2, Figure 1.2 and Figure 1.3) and HDL's strong inverse relationship with CHD risk - TAG as an individual biological marker of CHD risk was unreliable (Cambien et al., 1986, Austin, 1989, Manninen et al., 1992). These studies and meta-analyses have confirmed that MUFA/PUFAs can moderately reduce serum TAG compared to SFA (Mensink and Katan 1992, Mensink et al., 2003). Manninen (1992) concluded that the Helsinki study outcomes reflected that of animal studies, and that TAGs and HDL differentially impacted on CHD development, with TAGs being involved in thrombosis of compromised arteries (see Figure 1.2).

1.5.6. The Impact of PHVO and RTFA on Cholesterol-Atherosclerosis

Several dietary intervention studies in the 1990s reported on the impact of plasma lipids and associated cholesterol ratios in the identification of CHD risk (Mensink and Katan, 1990, Lichtenstein, 1998, Almendingen et al., 1995). Whilst Mensink and Katan 1990 confirmed previous views that consuming Oleic acid was better for cholesterol levels compared to SFA, and that PHVO diets had the worst atherogenic profile as they raised LDL and reduced HDL (see Figure 1.8). In the other two studies (Lichtenstein, 1998, Almendingen et al., 1995) it was confirmed that MUFA/PUFA soybean oils had the lowest HDL/LDL ratio, with PHVO being the highest. Further studies by Han et al., (2002) and Baer et al., (2004) confirmed the hypercholesterolemic impact of PHVO on plasma lipids in estimating CHD risk. However, they also identified that inflammatory cytokines involved in atherogenesis were raised in the PHVO groups e.g. IL-6 and TNF α (Han et al 2002), elevated CRP and E-selectins (Baer et al 2004) see paragraph 1.2 for role in inflammatory atherogenesis pathway. The "Nurse Health Study" epidemiological review also confirmed these outcomes: that PHVO had a greater atherogenic potential compared to other FAs not only due to their adverse impact on cholesterol profiles, but also that they instigated inflammatory pathways (Chiuve et al., 2009, Lopez-Garcia et al., 2005). These views have been reconfirmed in a meta-analysis by Mozzafarian et al., (2010) who calculated that if TFA were replaced by other FAs such as animal fats or vegetable oils a 50% or 65-85% reduction respectively would occur in CHD risk. Similar results have also been reported in animal models fed TFAs (Bassett et al., 2009, Koppe et al., 2009).

Studies into the impact of dairy products including enrichment with VA and CLAs on cholesterol and atherosclerosis have been the focus of investigation for over two decades. Pfeuffer and Schrezenmeir (2006) cautioned that extracting the correct information from TFA dietary intervention and epidemiological studies was problematic due to participants often consuming high SFA dairy products e.g. butter, cheese, milk (as in the aforementioned PHVO and SFA clinical studies). It was also recognised that ruminant products also contained C18:1 TFA isomers that although similar to PHVO had different distributions, with the predominant TFA in dairy being Vaccenic Acid (VA) and including potentially beneficial CLAs (Huth, 2007)

see Figure 1.5. Huth (2007) reviewed the first five RTFA dietary intervention studies that took place between 1993-2006 that compared the impact of PHVO and RTFAs. Huth (2007) concluded that all 5 clinical studies (including data from the Nurses' Health Study and Framingham studies) showed greater risk from PHVO and especially from PHVO margarines. In comparison RTFA consumed in butter and milk fats showed little impact on serum cholesterol levels and associated CHD risk. Further dietary intervention studies followed to compare PHVO with RTFAs.

Chardigny et al (2008) noted a lack of effect in lipid profiles for subjects eating PHVO diets compared to RTFA-rich diets. In particular, women showed a significant increase in total serum cholesterol, TAG concentration and an increased concentration of large particle LDL. However, they confirmed that PHVO participants had reduced serum HDL indicating a higher CHD risk profile. This study concluded that PHVO and RTFA have differential effects on serum lipid profiles in both genders, and thus both diets confer differential CHD risk to males and females. Motard-Belanger et al (2008) remarked upon the fact that two further studies had shown RTFA had a similar negative effect on CHD risk as PHVO. Their study showed that daily high intake of RTFA (consisting of. 4 x 50g cheese 33% fat; 2 x 250ml milk 3.25% fat, 175g yogurt 3.25% fat, 8 x 5ml tsp butter) increased serum total cholesterol and LDL, and reduced HDL, consequently increasing CHD risk. However, this was not the case with a moderate RTFA diet. Their study confirmed PHVO had a greater deleterious effect on serum cholesterol profiles suggesting that PHVOs and RTFA diets do have differential effects, and that the effects of RTFAs are dependent upon quantity in the diet. Although differences in impact of PHVO RTFA were observed in the above studies, German et al's (2009) review concluded that there was no clear evidence to suggest that trans fats from ruminant meat and dairy products increase the risk of CHD. The view that PHVO and RTFA have different impacts on CHD risk and may be dependent upon quantities consumed was upheld by Bensden et al., (2011). However, a recent quantitative review of 30+ previous studies by Brouwer et al (2013) into the CHD risk of RTFA in comparison to PHVO calculated that RTFA, CLAs and PHVO were "gram for gram" similar. They concluded that the studies reviewed in the impact of RTFA and CLAs risk factors would be the same as PHVO - increasing LDL, decreasing HDL, and increasing the LDL/HDL ratio and thus high CHD risk.

However, although human dietary intervention and epidemiological studies have observed an impact of RTFA - perhaps dependent upon quantities consumed (Chardigny, et al 2008, Motard and Belanger, 2008, Brouwer et al 2013) it has also been noted that it is often difficult to discern the impact of FAs due to the complexity of the FA nutrients eaten in the trials and confounding factors such as obesity (Pfeuffer and Schrenzenmeir 2006). Therefore, a succession of studies has begun to identify the different effects of separate TFA isomers on lipid profiles, inflammation and atherogenesis pathways (see paragraph 1.5.6.1). Additionally, from the 1980s onwards *trans* isomers CLAs present in RTFA have been reported to have beneficial health effects, perhaps due to the fact that RTFA VA is a precursor for endogenous CLA synthesis e.g. c9, *t*11-(RA) and CLA *t*10,c12 (Pfeuffer and Schrezenmeir, 2006).

1.5.6.1 Impact of C18:1 trans isomers on Cholesterol -Atherosclerosis

Further to the dietary intervention and some epidemiological studies, different impact of TFA isomers on cholesterol and atherosclerosis have been evidenced in animal models. It has been shown that VA or PHVO enriched butter diets differentially impacted on serum cholesterol compared to control standard butter diets in Hamsters (Lock et al 2005, Tyburcz et al., 2009, Kraft et al., 2011). Lock et al (2005) reported that VA fed animals had a lower VLDL and IDL/HDL ratio compared to both standard and PHVO diets, however HDL was also reduced. They confirmed that the PHVO diet animals had a lower VLDL and IDL/HDL ratio compared to standard butter. Tyburcz (2009) reported an improved serum lipid profile in hamsters that had consumed diets enriched with either EA or VA showing that EA and VA may have differential impacts on cholesterol metabolism. A study in guinea pigs, although failing to show a relationship between PHVO or RTFAs and atherosclerosis, confirmed that diets rich in ruminant milk fat which contained Vaccenic Acid had increased small HDL (Rice et al., 2010).

Kraft et al., (2011) further reported that PHVO diets split between the trans isomers t4-t10 see Figure 1.5 (Sunflower PHVO) had a higher risk lipid profile compared to t11-t16 see Figure 1.5 (Safflower PHVO) with increased total cholesterol, IDL and VLDL and reduced HDL and also differential effects on cholesterol regulating SREBPs. These studies have identified that not all TFAs are equal in their impact on lipid metabolism and consequent impact on CHD risk. However, a recent clinical dietary intervention trial that supplemented diets with VA, had a less positive outcome. Gebauer et al., (2015) replaced dietary stearic acid with CLA c9,t11, VA or PHVO. Their study reported that CLA c9,t11 did not affect cholesterol lipoprotein profiles but had lowered serum TAG. However, they found that both VA and PHVO groups had increased total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and ratio of total cholesterol/HDL compared to the control group. However, they also found that VA had increased HDL and atherogenic markers for LDL including ApoLPs ApoA1, ApoB and LP(a). Their study concluded that VA, but not CLA should be listed under TFAs for nutritional information. In this respect the study and the views of Brouwer et al., (2013) have labelled VA as a high-risk CHD TFA. However, the undeniable link with endogenous VA-RA CLA synthesis cannot be ignored. Indeed, since the 1980's CLAs have been identified to have beneficial health effects in animal models including reduction of hypertension and diabetes, anticarcinogenic, antitumorigenic effects and reduction of age-related bone loss (Pariza et al., 2001, Rahman et al., 2007).

1.5.6.2 Impact of CLAs on Cholesterol-Atherosclerosis

VA and CLAs have been reported to have hypolipidemic, anti-atherogenic and antiinflammatory properties. Several animal studies in rats have identified that VA and CLA *c*9,*t*11 have had a hypolipidemic impact on serum and hepatic lipids and indicated they may be useful in the treatment of non-alcoholic fatty acid liver disease (NAFLD) and metabolic syndrome (Jacome-Sosa et al., 2014, Jacome-Sosa et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2009). However, this research is also applicable to reducing CHD risk by improving cholesterol profiles. Further animal studies in New Zealand white rabbits have reported that CLA supplementation inhibited and reduced atherosclerosis lesions (Kritchevsky et al., 2004, Kritchevsky et al.,

2000). Basset et al., (2010) has also reported that LDLr^{-/-} mice fed VA and cholesterol rich butter showed an athero-protective impact on lesions compared to EA and other cholesterol fed animals. In cellular studies, it was identified that CLA t10,c12 controlled expression of the CD36 receptor in macrophages, regulated TAG and had a lipid reduction mechanism (Stachowska et al., 2010). A further study by Li et al (2018) identified the impact of endogenous VA conversion to CLA c9,t11 and that of CLA t10c9 on inflammatory markers in human umbilical endothelial cells (HUVEC). They found that VA was responsible for down regulating Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) which is responsible for the regulation of inflammatory mediators e.g. IL6, and adhesion molecules ICAM and VCAM. In contrast, Leptin inhibited VA conversion and upregulated TLR4 in a pro-inflammatory response. Of particular note is the fact that VA and CLAs appear to regulate lipoprotein and inflammatory pathways through SREBPS, PPARs, and other gene expression pathways (Viladomiu et al., 2016, Kraft et al., 2011) and may be recognised formally as being ligands for FA gene regulation. However, although cellular, animal and human studies are beginning to understand the pathways potentially FA regulated by VA and CLAs, the negative outcome in human dietary studies when combined with other nutrients is 'food for thought' and requires further investigation (Fuke and Nornberg, 2017).

1.5.7. Other Macronutrients and their Impact on Serum Cholesterol

There has been considerable interest in exchanging SFAs for other macronutrients e.g. carbohydrates instead of MUFA/PUFAs. Keys et al (1965a) reported that the impact on total cholesterol appeared similar when exchanging SFA with carbohydrates. Meta analyses by Mensink and Katan of 27 trials (1992) and 60 trials (2003) respectively found that exchanging SFA for carbohydrates had little impact on LDL cholesterol. This view was upheld in a review of meta-analyses and outcomes by Clifton and Keogh (2017). Difficulties in measuring SFA in dairy products and their use in dietary intervention trials has come in part from the identification of RTFA in ruminant meat and dairy products (Huth, 2007, Campbell, 2017). Campbell (2017) also commented that animal meat or dairy proteins could be causal in elevated cholesterol metabolism. Until the roles of individual nutrients and their complex

interactions can be fully mapped, then the role of FAs in metabolism and atherogenic pathways cannot be fully comprehended.

1.6 FETAL PROGRAMMING AND DEVELOPMENTAL ORIGINS OF HEALTH AND DISEASE (DOHAD)

"Fetal programming hypothesis" or "Barker Hypothesis" was named after the first researcher to observe the associations between low birth weight and anthropometry and increased risk of mortality from CVDs in later life – see paragraph 1.6.1 (Langley-Evans, 2001). The term "programming" and DOHaD theory now encompass the understanding that a maternal insult or environmental stimulus, such as undernutrition, overnutrition, smoking or stress (see Figure 1.9), causes perturbations in the fetal environment and can permanently affect the ontogenesis of the organism, resulting in changes to the organism's metabolism and physiology and giving rise to increased susceptibility to non-communicable diseases in adulthood (Langley-Evans, 2013, 2001). The following paragraphs give an overview of the fetal and developmental programming hypothesis in humans and animal models, with focus on the impact of maternal consumption of different isomers of *trans* fats (Figure 1.5) on the susceptibility of offspring to developing atherosclerosis.



Figure 1.9 Fetal and Developmental Programming of Disease

Source: Adapted from Langley-Evans (2013)

1.6.1. Origins of Fetal Programming Hypothesis – Undernutrition in Human Retrospective Studies

A study of over 15,000 men and women born in Hertfordshire between 1911-1930 identified that those men who had the lowest body weights at birth and 1 year of age, were found to have the highest death rates form ischaemic CHD in later life (Barker et al., 1989). This study gave an indication that early childhood nutrition as well as the *in-utero* environment played a crucial role in non-communicable disease outcomes. Two further follow up studies by Barker et al., (Barker et al., 1990, Barker et al., 1993) gave more detailed birth and anthropometric data including head circumference and length, from which ponderal indices

were derived as a measure of thinness (birthweight/length³). They found that babies born with a high placental weight/birthweight ratio or low ponderal index of thinness at birth were inversely correlated with health problems in later life including elevated blood pressure, impaired glucose tolerance, and elevated plasma fibrinogen which was considered a marker for CHD risk. Other studies in USA and Finland concurred with these outcomes. In the US Nurses' Health Study, Curhan et al (1996a) reported on two cohorts totalling over 170,000 women that lower birthweights <5-5.5lb had a higher risk of hypertension. Their analysis of over 22,000 men in this study (Curhan et al., 1996b) also had similar results to the women with hypertension and BMI in adulthood being dependent upon birthweight. However, they also reported an increased risk for Type II Diabetes in men for low birthweights <5-5.5lb. Eriksson et al (1999) confirmed that their study of 3600 men from Helsinki reflected that of Barker et al's studies (Barker et al 1989, 1993b) that CHD mortality was inversely correlated with low birth weight and thinness at birth. However, they highlighted although those men who had died of CHDs had a low birthweight, they also had increased their bodyweight to have a higher than average BMI by 7-15 years of age termed "catch up growth". They hypothesised that a poor prenatal diet was causative of fetal growth retardation during vital development periods, followed by a post-natal nutrient-rich diet that may increase childhood obesity and CHD risk through programming/tissue remodelling pathways.

One of DOHaD's premises is that "fetal adaptations to scarcity become maladaptive only when individuals are later exposed to an environment of plenty" (Schulz, 2010). This DOHaD premise was met by Eriksson et al's (1999, 2001b) analyses of the Helsinki data. However, it was also reflected in another pivotal retrospective study of maternal undernutrition and fetal programming that occurred between 1944-45 "The Dutch Famine" (Schulz, 2010) and is also recognised as the "Hunger Winter" (Lumey et al., 2007). This key study identified that the timing of the nutrient insult during the early, mid, or late gestational development period compared to post-natal nutrient availability may instigate differential effects on fetal programming of adulthood diseases (Schulz, 2010). Maternal food intake was reduced from an average of 1600 calories/day in December 1943 to under 1000 calories/day by November

1944, with the most dramatic decrease to 500 calories/day recorded in April 1945 (Lumey et al, 2007). Food availability remained low until May/June 1945 with an increase to over 2000 calories/day. This meant that nutrient availability at the time of conception, first, second and third trimesters differed throughout the pregnancy. It was found that babies born during midlate gestational famine mothers were lighter, thinner, and shorter with smaller heads and were found to have increased hypertension in later life, compared to those offspring not exposed to the famine. Exposure to famine in early gestation had the greatest impact, and predisposed offspring in adulthood (50-59y age) to the prevalence of several poor health outcomes including: (i) higher risk of CHD, indicated by prevalence of angina pectoris (Roseboom et al., 2000b); (ii) reduced glucose intolerance (de Rooij et al., 2006b, Ravelli et al., 1998) potentially via impaired insulin-secretion pathways (de Rooij et al., 2006a) and consequent Type II Diabetes (Roseboom et al., 2011); (iii) atherogenic lipid profiles (Roseboom et al., 2000a), (iv) elevated fibrinogen, and (v) higher BMI (Roseboom et al., 2001). Finally, early and mid-gestational famine offspring had increased prevalence of obstructive airway disease (Lopuhaa et al., 2000) and impaired renal function (Painter et al., 2005).

1.6.2. Fetal Programming by Undernutrition in Animal Models

Maternal undernutrition has also been shown in several animal models, with outcomes reflecting those of epidemiological and retrospective studies. Food restriction during pregnancy was found to programme hypertension in offspring of rats (Woodall et al., 1996), guinea pigs (Kind et al., 2002) and sheep (Hawkins et al., 2000). Other effects of food restriction in the guinea pig have include (i) an elevated cholesterol metabolism in both male and female offspring (Kind et al., 1999), and hyperinsulinemia in adult male offspring (Kind et al., 2003). Fetal programming due to specific nutrient restriction e.g. maternal low protein (MLP) has also been identified in rat studies ((1994) Langley-Evans (2000)). It was found that offspring of mothers fed low protein diet during gestation, exhibited elevated hypertension compared to the chow control group in later life. Langley Evans (2000) concluded that it was the balance of nutrients that defined the outcomes observed and were crucial to maternal undernutrition in pregnancy. Fetal programming of atherosclerosis through MLP has also

been evidenced in AEL mice (Yates et al., 2009). At 15 weeks age, the AEL offspring of were found to have greater lesions, elevated plasma cholesterol and plasma TAG compared to the AEL control group. It is evident from the above animal studies in several rodent species and sheep that diet restriction and MLP diets can not only program CHD risk factors in offspring e.g. hypertension, altered cholesterol metabolism, but can also manifest itself in atherosclerosis progression.

1.6.3. Fetal Programming of CHDs by Overnutrition

In comparison to the glut of retrospective data and animal studies of maternal undernutrition that have laid the foundations for developmental programming of NCDs, there is less historical data to draw on for overnutrition. However, maternal obesity and associated energy-dense nutrient intake are cause for concern in fetal programming outcomes for CHDs in future populations (SACN, 2011, SACN, 2018). It is acknowledged that many energy dense foods e.g. ruminant meats, bakery products, biscuits, butter, milk, margarines and shortenings whilst containing SFAs also contain between 3-5% TFAs (PHVO and RTFAs) (Innis, 2006). Energy imbalance through overnutrition manifests itself in maternal obesity. However, although many human studies report on "obese" maternal profiles in pregnancy and lactation and that of associated metabolic problems e.g. hyperlipidaemia, they do not address specific macronutrient intakes and their impact in causing NCDs. In large cohort studies it has been observed that being overweight or obese pre-pregnancy has less influence on fetal outcomes compared to maternal gestational weight gain (Gaillard et al., 2013, Flick et al., 2010). Therefore, the impact of energy dense foods such as fats, and their impact on maternal physiology is of key importance in considering fetal programming outcomes. Maternal obesity is often a risk factor for preeclampsia (Stewart et al 2007). Preeclampsia is a condition which usually occurs mid-late gestation and can have severe consequences for mother and fetus including proteinuria, de novo maternal hypertension, maternal organ dysfunction (liver and renal) and placental dysfunction causing placental hypertrophy and fetal growth restriction (Bokslag et al., 2016). Obesity in pregnancy monitoring studies have also identified maternal

factors that may influence programming and fetal outcomes, including maternal, reduced vascular function (Meyer et al. 2013), elevated inflammatory markers (Ramsay et al., 2002, Stewart et al., 2007), dyslipidaemia including elevated fasting TAG (Ramsay et al 2002, Meyer et al 2013) and elevated small LDL (Meyer et al., 2013). Gademan et al (2014) also reported that maternal FFA levels were corelated to the child's fat percentage at birth and increased BMI. Stewart et al., (2007) emphasised that obese pregnant women already have elevated plasma lipid profile and biological markers in early pregnancy compared to average weight pregnant women. These levels increase throughout the mid-late gestation period, then reduce post-partum to the elevated starting value but do not fall below that of their average weight counterparts. Taking these risk factors in mind, it is not surprising that the observed outcomes of obese maternal studies include a significant increase in number of pre-term babies, caesarean deliveries, and either lower birth weight babies or macrosomia babies (Gailard et al, 2013, Flick et al, 2010).

1.6.4. Fetal Programming by Overnutrition in Animal Models

Many animal studies look at high SFA diets and their impact on developmental programming. It has been demonstrated in several animal models of obesity that high SFA, 'junk food' diets during pregnancy not only alter the maternal metabolism but programme NCDs and obesity in offspring. Fetal programming of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD), CVD risks including insulin-resistance, hyperlipidaemia, hypertension, vascular and endothelial dysfunction and obesity have been observed when subjected to high SFA or 'Junk Food' diets *in utero*, in rats (Alfaradhi et al., 2014, Bayol et al., 2008), C57 mice (Gregorio et al., 2010, Oben et al., 2010) and non-human primates - Japanese Macaques (McCurdy et al., 2009, Fan et al., 2013, Sullivan et al., 2014, Li et al., 2019). Studies in smaller animal models often omit maternal profiles except for the factors of 'obesity' and maternal 'dietary SFAs'. Programming outcomes by maternal overnutrition include offspring with elevated lipid metabolism and associated vascular dysfunction in rats (Khan et al., 2005, Koukkou et al., 1998, Ghosh et al., 2001); impaired endothelial function in LDLr^{-/-} mice (Langenveld et al., 2008); and hypertension and obesity in C57 mice (Liang et al., 2009).

1.6.5. Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

As outlined above maternal overnutrition and obesity cause maternal metabolic dysfunction e.g. elevated maternal lipid and lipoprotein metabolism and inflammatory markers during pregnancy. Although these metabolic parameters in themselves are high CHD risk factors for the mother, they also appear to programme atherosclerosis in future generations. Whilst it is thought that human fetal cholesterol metabolism is mainly endogenous and that little is transferred to the offspring via the placenta (Herrera and Ortega-Senovilla, 2014, Mennitti et al., 2015), it was identified that temporary maternal hypercholesterolemia or mothers with Familial Hypercholesterolemia (see paragraph 1.4.1) were linked to early development of atherosclerotic lesions in their fetuses and children in the "Fate of Early Lesions in Children" (FELIC) study (Napoli et al., 1997, Napoli et al 1999). Napoli's et al studies (1997, 1999) reported that although hypercholesterolemic mothers increased prevalence of atherosclerotic lesions in their fetuses there were no changes observed in their offspring's lipid metabolism. These researchers went onto reproduce programming of atherosclerosis in two animal models: (i) New Zealand white rabbit (Post-natal diet (Napoli et al., 2000), and (ii) LDLr^{-/-} knockout mice (Napoli et al., 2002). Their results mirrored those of the human studies, increasing atherosclerosis in the offspring, but not impacting on offspring lipid metabolism profiles, bodyweights or other parameters measured which were the same as control animals. These outcomes were again shown in offspring born to wild type or ApoE^{-/-} knockout murine mothers (Palinski and Napoli, 2002).

In two further studies in the ApoE^{-/-} knockout mouse model of atherosclerosis, it was observed that atherosclerosis was programmed in the absence of maternal hypercholesterolemia (Madsen et al., 2003), and presence of maternal hypercholesterolemia (Goharkhay et al., 2007). In support of Palinksi and Napoli's findings, Goharkhay et al (2007) found that maternal hypercholesterolemia *in utero* environment had programmed atherosclerosis in offspring. Finally, a recent publication has also confirmed that maternal

high SFA diet during pregnancy, caused maternal hypercholesterolemia (C57 maternal mouse) and programmed increased atherosclerosis in AEL offspring (Tarling et al., 2016).

1.6.6. Impact of TFAs on Fetal Programming

There is evidence to support that TFAs are passed to the developing fetus via the placenta or to the neonate via milk during lactation (paragraph 1.6.9)., and that the exposure timing may have an effect upon the programming of CHDs and atherosclerosis (Larque et al., 2001, Albuquerque et al., 2006, Hornstra et al., 2006). In the following paragraphs, impact of TFAs *in utero* will be discussed and thereafter a review of the impact of FAs in lactation and early post-natal life.

Many of the human TFA studies outlined below focus on the impact that of all C18:1 trans isomers or that of PHVO C18:1 trans 9 EA, and very rarely identify other trans isomers in RTFAs such as VA and CLAs (see figure 1.5 for distribution of C18:1 *trans* isomers). Human pregnancy and neonate studies particularly focus on the impact of TFAs on the developing fetus due to the interaction of TFAs in reducing availability of EFAs (Innis., 2006, Desci and Boehm., 2013). Innis (2006) noted that whilst n-6 PUFAs and AA are more prevalent and readily consumed in products such as olive oils, maternal intake of n-3 PUFAs are generally low. It is noted that maternal EFA requirements increase up to 4.5% total calories during pregnancy and 7% during lactation (Arbex et al., 2015). EFAs Linoleic Acid (LA) (C18:2 n-6) is desaturated and elongated to Arachidonic Acid (C20:4 n6). Whilst α -Linoleic Acid (ALA) (C18:3 n-3) is desaturated and elongated to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA C20:5) and onwards to docosahexaenoic acid (DHA C22:6 n3) (see Paragraph 1.5 and Figure 1.4) (Innis., 2006, Desci and Boehm., 2013, Mazzocchi et al., 2018). Studies in human fibroblasts have observed that desaturase enzymes in the EFA conversion pathways are potently inhibited by PHVO Elaidic Acid(EA) and to a lesser extent by Vaccenic Acid (VA) (Rosenthal and Whitehurst, 1983). During pregnancy there is an increase in demand for maternal EFAs for the developing fetus (Holman et al., 1991) with the brain and nervous system being rich in n-3 PUFAs (Arbex et al 2015). N-6 AAs are an essential component of cellular membranes e.g. PPL and influence membrane fluidity throughout the body (Holman et al 1991) and act as eicosanoid precursor for cellular division and signalling pathways (Innis, 2006). Whilst n-3 EPA and DHA are vital for healthy neurological, visual and brain function. EFAs therefore play key roles in maternal physiology and fetal development (Innis., 2007, Arbex et al, 2015, Mazzocchi et al., 2018).

Several studies throughout the 1990s and 2000s analysed C18:1 cis and trans isomers in cord plasma or plasma samples from mother or newborn infant (Koletzko and Muller, 1990, Elias and Innis, 2001, Hornstra et al., 2006, Houwelingen and Hornstra, 1994, van Houwelingen et al., 1996). It was noted that as TFAs are unable to be synthesised by humans, any TFAs present were the result of maternal transfer to the developing fetus/new-born infant (Hornstra et al 2006). Hornstra, et al (2006) in reviewing two cohorts in the Netherlands reported weak correlations between TFAs and birth anthropometry. The majority of the studies above reviewed monoenoic "trans" isomers, e.g. EA, and recorded an inverse relationship of maternal and fetal TFAs with reduced birth anthropometry. However, Desci and Boehm (2013) caution against the results of reduced birth anthropometry due to considerable confounding factors and weak associations when taking these factors into consideration. There are a limited number of studies which identified RTFAs, it was observed that maternal/fetal plasma lipids were positively associated for CLAs and inversely correlated with birth anthropometry (Elias and Innis., 2001) and EFA LC PUFAs (Enke et al., 2011). Enke et al., (2011) also reported that this was not the case for VA trans 11. This outcome would appear supportive of the cellular studies that found no effect of VA on EFAs, potentially due to its desaturase that is not involved in the EFA synthesis pathway (Rosenthal and Whitehurst, 1983, Rosenthal and Doloresco, 1984). Additionally, a meta-analysis of European women concluded that EA were the predominant TFAs present when measured during pregnancy and these TFA were inversely correlated with LC PUFAs. There is evidence to suggest that TFAs inhibit EFA LA and ALA synthesis to LC PUFAs, reducing availability of EFAs to the developing fetus and mother thus compromising fetal and neonate development – and potentially with birth anthropometry (Hornstra et al., 2006, Innis 2007, Desci and Boehm, 2013).

Studies have observed that children with low n-3 PUFAs present with visual impairments and psychological disorders e.g. attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (Arbex et al., 2015). Fetal programming studies of maternal TFA during pregnancy and lactation in rats, found that those offspring exposed to TFA *in utero* had reduced brain n-3 EPA and remodelled hypothalamic mechanisms that increased appetite in later life compared to control animals (Albuquerque et al., 2006). Desci and Boehm (2013) aptly concluded that the studies' they had reviewed brought into question the nutritional viability of consuming TFAs during pregnancy. However, although there is weak evidence to support CLA are similar to PHVO EA in their EFA interaction, VA was reported not to inhibit desaturase activity to the same extent as EA in cellular studies nor impact on fetal and neonate EFAs, which questions whether all TFAs should be treated equally.

1.6.7. Impact of TFAs on Fetal Programming in Animal Models

Although there are many PHVO programming studies in animal models, the impact of PHVO is not ascertained whether the programming outcomes are in utero or early life nutrition in lactation that is causal. Several studies have noted that maternal dietary TFAs were incorporated into tissues of their offspring, in piglets (Pettersen and Opstvedt, 1992) and rats. (Komatsuzaki et al. (2013). An impact of programming on rat offspring exposed to PHVO in utero were found to have reduced brain n-3 EPA and remodelled hypothalamic mechanisms that increased appetite in later life compared to control animals (Albuquergue et al., 2006). This outcome was reproduced to some extent by Pimentel et al., (2012) in rat offspring exposed to PHVO during pregnancy and lactation. At d90 PHVO offspring had elevated hypothalamic inflammatory cytokines e.g. TNF α , IL-6, IL1- β compared to chow offspring and showed impaired satiety behaviour. Offspring of animal models of maternal obesity that were fed high fat/SFA diets (paragraph 1.6.4) similarly provided evidence that offspring displayed hyperphagia (Bayol et al., 2007, Sullivan et al., 2014, Thompson et al., 2017). In one study it was identified that maternal hyperlipemia could be causative of hypothalamic orexigenic neurogenesis in the developing fetus (Chang et al., 2008). Bouret (2010) explained that orexigenic hypothalamic development is early in gestation and sensitive to maternal

hormone e.g. leptin, insulin and associated nutrient supply. However, the PHVO animal studies reported above have either not recorded maternal lipid profiles nor confirmed if hyperlipidaemia was not present.

1.6.8. Mechanisms of Fetal Programming

There is extensive evidence in both human cohort and retrospective studies and animal experiments (see above) that maternal nutrition can detrimentally impact upon an individual's health in later life – see Figure 1.9 (Langley-Evans, 2015). The following paragraphs give a brief overview of the programming mechanisms that are under investigation.

1.6.8.1 The Placenta

The development of the placenta and nutrient supply to the fetus during its development is complex. In humans, the placenta progressively increases in size throughout pregnancy, with fetal/placental weight ratio increasing 40-fold from week 6 to term (Myatt, 2006). In normal pregnancy maternal plasma nutrients and hormones tightly regulate placental transporters and signalling pathways thereby influencing placental and fetal growth rates. Disruption of placental development pathways (for example gestational diabetes, maternal protein restriction or preeclampsia) can cause intrauterine growth restriction, small for gestational age or large for gestational age babies. (Jansson and Powell, 2006, Delhaes et al., 2018). Myatt (2006) notes that the timing of the nutritional or environmental insult is central to placental function. Perturbations during angiogenesis will have different effects compared to perturbations during trophoblast growth and differentiation. For example, maternal anaemia increases placental angiogenesis in the first trimester (Kadyrov et al., 1998). Retrospective studies of maternal nutrient and iron deficiency during early gestation were shown to cause placental hypertrophy and retarded fetal growth, with consequent hypertension in later life (Barker et al., 1990, Lumey, 1998). In contrast, pre-eclampsia at +20 weeks gestation, is representative of failure of placentation, reduced angiogenesis and consequent placental

hypoperfusion also resulting in retarded fetal growth with consequent CHD risk in later life (Poston, 2006, Bokslag et al., 2016). It is noted that mothers who are obese or consume high SFA diets during pregnancy have additional factors that may contribute to placental dysfunction, including elevated inflammatory markers, adipokines and insulin resistance.

However, programming pathways in humans are not yet fully understood with the majority of placenta samples only available post-partum and not during gestation (Delhaes et al., 2018). Jansson and Powell (2006) concluded the placental programming pathway is multifaceted. It not only depends upon maternal nutritional status but also maternal hormones (e.g. cortisol), angiogenesis, oxidative/nitrative stress, transporter expression regulation and epigenetic modification of placental genes.

1.6.8.2 Tissue Remodelling

Intrauterine growth restriction caused by maternal stress, undernutrition or overnutrition results in retarded growth of organs including the liver, spleen, thymus and kidneys (Boito et al., 2002, Greenwood and Bell, 2003). In mammalian cells the development pathway is controlled through proliferation, differentiation, replication, repair, renewal, and apoptosis, mediated with extrinsic signalling molecules, such as cytokines and growth factors. The latter mechanisms combine to create a diverse myriad of tissues and thus develop into a complex adult, multi-cellular organism (Alberts et al., 2016). The timing of the proliferative phase is key to specific organogenesis, for example skeletal muscle, heart and liver is early in development, with the kidney occurring later (Langley-Evans, 2009, Brameld et al., 2003, Si-Tayeb et al., 2010). Dependent on timing of the maternal nutritional or environmental insult it is proposed that cellular proliferation, but not differentiation, would be affected generating organs that were smaller with less cells, but with normal cellular function. However, impediments during the differentiation of tissue cells would produce organs of normal size but with altered cell type and potentially fewer functional units (Figure 1.10) (Langley-Evans, 2009).





Source: Langley Evans (2015)

As an example, it has been shown that an MLP diet during gestation in rats (Langley-Evans et al., 1999) and sheep (Lloyd et al., 2012) produce offspring with kidneys of similar size to controls, but with reduced nephron count. Human studies have also evidenced that low birth weight and hypertension are linked with a reduced renal volume (that is synonymous with nephron complement) (Zandi-Nejad et al., 2006, Keller et al., 2003). MLP and nephrogenesis studies in rats have specifically indicated that perturbations in nuclear cytoskeleton remodelling and cell cycle regulation that increase cellular apoptosis play a key role during embryonic development (Swali et al., 2011, Lloyd et al., 2012, Welham et al., 2002).

1.6.8.3 Genetics and Epigenetics

Epigenetics is described as "a link between genotype and phenotype" (Goldberg et al., 2007). Epigenetic factors control expression, or silencing, of genes through modifications to chromatin and its associated histone proteins during the cell cycle but does not alter the underlying base-pairing chromosome DNA sequence. It is considered that epigenetics play a key role in orchestrating an organism's hierarchical development system, from totipotent germ line cells to finite germ layer somatic cells. These heritable modifications in turn confer
control over cell fate through signalling for gene expression or gene silencing mechanisms (Alberts et al., 2016). During the cell cycle, nuclear complexes alter DNA-histone bonds and cause transient changes in chromatin conformation. Changes include translocation of histone dimers, known as sliding, unwrapping of DNA from histone octamers and DNA loop formation (Cheung et al., 2000). DNA methylation or demethylation further exerts control of the chromatin state, in association with post-translational modifications. Histones are susceptible to a myriad of N-terminal tail post-translational covalent modifications (e.g. acetylation, deacetylation, methylation, phosphorylation), which occur transiently during replication and transcription processes. All these modifications confer initiation or repressive regulation of gene expression and can act as recognition sites in the recruitment of enzymes, protein regulatory complexes, cytokines or transcription factors (Kouzarides, 2007). The DNA and core histone modifications ascribe an inheritable genetic and underlying epigenetic histone code that has become central to understanding developmental processes, and the direction of cell fate for both normal and pathological development (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). For example, in rats, maternal low protein has been found to decrease methylation of hepatic PPARα and glucocorticoid genes of weaned offspring (Lillycrop et al., 2005). The study noted methylation of gene promoters provide stable mechanisms for altered gene expression and can be linked with tissue remodelling and risk of disease in humans. Additionally, it has been shown that maternal hypercholesterolemia during pregnancy moderately altered fetal arterial expression of 135 genes which could play a role in atherogenesis over the course of their offspring's lifespan (Palinski and Napoli, 2002, Napoli et al., 2002). These studies proposed that maternal hypercholesterolemia caused increased lipid peroxidation and reactive oxygen species during early fetal development potentially affecting signalling pathways for genes e.g. TNF, PPARy involved in cell recruitment, growth and differentiation, thus imprinting susceptibility to atherosclerosis during fetal development.

1.6.9. Developmental Programming of NCDs by Early Life Nutrition

Developmental programming is suggestive that the greater the disparity in *in utero* nutrition and birth outcomes compared with their post-natal environment the greater the influence on

disease outcomes in later life (Koletzko et al., 2012). For example, the impact of undernutrition *in utero*, low birth weight and catch up growth in childhood as described by Eriksson et al, leading to obesity or hypertension in later life (Eriksson et al., 2001a, Eriksson et al., 2001b, Eriksson et al., 1999). Or, through maternal obesity with offspring having a propensity for obesity in later life (Laitinen et al., 2001, Steur et al., 2011, Gademan et al., 2014, Salsberry and Reagan, 2005, Schellong et al., 2012). Therefore, not only maternal nutrition during pregnancy but also early life nutrition are essential to future health outcomes (Salsberry and Reagan, 2005). During the first year of life infants' transition from a liquid diet of either breastmilk or formula milk to solid foods (Mennella and Tribulsi, 2012). Breastfeeding is considered the best choice of nutrition for infants in the first 6-12 months and is also considered beneficial to mothers due to decreasing breast cancer risk, reducing endometritis, post-partum weight loss and BMI reduction (WHO, 2013b, SACN, 2018). Breastfeeding studies have identified health benefits for infants including improved cognitive abilities (Evenhouse and Reilly, 2005), reduced inflammatory bowel disease (Joseph et al., 2004) reduced asthma (Gdalevich et al., 2001), and reduced obesity (Arenz et al., 2004).

1.6.10. Impact of Different Sources of FAs on the Developmental Programming of NCDs by Early Life Nutrition

It is noted that humans have an extended period of breast feeding that exposes the neonate to milk fat ingestion in early life with subsequent potential health implications (Armitage et al., 2005). Lipid content of human breastmilk is considered to have a vital role providing 45-55% of total energy provided to the infant in first 6 months (Innis, 2007, Bzikowska et al., 2018, Mazzocchi et al., 2018), with ≥95% constituted from TAG, and smaller amounts of MAG, DAG, NEFAs phospholipids and cholesteryl esters (Delplanque et al., 2015). Delplanque et al., (2015) note that in addition to the energy content dietary lipids provide EFAs, lipid soluble vitamins and substrates vital to cellular structure and function, signalling pathways and lipoprotein metabolism for infant health and development. The quantity of fat within the maternal milk does not vary with maternal daily intake (Innis., 2007, Bzikowska et al., 2018). A study reviewing European and African milk samples identified that the maternal diet influences the content of SFA MUFAs and PUFAs in breastmilk (Koletzko et al., 1992). Bzikowska et al., 2018 confirmed that during the first month post-partum, maternal BMI is also positively correlated to breastmilk energy, fat content and dry matter content and that it is the maternal body mass that is responsible for the content of breastmilk rather than daily nutrient intake per se. Maternal physiology adjusts during late pregnancy and early postpartum, mobilising maternal adipose stores through increased lipolysis and is a source of maternal FAs (Herrera and Ortega-Senovilla, 2014). Therefore, maternal milk is reflective of maternal dietary FAs e.g. SFAs, EFAs and TFA – see table 1.6 (Largue et al., 2001, Innis 2007, Delplangue et al., 2015). Innis et al (2007) confirmed that TFAs from ruminant and PHVO origin have been found in human breastmilk up to 9% total energy TFA. Mueller et al (2010) identified in over 300 women in the Netherlands KOALA birth study that PHVO and RTFA were positively correlated with maternal milk 18:1 trans in dose respondent manner. The highest levels of PHVO (EA) were found in the "conventional food" intake group, in contrast to highest levels of RTFAs (VA and CLA) within the "organic origin" dairy group. Their results highlighted that PHVO were considerably higher compared to RTFAs and that PHVO consumption declined with increased dairy intake. Furthermore, measurement of TFAs in human breast milk have found wide variations within countries and between different countries, for example, the highest TFA content was in USA 2.5%-13.8%; Canada 4.6%-5.3% with the lowest TFA content 0.87%-1.55% in Germany (Desci and Boehm, 2013).

FA Composition	Breakdown of FAs
TAG 95-98%	 TFAs are esterified to predominantly sn1 of TAG displacing SFA
	 70% Palmitic Acid (C16:0) esterified to TAG sn-2 and absorbed as
	glycerol-palmitate
SFA 10-12%,	 8-10% of SFA C6:0-10:0
	Lauric Acid (C14:0)
	 Palmitic Acid (C16:0) see above for TAGs
	Stearic Acid (C18:0)
MUFAs	 40% of MUFAs is Oleic Acid (OA C18:1 n-9)
	*NB ≥40% OA where large quantities of olive oil are consumed e.g.
	Mediterranean diets
PUFAs & EFAs	 PUFAs are dependent upon maternal diet
	 EFAs, LA and ALA must be provided in the maternal diet (7%)
TFA 0.5-2.5%	Elaidic Acid (EA C18: trans 9)
	Vaccenic Acid (VA C18:1 <i>trans</i> 11)
	• CLAs (RA C18:2 <i>cis</i> 9 <i>trans</i> 11)

 Table 1.5 Fatty Acid Composition of Human Breast Milk

Source: Mazzocchi et al., (2018), Larque et al (2001)

Innis (2007) noted that a ratio of 14:1 LA/ALA is consumed by mothers providing 7% daily energy to the infant via breastmilk, with the quantity of LA ingested highly variable between 3-10%. As identified in maternal and fetal plasma and cord samples above, studies of human breast milk evidenced an inverse relationship between TFA and EFAs (Szabo et al., 2007, Innis, 2007, Decsi and Boehm, 2013), indicating that EFA nutrient supply to the infant may be compromised by PHVOs in early life. Therefore, it can also be understood that infant consumption of PHVOs via maternal milk would in turn restrict infant metabolism of any EFAs to their LC PUFAs thereby impacting two-fold on infant EFA and associated development and signalling pathways. However, it was noted that all TFAs are not equal with Desci and Boehm, (2013) reporting that 18:1 trans and not 16:1 trans were inversely correlated with EFA in milk samples. Reported programming outcomes for TFAs in connection with infant early nutrition are limited. A study noted that mothers consuming 4.5g TFA/day were over five-times more likely to have body fat \geq 30% and their infants twice as likely to have bodyfat \geq 24%. They concluded that their study reflected that maternal consumption of TFA and subsequent breastfeeding of their infants may influence the prevalence of adiposity observed (Anderson et al., 2010).

1.6.11. Developmental Programming by Early Life Nutrition in Animal Models

Studies of animal milk (pigs and rats) have confirmed the human breast milk results that FAs are reflective of maternal diet and are incorporated into maternal milk in a dose respondent manner (Largue et al., 2000, Pettersen and Opstvedt, 1991). Largue et al., (2000) noted that in rats PHVO was incorporated into the milk and had significantly increased n-6 LA PUFAs and reduced n-3 ALA PUFAs with a ratio of 7:1 compared to milk of chow fed dams. Osso et al., (2008) reported that in rat offspring exposed to PHVO in lactation only had impaired insulin sensitivity and cardiac insulin resistance. Whilst in C57 mice Oben et al (2010) cross-fostered obese dam SFA offspring to lean chow fed dams and vice-versa during lactation. Those offspring exposed to high SFAs in utero only had greater insulin resistance and metabolic NAFLD characteristics. Whereas those offspring exposed to chow *in utero* and high SFA during lactation via obese dams had elevated inflammatory markers e.g. TNFa and IL6 and elevated liver TAG. Oben et al (2010) concluded that maternal obesity programmed metabolic dysfunction in offspring and a NAFLD phenotype, however that this is also dependent on the 'critical early postnatal period' lactation diet. Rat fetal programming studies, feeding 20% SFA during lactation have further demonstrated vascular endothelial dysfunction at d15 and d60 post weaning (Ghosh et al., 2001, Koukkou et al., 1998).

In conclusion, the above studies are indicative that maternal nutrition at opposite ends of the nutrient spectrum - under or over nutrition - and that of early life nutrition can impact on the development of NCDs in later life. the degree of difference between these factors may determine disease outcome in adulthood. Gillman (2005), and Langley-Evans and McMullen (2010), address criticisms of the DOHAD hypothesis, cautioning against taking the significance of such epidemiological and animal model studies at face value. They stipulated that many studies are not consistent in that they don't account for all confounding factors, for example, social class, maternal smoking, habitually poor nutrition, poverty and geographic location, all of which have been identified as influential in fetal growth and neonate anthropometry. The SACN (2011) report on maternal, pregnancy and early nutrition also commented that

identification of maternal nutritional status is lacking in many studies and thus their impact on disease later life is more difficult to ascertain.

1.7 ANIMAL MODELS OF FETAL AND DEVELOPMENTAL PROGRAMMING

Human epidemiological studies have supported and provided evidence of fetal and developmental programming hypotheses that are prevalent in current research arenas. However, caution is noted due to conflicting results, with differing reporting variables between studies thereby reducing consistency and strength of conclusions drawn (McMullen and Mostyn, 2009). Additionally, dietary intake studies such as breastfeeding, rely on observational reports, individual self-reporting, variation in timepoints or factors measured, and confounding factors e.g. smoking and lifestyle choice (Schack-Nielsen and Michaelsen, 2007). It is also acknowledged that human studies often confer greater financial implications and time constraints with epidemiological studies not evidenced until years after completion (Breckenridge, 2013). McMullen and Mostyn (2009) confirm developmental programming animal models provide essential evidence in support of human findings providing a 'causal relationship' between maternal diet and programming NCDs. Therefore animal models of developmental programming are able to control many confounding factors and variables measured whilst being able to confirm a vast array of physiological effects of maternal nutritional insults to the developing fetus (Koletzko et al., 2012) and in early post-natal life (Plagemann et al., 2012) and their influence on NCDs in later life. Taking into account species differences where caution is warned comparisons can be drawn as to the impact of specific nutrients e.g. protein carbohydrate or fatty acids, and quantities of nutrients (over nutrition or under nutrition) fed to animals at different timepoints during neonate development (Breckenridge, 2013, Williams et al., 2014).

1.7.1. Animal models of Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

Russell and Proctor (2006) commented that there is a need for animal models that mimic human CVDs. However, as CVDs are multifactorial in nature no single animal model is comparative to human pathophysiology. Therefore, there are several animal models that have been used to understand cholesterol-atherosclerosis aetiology and fetal programming. One of the first animal models in the 1900s by Nikolij Anikschow that demonstrated cholesterol-atherosclerosis principle was the rabbit (Pelias, 1983, Finking and Hanke, 1997). The New Zealand White Rabbit has been used to investigate cholesterol metabolism (Getz and Reardon, 2012) and the impact of different dietary fats e.g. CLAs on the development of atherosclerosis (Kritchevsky et al., 2004, Kritchevsky et al., 2000). However, as herbivores rabbits require high levels of cholesterol to achieve CVDs (Russell and Proctor, 2006). Getz and Reardon (2012) note that the Watanabe Hereditary Hypercholesterolemic rabbit has an LDLr defect gene and exhibit Familial Hypercholesterolemia. This animal model has also been used to demonstrate the role of maternal hypercholesterolemia in the fetal programming of atherosclerosis (Napoli et al., 2000) and has been key in understanding cholesterol metabolism and development of statins (Tonge, 2011). However, concerns have been raised regarding, site and location of lesions, and microbial health of animals due to Chlamydia pneumoniae present in atherosclerosis lesions and respiratory pathogens e.g. "snuffles" in those rabbits fed high-cholesterol diets. (Russell and Proctor, 2006).

Larger animal models such as pigs, sheep and non-human primates have also been used to identify impact of maternal dietary intake and fetal programming of NCDs (see paragraph 1.6). However, larger animals are more expensive to house, can take longer timescales for programming outcomes to be achieved and often have heightened ethical concerns (Badimon et al., 2013). Rodents such as mice and rats have been extensively used due being litter bearing abilities and cost efficacy in comparison to larger animal models (Tannock and King, 2010). Small animal models also allow for shorter generation timings enable cross generational programming studies to be elucidated. (McMullen and Mostyn, 2009).

1.7.2. Rodent Models of Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

Maternal overnutrition and fetal programming studies have encompassed cafeteria feeding or high fat diets (Williams et al., 2014). These diets are representative of modern "western diets" rich in SFA, MUFAs and PUFAs and consumed by animals during peri-conception, throughout fetal development and postnatally (Armitage et al., 2005). However, it is noted rodents have an inherent energy balance and even when faced with a high-fat diet they do not normally consume more nutrients than they require (Keesey and Hirvonen, 1997). Although rats have been extensively used to demonstrate fetal programming of metabolic syndrome, rodents are naturally resistant to atherosclerosis (Russell and Proctor 2006). It is also acknowledged that rodents possess a different lipoprotein metabolism compared to humans with low pro-atherosclerosis LDL and VLDL and high anti-atherosclerosis HDL, and therefore are unsuitable to be used for atherosclerosis programming studies (van den Hoek et al., 2014, Wang and Paigen, 2005) and this can impact on programming outcomes of atherosclerosis as demonstrated by Yates et al., (2009). Finally, sexual dimorphism has been demonstrated in many animal models highlighting variable programming impacts on either male or females (Getz and Reardon, 2012). For example, studies have identified no impact of programming of male C57s or AEL transgenic mice whilst female offspring did and is indicative that gender-specific hormones influence outcomes in animal models (Yates et al., 2009, Chechi et al., 2009).

Russell and Proctor (2006) note that the C57BL/6J wild type mouse develops some atherosclerosis in response to a high SFA, cholesterol-rich diet. However, a study by Yates et al (2009) found considerably reduced lesions and cholesterol metabolism in this model with differences between both males and female offspring. To reproduce a similar atherosclerosis model to humans, gene deletion 'knockout' or transgenic mouse models of atherosclerosis have been developed. The gene knockout mice impairs cholesterol clearance from the metabolism inducing a hypercholesterolemic profile with consequent atherosclerosis progression in the aorta (Zadelaar et al., 2007). The most common models include the

apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse (ApoE^{-/-}) and LDL receptor deficient mouse (LDLr^{-/-}) (Getz and Reardon, 2012). The ApoE^{-/-} model alters lipoprotein metabolism to mostly lipoprotein remnants (apoB48) however the main lipoprotein in human lipoprotein metabolism is LDL. Additionally, even in chow animals lesion development commences earlier and by 15-20 weeks age advanced lesions with fibrous plaques and thrombus rupture can occur. It is also noted that ApoE can also be expressed by adrenal cells and is involved in macrophage biology, thereby potentially confounding atherosclerosis lesion outcomes (Getz and Reardon, 2012). In comparison the LDLr^{-/-} mouse are less hyperlipidaemic compared to ApoE^{-/-} mice with the main lipoprotein metabolism consisting of VLDL and LDL. Hypercholesterolaemia is dependent upon dietary fat and cholesterol. However, the main drawback of this model is that in chow fed animals lesions are not formed in early life and do not develop until approximately 12 months age (Getz and Reardon, 2012, Zadelaar et. 2007). Therefore, this model is less beneficial when ascertaining fetal or early life lesions in offspring.

1.7.3. ApoE*3 Leiden Mouse Model of Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis

The ApoE*3 Leiden (AEL) mouse develops atherosclerosis dependent upon high SFA/Cholesterol-rich diets (Zadelaar et al, 2007, Kleeman et al 2007). AEL mice are a transgenic strain that carry a rare dominant-negative mutation of the human ApoE3 gene (Wardell et al 1989). This human mutation has been added in a construct that contains the hepatic APOC1 gene and promoter element, which regulates expression of ApoE and APOC1 genes. The normal ApoE3 gene codes for 299 amino acids, whilst the AEL has an additional 7amino acid repeat (306 amino acids). AEL confers dominant expression of Type III hyperlipoproteinemia phenotype with defective binding of the LDL receptor (Wardell et al., 1989). These defects impair clearance of chylomicron and VLDL remnants which accumulate in serum inducing hypercholesterolemia (Havekes et al., 1997). The AEL mutation construct with APOC1 may also reduce lipolysis, VLDL uptake and hypertriglyceridemia (van den Maagdenberg et al., 1993). In the AEL mouse model this gene mutation causes a more human-type lipid metabolism and mimics the susceptibly to the development of

atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic arch when fed a high SFA/cholesterol-rich diet (Zadelaar et al., 2007 Havekes et al., 1997, van Vanvlijmen et al 1996). Compared to the ApoE^{-/-} and LDLr^{-/-}, AEL mice represent a moderate model for hyperlipidaemia and dietary fat induced atherosclerosis (Zadelaar et al., 2007, Getz and Reardon, 2012). Van vlijmen et al (1996) noted that maximal lipoprotein metabolism was during rapid growth period at 45d age. In young mice VLDL and TAG increased 50%, and VLDL-apo B secretion rates increased by 75% compared to older mice, however clearance of VLDL and ApoB were similar. Furthermore, their study found that gender influenced both hepatic VLDL production and clearance rates, with hepatic VLDL/TAG and clearance of VLDL ApoB being higher in females compared to males. Their study concluded that gender and age modulated hyperlipidaemia in the AEL mouse. Investigations into the impact of diet composition (low fat vs. high SFA/Cholesterolrich diets) on serum lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in AEL female mice found that atherosclerosis lesions were 5-10 times larger than control mice with lesions developing near the aortic arch. Significant correlations between serum cholesterol levels and lesion area indicated that the AEL mouse model was a suitable model for dietary intervention studies of atherosclerosis (Groot et al., 1996). Since then the AEL mouse has been proven to give an insight into cholesterol metabolism and atherosclerosis with varied fatty acid results (De Roos et al., 2003, Tonge, 2011), atherosclerosis inflammatory and immune response pathways (Boesten et al., 2005, van Vlijmen et al., 2001), and atherosclerosis therapeutic treatments (Kooistra et al., 2006). Additionally, it had been evidenced, using a maternal C57BL/6J mouse that are cross bred with AEL males, that maternal low protein programmed atherosclerosis in AEL offspring (Yates et al 2009). At the commencement of the fetal and developmental programming of atherosclerosis studies carried out and thus reported on herein, it was pertinent to use the maternal C57 background, cross bred with AEL males with outcomes reported in the AEL female offspring. Since the conclusion of these studies it has also been confirmed that maternal high fat diets have also programmed atherosclerosis in AEL offspring (Tarling et al., 2016).

1.8 AIM AND HYPOTHESIS

As outlined above in the General Introduction, there are different effects of P, R and W fatty acids on maternal lipoprotein metabolism and CHD risk with consequent metabolic disease and atherosclerotic CVD outcomes for offspring. Our studies aimed to investigate the impact of two types of TFA (that associated with ruminant milk and that associated with partially hydrogenated vegetable oil) during pregnancy, pregnancy + lactation, or throughout lifespan on the risk of atherosclerosis in offspring using the AEL mouse model.

Study 1 Hypothesis: That maternal consumption of ruminant derived TFA during pregnancy and fetal development, will protect the offspring from atherosclerosis, while that associated with PHVO will have the opposite effect.

Hypothesis Study 2: It was hypothesized that maternal consumption of P diet throughout pregnancy, or pregnancy + lactation would adversely alter maternal lipoprotein metabolism and transfer TFAs to the offspring increasing susceptibility to atherosclerosis to a greater extent compared to Western diets consumed during the same development periods. It was further considered that maternal consumption of R during the same development periods would improve maternal lipoprotein metabolism compared to P and W diets and decrease susceptibility to atherosclerosis in their offspring.

Hypothesis Study 3: It was hypothesised that exposure PHVO throughout lifespan (starting at conception) would increase atherosclerosis risk in offspring to a greater extent compared to Western and RTFA diets. It was further considered that the Western diet would have a greater influence on increasing atherosclerosis risk in offspring compared to the RTFA diet.

2. REAGENTS

All reagents were of analytical grade and purchased from Fisher Scientific or Sigma Aldrich unless otherwise stated.

2.1 DIETS FOR ANIMAL EXPERIMENTS

A standard chow, Rat and Mouse Diet Number 1 Maintenance (RM1) Diet (Special Diet Services, Essex, UK) was used for the basic maintenance of mice whilst not on feeding trials. According to the manufacturer, the diet contained 2.7% crude oil of which the majority of the fatty acids were: oleic acid (0.77%), linoleic acid (0.69%) and palmitic acid (0.31%). The FAME composition of this diet is shown in Figure 2.2. RM1 was used as the basis for the control "Chow" (C) diet used in the feeding trials. This was fed to C57BL/6J mice (dams) throughout pregnancy and lactation and also to female ApoE*3 Leiden (AEL) offspring in post-natal diets. RM1 was used also as an element of the experimental fatty acid diets – see PHVO and RTFA and Western diets in Table 2.1 below. FAME composition of experimental diets are shown in Figure 2.1.

RM1 was weighed out and appropriate quantities of fats (Table 2.2) were heated to 65°C until liquid and homogenous. Fats were thoroughly mixed into the RM1 diet using an electric mixer for 15 minutes and finished by hand to ensure even fat distribution throughout. Where possible, up to 10kg of feed were made-up at one time, allocated into 1kg batches and stored at -20°C until required.

Systematic Name	Trivial name	Shorthand	PHVO (PHVO) g/100g	Dairy TFA g/100g fat
Saturated fatty acids				8, 2008 100
butanoic	butyric	4:0	0	3.41
hexanoic	caproic	6:0	0	1.75
octanoic	caprylic	8:0	0	0.90
decanoic	capric	10:0	0.06	1.82
dodecanoic	lauric	12:0	1.18	2.09
tetradecanoic	myristic	14:0	1.23	8.02
hexadecanoic	palmitic	16:0	31.52	22.94
octadecanoic	stearic	18:0	14.81	5.82
SUM 12+14+16			33.93	33.05
Monoenoic fatty acids				
cis-9-octadecenoic	oleic		22.76	13.37
# Other cis-9 18-1			1.69	1.99*
Monoenoic <i>Trans</i> fatty acids*				
trans 4, octadecadienoic			0	0.09
trans 5, octadecadienoic			0	0.09
trans 6/8, octadecadienoic			3.37	0.78
trans 9, octadecadienoic	elaidic	18:1 ω-9 trans	9.83	0.64
trans 10, octadecadienoic			4.42	2.42
trans 11, octadecadienoic	vaccenic	18:1 ω-11 trans	2.32	13.87
trans 12, octadecadienoic			0.80	0.78
trans 13/14, octadecadienoic			1.26	0.98
trans 15, octadecadienoic			0.50	0.29
trans 16, octadecadienoic			0.07	0.16
SUM t9+10+11			16.57	16.93
Polyunsaturated fatty acids*				
9,12-octadecadienoic	linoleic	18:2(n-6)	2.01	2.35
6,9,12-octadecatrienoic	γ-linolenic	18:3(n-6)		
9,12,15-octadecatrienoic	α-linolenic	18:3(n-3)	0.04	0.32
Polyunsaturated <i>trans</i> fatty acids				
Trans		18:2	0.87	1.99
Cis-9, <i>trans</i> -11	CLA	18:2	0	4.44

Table 2.1 Experimental Diets Fatty Acid Profile

(Chardigny et al., 2008)

Figure 2.1 %FAME Experimental Diets



67

Fatty Acid

DIET	STUDY 1	STUDY 2 AND STUDY 3
Chow (C)	1000g RM1	1000g RM1
RTFA (R)	870g RM1.	850g RM1
	130g Ruminant Milk Fat	150g Ruminant Milk fat
PHVO (P)	870g RM1	850g RM1
	130g PHVO	150g PHVO
Western (W)	N/A	850g RM1.
		125g Beef Tallow
		15g tripalmitin
		10g Corn oil
Atherogenic (A)	870g RM1	850g RM1.
	30g Cocoa Butter	50g Cocoa Butter
	2.5g Cholesterol	2.5g Cholesterol

Table 2.2 Animal Feed Experimental Diets

2.1.1. Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil *TFA* (PHVO or P)

To prepare the PHVO diet required for the studies, two different types of PHVO (35% Fuji and 65% Lipid Nutrition) which were blended with RM1.

2.1.2. Ruminant TFA (RTFA or R)

Milk fat high in ruminant *trans* fatty acids was kindly gifted by Professor Dale Bauman from a previous study at Cornell University, (Ithaca, New York, USA) where cows were fed a diet enriched with safflower oil, synthesising a milk fat predominantly rich in 18:1-*t9/11* vaccenic acid and CLA. This oil was blended with RM1 as shown in Table 2.2.

2.1.3. Western Diet (Western or W)

To produce a diet with a fatty acid profile similar to that seen in the typical human western diet, RM1 was mixed with corn oil (rich in polyunsaturated fats) and saturated fats including beef tallow and tripalmitin.

2.1.4. Atherogenic Diet (Athero or A)

In order to induce atherosclerosis in mice during the postnatal period, a high fat, high cholesterol diet was utilized. This was produced by mixing RM1 with cocoa butter (Nestlé, Vers-chez-les-Blanc, Switzerland) and cholesterol (2.5 g/kg diet).

2.2 ANIMALS

All animal experiments were approved by an independent Animal Care and Use Committee and were performed under UK Home Office licence in accordance with European Union specifications. Before the study the number of animals required was calculated using data from a previously reported study (Yates et al., 2009), with an aim to have 90% power to detect an effect of maternal diet (α =0.05, β =0.1). The nature of the study dictated that the feeding study was not performed blind, though all analyses (including atherosclerosis) was performed by animal number and without reference to the treatment group. Animals were housed in plastic cages in the University of Nottingham animal facilities under controlled conditions (20-22°C, 55% humidity, 12-hour light: dark cycle) with free access to food and water at all times. Wild type, seven-week-old, C57BL/6J (C57s) female mice were obtained from Harlan UK and initially maintained on Rat and Mouse Diet Number 1 Maintenance Diet (Special Diet Services). C57 females (dams) were matched for bodyweight and mated with male heterozygous AEL mice on C57BL/6J background (sires) at six to eight weeks age. The AEL male mice were also matched for bodyweight across groups. This cross breeding produces 50% AEL heterozygous offspring and 50% C57 wild type offspring, of which 50% will be female and 50% male. The transgenic mice were bred in our facility from founder males kindly provided by Dr Louis Havekes (TNO Pharma). Heterozygous animals were used as the AEL transgene is lethal in homozygotes. For both studies, AEL female offspring were selected due to their greater diet-induced, hyperlipidaemic profile and atherosclerosis susceptibility, when compared to AEL males (Groot et al., 1996, van Vlijmen et al, 1996).

2.2.1. ANIMAL HUSBANDRY

2.2.1.1 Mating and Pregnancy

AEL sires were paired and mated with female C57 dams for two oestrous cycles (eight days). The paired animals were housed within Individual Ventilated Cages (IVC)and after eight days males were removed and euthanised in accordance with Schedule 1, Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 (ASPA) (Home_Office, 1986). Pregnant dams remained within the IVC environment until pups were weaned. The dams were checked daily for confirmation of pregnancy and their bodyweight recorded. Throughout mating and pregnancy (18 days) dams were fed the control Chow diet (C) or one of the experimental diets (P, R or W) *ad libitum*.

2.2.2. Parturition/Suckling

At parturition, dams continued either on a control diet or an experimental fat diet, exposing them and their suckling offspring to differing nutritional insults. Offspring were weaned onto postnatal diets at approximately 21 days of age.

2.2.3. Offspring

At 21 Days, pups were sexed and all female offspring genotyped (method 2.5). All AEL positive female offspring were weaned onto control Chow diet or experimental fat diet for a period of 84 days (12 weeks). Mice were housed singly within a controlled environment at 21°C, 55% humidity, and a 12-hour light and dark cycle. Feed was offered *ad libitum* and animals had unrestricted access to fresh water. Animals were monitored daily over the first seven days post weaning to ensure diet tolerance and health. Thereafter, all animals were weighed at weekly intervals to compare body weights between groups. See Experimental Designs for Study 1 Figure 2. and Study 2 Figure 2.3 and Study 3 Figure 2.4 for further details.

Figure 2.2 Study 1 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis



2.2.4. Study 1 Diet Groups: The Impact of PHVO or RTFA on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

- **PCC**: Dams were fed PHVO diet during pregnancy (P) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto a Chow (C) post-natal diet.
- **RCC**: Dams were fed RTFA diet during pregnancy (R) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto Chow (C) post-natal diet.
- **PCA**: Dams were fed PHVO diet during pregnancy (P) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **RCA**: Dams were fed RTFA diet during pregnancy (R) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.

Figure 2.3 Study 2 Experimental Design: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal and Developmental Programming of Atherosclerosis



- 2.2.5. Diet Groups Study 2: The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis
- **CCA**: Dams were fed Chow diet during pregnancy (C) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **PCA**: Dams were fed PHVO diet during pregnancy (P) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **RCA**: Dams were fed RTFA diet during pregnancy (R) and Chow during lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- WCA: Dams were fed Western diet during pregnancy (W) and lactation (W). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **PPA**: Dams were fed PHVO diet during pregnancy (P) and lactation (P). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **RRA**: Dams were fed RTFA diet during pregnancy (R) and lactation (R). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.
- **WWA**: Dams were fed Western diet during pregnancy (W) and lactation (W). Offspring were weaned onto an Atherogenic (A) post-natal diet.

Figure 2.4 Study 3 Experimental Design: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis



2.2.6. Diet Groups Study 3: The Impact of PHVO, RTFA or Western Diet throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis

- **CCC**: Dams were fed Chow diet during pregnancy (C) and lactation (C). Offspring were weaned onto a Chow (C) post-natal diet.
- **PPP**: Dams were fed PHVO diet during pregnancy (P) and lactation (P). Offspring were weaned onto a PHVO (P) post-natal diet.
- **RRR**: Dams were fed RTFA diet during pregnancy (R) and lactation (R). Offspring were weaned onto a RTFA (R) post-natal diet.
- **WWW**: Dams were fed Western diet during pregnancy (W) and lactation (W). Offspring were weaned onto a Western post-natal diet (W).

2.3 TISSUE SAMPLES

Dependent upon the study, animals were euthanised in accordance with Schedule 1, ASPA (Home_Office, 1986). Several different tissues were excised, weighed, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, then stored at -80°C until analysis (Table 2.3).

Breed	Study/Chapter	Tissue Sample	Collection Time point
C57 Females (dams)	Pregnancy Study ASLG01/09/Mat CHAPTER 4	Blood, Liver, Perirenal adipose tissue and gonadal adipose tissue, placentas, 50% whole fetus, 50% fetal liver.	Day 17 pregnancy.
C57 Females (dams)	Study 2 and Study 3 ASLG01/11 CHAPTER 5	Blood, Brain, mammary, glands, Liver, Heart, Perirenal adipose tissue and gonadal adipose tissue.	After 21 days lactation period at weaning of pups
AEL Females	Study 1 ASLG01/09	Blood, Heart (mounted), Aortic Arch, Thoracic Aorta, Liver, Perirenal adipose tissue and gonadal adipose tissue.	After 84 days on a post- natal diet (15 weeks of age)
AEL Females	Study 2 and Study 3 ASLG01/11	Blood, Brain, Heart (mounted), Aortic Arch, Thoracic Aorta, Liver, Perirenal adipose tissue and gonadal adipose tissue.	After 84 days on a post- natal diet (15 weeks of age)

Table 2.3 Tissue Samples

2.4 SERUM COLLECTION

Immediately after confirmation of death by cervical dislocation, up to 1ml blood was extracted by cardiac puncture, collected into clotting serum gel tubes (Sarstedt), and placed on ice. Blood serum tubes were centrifuged at 4°C for 12 minutes at 16,000g. Serum was kept on ice, and dependent upon quantity, split into several 50µl aliquots per animal and stored at -80°C until required for analysis.

2.5 GENOTYPING

All female pups were sampled between 18-21 days age to detect the AEL genotype. For initial genotyping ear tissue was collected from pups by BRU staff in line with ASPA regulations (Home_Office, 1986). Reaffirmation of genotype at the end of the study was undertaken utilising 10mg frozen crushed liver tissue. Extract-N-Amp[™] Tissue PCR Kit (Sigma Aldrich, Catalogue Number XNAT2) was used to extract and amplify genomic DNA from tissue samples.

2.5.1. DNA Extractions

Each tissue sample was placed into individual, labelled 1.5ml eppendorf tube and 10µl of Extract-N-Amp[™] Extraction Buffer added. Each tissue sample was mechanically disrupted using a sterilised pestle and incubated at room temperature for ten minutes. Samples were incubated at 95°C for three minutes, and then 100µl Extract-N-Amp[™] Neutralisation Buffer added, vortexing each sample to mix well. Neutralised extracted samples were stored at 4°C until PCR was carried out.

2.5.2. PCR Amplification

Reagents were added (Table 2.4) to create a "master mix" and 16µl placed into thin walled PCR plates, to which 4µl tissue extract sample was added giving a total reaction volume of 20µl per sample. Each sample was gently mixed by pipette to ensure reaction homogeneity. AEL 20bp

primers were previously designed (Yates et al., 2009) and ordered from Eurofins MWG Operon, the sequences are set out below.

AEL Primers

AEL Forward Mus: Sequence (5' -> 3'): GCC CCG GCC TGG TAC ACT GC

AEL Reverse Mus: Sequence (5' -> 3'): GGC ACG GCT GTC CAA GGA GC

Reagent	Volume (µl)
Extract-N-Amp [™] PCR reaction mix	10
Forward AEL Primer	0.8
Reverse AEL Primer	0.8
PCR grade water	4.4
Sample	4
Total Volume	20

Table 2 4 PCR Extract-N-Amp Solution

Three controls were used: (i) positive control - 4μ l of confirmed AEL tissue extract; negative controls (ii) 4μ l of confirmed C57BLJ6 tissue extract and (iii) 4μ l PCR grade water. A PCR thermal cycler (PTC200, MJ Research) was used with cycling parameters optimised for the AEL genotype (Table 2.5).

Table 2.5 Fer memocycler Farameters for the ALL Genotype				
Step	Temperature	Time Cycles		
Initial Denaturation	95°C	10 minutes. 1		
Denaturation	95°C	30 seconds		
Annealing	68°C	30 seconds > 32		
Extension	72°C	30 seconds		
Final Extension	72°C	7 minutes 1		
Hold	4°C	Indefinitely 1		

Table 2.5 PCR Thermocycler Parameters for the AEL Genotype

2.5.3. Gel Electrophoresis

A 1.5% (w/v) agarose gel (analytical grade agarose, Melford Laboratories Ltd) was prepared with 1x TAE buffer. The agarose solution was placed in a conical beaker and heated until fully dissolved and transparent, then cooled under cold running water. The agarose gel was poured into a gel former (Bio Rad) with combs and left to set for one hour at room temperature and either utilised immediately or stored overnight at 4°C. Combs were removed from the set gel, and the gel and gel former submerged in an electrophoresis tank containing 1x TAE buffer. 5µl of Type II loading buffer (0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol and 15% ficoll (type 400) was added to each PCR reaction and pipetted up and down to mix. 12µl of every sample was loaded into consecutive wells of the submerged agarose gel. 10µl of five parts 100bp DNA ladder (Promega) and one-part loading buffer was used to identify genomic bands and loaded into one well per gel. The gel was run at 80 volts for 40-50 minutes until the ladder and samples had run an appropriate distance. The gel was removed from the running tank and stained in an Ethidium Bromide solution (0.5µg/ml) for 30 minutes and imaged using a UV platform and camera. Images were captured using GelDoc 2000 software (Bio Rad) and the image printed out for genotype results analysis.

2.6 SERUM ANALYSES

Serum total cholesterol, Triglyceride or glucose content were determined using either colorimetric assays (methods 2.6.1 and 2.6.2) or using a RX Imola Randox Chemistry Analyser (method 2.6.3).

2.6.1. Colorimetric Assays –Serum Total Cholesterol and Triglyceride

Quantitative analysis of serum total cholesterol and Triglyceride were carried out using InfinityTM reagents. Dependent upon the assay, respective cholesterol or TAG standards were made up using distilled water. 10µl of each standard were pipetted in duplicate on a 96 well microassay plate with 10µl of distilled water used as the blank. For each sample, a total volume of 10µlwas diluted as per protocol (Table 2.6) and placed in duplicate onto the microassay plate. 200µl of

appropriate reagent (cholesterol or Triglyceride) was added to each well and samples incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. Results were read on a plate reader (BioRad 680XR) using Microplate Manager software and a dual wavelength reading: measurement filter 550nm and reference filter 650nm.

Table 2.6 Infinity[™]Assay Dilutions

	Cholesterol	Triglyceride
Sample dilution with	Neat or 1:2	1:4
distilled water		

2.6.2. Colorimetric Assay – Serum Glucose

A set of seven standards were made up from a 20mM glucose/distilled water solution.1.5ml eppendorf tubes were labelled with sample and standard identification numbers and with total sample volume of 10µl (1:2 dilution distilled water)for samples and standards were pipetted into their corresponding tubes.500µl of Glucose Oxidase reagent (Sigma Aldrich) was added to each tube and briefly vortexed to mix. The sample assay was incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes then 200µl of each sample and standard set out a 96 well microassay plate in duplicate, using distilled water as the blank. Results were read on a plate reader (Bio Rad 680XR) using Microplate Manager software and a dual wavelength reading: measurement filter 550nm and reference filter 650nm.

2.6.3. Serum Lipid Analysis (Randox)

A Randox Imola RX -series Chemistry Analyser (Randox Laboratories Ltd, Crumlin, UK) was utilised and training provided by Dr N. Kendall, University of Nottingham School of Veterinary Medicine and Science. Plasma HDL/LDL analyses were carried out using direct clearance methodology (Randox, 2011a, Randox, 2011b). Assays were carried out on plasma Total Cholesterol by CHOD-PAP method (Randox, 2011c) and plasma Triglycerides by GO-PAP method (Randox, 2011d). Reagents were purchased from Randox Lt, Crumlin, UK. Randox calibrants, lipid and sera control reagents were prepared to manufacturer's instructions and 1ml of each set up in vials on the inner carousel of the Randox Imola analyser with distilled water as a blank. The minimum amount of serum required for these analyses was 100µl. Where less that 100µl serum was available samples were diluted with distilled water and dilutions recorded for final calculation. Standards and samples were placed in 500µl Eppendorf tubes and floated in LP4 tubes which were placed in consecutive order onto the outer carousel of the analyser. The Randox Imola program for each reagent progressed through the sample set twice providing duplicate sampling.

2.7 FATTY ACID ANALYSIS

2.7.1. Direct Fatty Acid Methyl Ester (FAME) Synthesis

Direct FAME synthesis (O'Fallon et al., 2007) of diets and their constituents was performed before analysis by gas chromatography (GC). 1g of feed or 0.1g dietary fat were placed into a glass methylation tube.0.7ml 10M potassium hydroxide in water was added followed by 5.3ml methanol. Samples were incubated in a water bath at 55°C for one hour 30 minutes and vortexed for five seconds every 20 minutes. Samples were then cooled below room temperature in cold tap water bath. Once cooled 0.58ml of 12M sulphur acid in water was added and carefully mixed by inversion. Samples were returned to the water bath and incubated at 55°C for a further 1.5 hours and vortexed for five seconds every 20 minutes. As before samples were cooled in a cold tap water bath before 3ml of hexane was added and vortexed for 30 seconds. Samples were placed in a centrifuge at 500g for five minutes. The top hexane layer was transferred to a glass LP4 tube and 1ml of this was placed into a GC vial (VWR International Ltd) and capped. Samples were stored at -20°C until analysis.

2.7.2. Gas Chromatography of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (FAME)

Analysis of FAME samples were carried out using a Perkin Elmer Clarus 500 Gas Chromatograph with flame ionisation detector (FID) running TotalChrom software. The GC was fitted with a 100m CP-Sil 88 column (Varian, Walton on Thames, Surrey). The FAME samples in GC vials (method 2.7.1) were loaded onto the automatic sampler carousel with a C4-C24 standard (Supelco 189-19 AMP) for identification of known fatty acid components. The gas chromatograph specification and programme are shown in Table 2.7. Chromatographs of each sample were obtained and the exported into Excel format for analysis. The results reported each sample FAME as a percentage allowing for comparison of samples.

ble 2	/ FAIVIE Anal	ysis Gas Chroma	itograp	hy Specifications and Programme
•	Injector	temperature:	•	Injection speed and volume: Fast
	255°C			speed, 1.0µl
•	Detector	temperature:	٠	Pre-injection sample washes: 2
	255°C			
•	Detector ra	nge: 1	•	Post-injection solvent washes: 2
•	Carrier gas:	Hydrogen	Progra	amme:
•	Inlet pressu	re: 41.5 psi	1.	Initial temperature: 45°C, hold
				for 4 minutes
•	Split ratio: 1	1:20	2.	Ramp 1: 13°C/minute to 175°C,
				hold for 27 minutes
•	Airflow rate	: 450ml/min	3.	Ramp 2: 4°C/min to 215°C, hold
				for 35 minutes
•	Hydrogen: 4	15ml/min	Total ı	run time: 86 minutes per sample

:**::**: Tab

Fatty Acid Analysis of Perirenal Adipose Tissue 2.7.3.

Perirenal tissue samples were exported to Dr A. L. Lock, Department of Animal Science, Michigan State University, for analysis of *trans* fatty acids by gas chromatography. The results are shown in their respective chapters.

2.7.4. Lipid Extraction from Liver Tissue

300mg of crushed liver tissue was placed into LP4 tubes and homogenised in 1.6ml sodium sulphate (1g/15ml distilled water). The homogenate was decanted into a 15ml falcon tube containing 5.4ml of three-parts hexane to two-parts isopropanol. Another 2ml of sodium sulphate was added and samples vortexed for 30 seconds to mix well. Samples were centrifuged at 1200g for 15 minutes at room temperature. The top layer of solvent containing the lipid extraction was transferred to a new LP4 tube and dried down under nitrogen. Lipid extracts were re-suspended in 1ml hexane, capped, and stored at -20°C until use.

2.7.5. Liver Cholesterol and Triglyceride Assays

For each sample 100µl of hexane lipid extract (method 2.7.4) was transferred into a corresponding 500µl eppendorf tube. The lipid extract was dried down under nitrogen and re-suspended in 100µl isopropanol. For the assays, a total sample volume of 10µl was used (Triglyceride extracts were diluted 1 in 8 in isopropanol). 10µl standards, samples and blank were pipetted in duplicate onto a 96 well microassay plate. 200µl of appropriate reagent (InfinityTMCholesterol or Triglyceride) was added to each well and samples incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. Results were read on a plate reader (Bio Rad 680XR) using Microplate Manager software and a dual wavelength reading: measurement filter 550nm and reference filter 650nm.

2.8 HISTOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF THE AORTA AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS QUANTIFICATION

The heart and aorta dissection techniques and methods used for histological analysis of the aorta and atherosclerosis quantification are included in Chapter 3, Paragraph 3.1.

2.9 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Results are shown as mean data ± Standard Error of the Mean (SEM). Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS 25 and GenStat software. Data was assessed for normality using Shapiro-Wilk test or Levene's test of homogeneity. Non-normally distributed data were transformed by square root "a" or log10 "c" before parametric statistical analyses were performed by the appropriate statistical test e.g. Student T-Test, repeated measures ANOVA, and ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Non-parametric data were analysed by Independent sample Mann-Whitney U "b" or Kruskal-Wallis H "d" statistical tests. Significance P<0.05.

CHAPTER 3 METHOD DEVELOPMENT FOR ATHEROSCLEROSIS LESION QUANTIFICATION IN APOE 3*LEIDEN MICE

3. INTRODUCTION

Over the last 20 years many authors (Qiao et al (1994), Groot et al (1996), Gijbels et al (1999), Van Vlijmen et al (2001), Kooistra et al (2006), Yates et al (2009)) have quoted Paigen et al (1987) for their heart and aortic valve dissection techniques or quantification methodology. As these techniques and methods are referred to frequently, they begin to be adopted and interpreted for standard murine atherosclerosis analyses and to some extent were utilised for atherosclerosis quantification of the studies herein. However, analysis of quantification methodologies used has not been reviewed.

Paigen et al's (1987) studies considered 3 different quantification methods: (a) all sections, with lesion size visually estimated using a microscope grid eyepiece, (b) all sections, ORO stained cross-sections with photomicrographs taken and computer graphics software quantification, and (c) selecting sections with the largest lesions across all samples. They found that the latter method had greater statistical power compared to the other two due to utilising five independent, equidistant sections at 80µm intervals. They also found utilising method (a) and (c) together to be the most efficient for quantification as no photomicrographs were required.

Although the studies outlined above and shown in Table 3.1 have sectioned the same region of aorta and aortic valves, they identified their own preference in terms of the section thickness (5 μ m-10 μ m), distance (e.g. alternate 10 μ m, 40 μ m, and three 120 μ m), and number of sections quantified (n=3, 4, 5, 10, 15). Due to the variation in these methods and a different choice for this study (7 μ m sections at a distance of 14 μ m), it was determined to fully evaluate the atherosclerosis results for Study 1 to ensure they were (i) representative of the whole and (ii) no important data was omitted. It was also an opportunity to identify patterns of atherosclerosis expression throughout the aortic valve region.

	Publication/Author	Sections	Quantification
1.	Paigen et al(1987)	10µm alternate cross sections.	All sections: grid microscope measurement. photomicrograph and computer software. 5 alternate 10µsections at 80µm intervals
2.	Qiao et al (1994)	10μm alternate cross sections	Analysis 20-30 sections, alternate sections at 10µm intervals
3.	Groot et al (1996)	10µm alternate cross sections	Up to 40 sections imaged, all analysed. 10 alternate sections at 10µm intervals.
4.	Gijbels et al (1999)	7 μm cross sections	3 sections at 120 μ m intervals
5.	Van Vlijmen et al (2001)	5 μm cross sections	4 sections of aortic valve area at $40\mu m$ intervals
6.	Kooistra et al(2006)	5 μm cross sections	4 sections aortic valve area at 30 μm intervals.
7.	Yates et al(2009)	10μm alternate cross sections	15 sections aortic valve area, alternate sections at 10μm intervals.

Table 3.1 Comparison of Atherosclerosis Quantification Techniques¹

¹ The data shown in the table above refers to cross sectional analyses in the aortic valve region only and does not detract from additional morphometric and categorical analyses carried out by the authors.

3.1 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1.1. Mice and Diets

Diets and mice are previously described in Chapter 2 Methods, Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2, respectively. C57BLJ6 female mice were cross bred with AEL males. During gestation (21 days) the pregnant dams were fed either a PHVO (P) or RTFA (R) diet thereby exposing the fetus to two types of TFA during development *in utero*. On the birth of the pups, dams were transferred onto chow diet (C) which was consumed by the dams throughout suckling. At 21 days of age, the AEL female pups were weaned onto a post-natal diet of either Chow (C) or cholesterol-rich Atherogenic (A) diet, resulting in four diet groups: (i) PCC, (ii) PCA, (iii) RCC, and (iv) RCA. AEL offspring remained on their post-natal diets for 12 weeks before being culled and tissues excised at 15 weeks of age.

3.1.2. Heart Dissection and Microtomy

The heart, aortic arch and descending aorta were excised at culling. The heart was dissected out, weighed, and flushed with histological OCT mounting media (Raymond A Lamb). As described by Paigen *et al* (1987) see Figure 3.1, the heart was sectioned perpendicular to the axis of the aorta. The sectioned hearts were mounted on a histology cork (Raymond A Lamb) with OCT, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis (Figure 3.2).





Source: Image adapted from Donnelly (2008)

3.1.3. Histological Analysis of Atherosclerosis within the Aorta

Each heart was remounted onto a cryostat chuck using OCT and brought to temperature (-20°C) one hour prior to sectioning (Figure 3.2). Serial cross-sections of the aorta (7μ m thick) were taken using a cryostat (Bright Instruments, Huntingdon, Cambs, UK). The sections were placed onto charged slides (VWR International) from the appearance of the aortic valve leaflets, throughout the valves up to the heart atrium.





Source: Adapted from Tonge (2011)

A series of three slides were used for each aorta. The first three sections were placed one on each of the three slides and this process repeated (Figure 3.3). This meant that the sections on each slide were $14\mu m$ apart.





3.1.4. Oil Red O Staining

An Oil Red O (ORO) stock solution (0.5%w/v Oil Red O in isopropanol) was heated at 60°C for two hours, allowed to cool, then stored in the dark at room temperature until use. A working solution was made up of two parts ORO stock solution and three parts of 1% dextrin. This was mixed for an hour at room temperature and filtered before use. The slides were placed in staining racks and immersed in isopropanol for 15 seconds and ORO for 20 minutes, followed by rinsing in isopropanol for 15 seconds. Sections were counterstained in Mayers Haematoxylin (Raymond A Lamb) for five minutes, rinsed in tap water and blued in Scots tap water (distilled water containing 2% w/v sodium bicarbonate and 0.35% w/v magnesium sulphate). Finally, the slides were rinsed in tap water to remove any residue. An aqueous glycerol mounting medium was used (50% v/v glycerol and 50% dH₂O v/v) and the edges of the cover slips were sealed with clear lacquer.

3.1.5. Imaging and Quantification

All ORO stained sections were imaged with a light microscope (Leica DM5000B) using Leica Application software version 2.1 at 10x magnification. All sections were imaged, and ORO stained plaques quantified using Image-Pro[®] Plus 5.1.2 software. Analyses were performed blind without knowledge of diet group. Lesions were quantified by number of red pixels (Oil Red O lipid staining) present and converted to lesion area (μ m²).

Figure 3.4: Photomicrographs of Aorta Sections stained with Oil Red O





Images show aortic valve leaflets. Arrows indicate atherosclerotic lesions. Image (A) Shows small lesions in post-natal chow fed animals. Image (B) shows large lipid filled atherosclerotic lesion in animals fed a post-natal high fat/high cholesterol "atherogenic" diet.

3.2 RESULTS - ANALYSIS AND QUANTIFICATION OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS

As previously described (paragraph 3.1.1) 7μ m sections were analysed at a distance of 14μ m between sections from the appearance of the aortic valves from aortic arch towards the heart. For Study 1, 21 specimens across four diet groups were quantified.

3.2.1. Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression throughout Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice

Sections were aligned to where three aortic valves were clearly observed (Figure 3.4). The average lesion area (μ m²) was calculated for every section and plotted to identify the pattern of atherosclerosis expression for each diet group (Figure 3.5). The pattern of lesion expression showed distinct differences between offspring diet groups. The offspring Atherogenic diet groups (A: PCA and RCA) were defined by a higher and protracted peak compared to chow groups (C: PCC and RCC) giving an immediate visual impact of the atherogenic diet on severity and prevalence of atherosclerosis. A second difference observed was the lack of lesions in the chow groups at the
beginning and end of the valves compared to atherogenic diet groups. It was also observed that PCC groups had lower levels of atherosclerosis compared to RCC throughout the sections 12-48.



Figure 3.5 Pattern of Atherosclerosis Lesions in the Aortic Valves of ApoE*3 Leiden Mice

Mean data ±SEM shown for Maternal Pregnancy and lactation diet and Offspring post-natal diet respectively (PCC=8, RCC=9; PCA=11, RCA=8).

3.2.2. Comparison of Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis of All Sections

Atherosclerosis was quantified by two methods: (i) qualitative: visually scoring photomicrographs specimens dependent on atherosclerotic lesion severity: 0=none; 1=mild; 2=moderate; 3=severe. All sections assessed by eye and each animal allocated a final score between 0-3; (ii) quantitative image analysis of ORO lesion stained areas (method 3.1.5). Both methods analysed atherosclerosis present in all sections and produced similar overall statistical outcomes (see Results Table 3.2). However, from Figure 3.6 it was apparent qualitative analysis overestimated the severity of lesions in the chow groups. This lack of sensitivity was picked up by quantitative

analyses and Bonferroni post-hoc analysis clearly indicating that quantitative analyses had greater statistical power.



Figure 3.6 Results of Qualitative and Quantitative Analyses of Atherosclerosis

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (PCC=8, RCC=9; PCA=11, RCA=8). Data analysed by two-way ANOVA with Pregnancy diet and post-natal diet as factors and Bonferroni post-hoc test. Pairs of unlike letters (x,y) significantly different P<0.001.

3.2.3. Quantitative Analysis of Subsets of Atherosclerosis Lesions

In order to check the viability of analysing a smaller subsets of sections as described by Paigen et al (1987) and other authors (see Table 3.1), n=3, n=4, n=5, n=10 and n=15 sections were analysed from Section 1 where the aortic valves were clearly present towards the heart and compared to all sections analysed (Table 3.2).

The results for all sections (N=21, S1-60, Figure 3.5) were comparative with smaller subsets of sections quantitative analyses and the qualitative analysis (Table 3.2). All the results were consistent in showing that there was no effect of maternal diet (P or R) on atherosclerosis and confirmed that there was a significant difference in atherosclerosis between offspring post-natal (A or C) diet groups (P<0.05). However, the Bonferroni post-hoc test gave slightly different outcomes. Quantification of all sections and N=5 sections at 84µm intervals both identified a significant difference between PCC vs PCA and that of RCC vs RCA. However these effects were

not observed in any other quantification of subsets of sections, with three out of five analyses not detecting a difference in PCC vs. PCA (N=5 at 84 μ m distance, N=10 at 14 μ m distance, and N=4at 42 μ m distance, Table 3.2).

Repeated measures ANOVA with maternal diet, offspring diet and section number as factors, gave another perspective on the atherosclerosis quantified (Table 3.2) There was a strong effect of section number observed for all sections across the aortic valve towards the heart (P<0.001). There was trend for section number shown for N=4 sections at 28µm distance, showing that as sections progressed towards the heart atherosclerosis increased (P=0.051, Figure 3.5).

Quantification of sections N=10 sections at 14µm distance also reflected the pattern of atherosclerosis expression with a strong effect of section number observed (P<0.05). However, this analysis also identified that those offspring exposed to P diet during pregnancy decreased, compared to R offspring whose atherosclerosis increased over the same distance (Section x Maternal Diet: P<0.01, see Figure 4.9). There was no interaction of section x offspring diet, showing consistency in the amount of atherosclerosis across these sections in C and A groups, respectively.

The remainder of the analyses of smaller subsets of sections of atherosclerosis did not show any effect of section number or section x diet interaction.

92

		Offspring Post-natal Diet				REPEATED MEASURES ANOVA (P)			
Table 3.1 Author	Number of Sections analysed	Maternal diet	С	Α	Total	Section (S)	Maternal Diet (M)	Offspring Diet (O)	Interaction M x O
Paigen 1987	Qualitative scoring 0-3	Р	[×] 1.00 ±0.19	^y 2.45 ±0.21	1.84 ±0.22	N/A	0.381	< 0.001	0.1
	per aorta (all sections)	R	1.44 ±0.18	2.25 ±0.31	1.82 ±0.20		SxM: N/A	SxO: N/A	SxMxO: N/A
		Total	^x 1.24 ±0.14	^y 2.37 ±0.14					
Paigen 1987	All Sections ^a	Р	[×] 15.75 ± 3.7	^y 87.73 ±17.9	22.84 ±2.5		0.509	<0.001	0.600
Qiao, 1994	N=21 at 14µm interval	R	×38.51 ±11.5	^y 96.94 ±20.2	30.86 ±6.8	<0.001	SxM:0.039	SxO:0.992	SxMxO:0.988
Groot 1996		Total	[×] 27.80 ±6.8	^y 91.61±12.8					
Paigen 1987	Sections 1,15,30,45,60 ^a	Р	[×] 15.24 ±3.16	^y 90.51 ±19.8	58.82 ±14.3		0.977	<0.001	0.764
	N=5 at 84µm interval	R	×35.86 ±10.9	^y 91.64 ±18.8	62.12 ±12.4	0.095	SxM:0.864	SxO:0.916	SxMxO:0.651
		Total	[×] 26.11 ±6.4	^y 90.98 ±16.2					
Groot 1996	Sections 1,3,6,9,12	Р	22.19 ± 7.1	88.13 ±17.9	60.41 ±13.1		0.383	0.002	0.759
Yates 2009	15,18,21,24,27 ª	R	46.75 ±12.8	111.53 ±30.5	77.20 ±17.3	0.049	SxM:<0.01	SxO:0.877	SxMxO:0.963
	N=10 at 14µm interval	Total	[×] 35.15 ±7.9	^y 98.10±16.2					
Gijbels 1999	Sections 1, 24, 51 ^a	Р	[×] 16.71 ± 4.8	^y 77.60 ±15.6	51.96 ±11.3		0.913	<0.001	0.764
	N=3 at 126µm interval	R	35.71 ±11.0	91.10 ±22.2	61.81 ±13.5	0.200	SxM:0.241	SxO:0.952	SxMxO:0.923
		Total	[×] 26.8 ±6.6	^y 83.38 ±12.5					
Van Vlijmen	Sections 1, 9, 18, 27 ^a	Р	21.25 ± 6.9	80.77 ±15.9	55.71 ±11.7		0.352	0.002	0.834
2001	N=4 at 42µm interval	R	45.28 ±13.3	108.91 ±29.3	75.23 ±16.9	0.173	SxM:0.011	SxO:0.641	SxMxO:0.955
		Total	[×] 34.10 ±8.1	^y 92.62 ±15.3					
Kooistra	Sections 1, 6, 12, 18 ^a	Р	×19.39 ±6.7	^y 92.07 ±21.5	61.47 ±15.1		0.606	< 0.001	0.591
2006	N=4 at 28µm interval	R	40.80 ±11.3	18.42 ±29.9	72.62 ±17.0	0.051	SxM:0.101	SxO:0.932	SxMxO:0.777
		Total	×30.72 ±7.1	^y 99.10 ±17.3					

Table 3.2 Results of the Analysis of Different Quantities of Aortic valve cross-sections

Mean data ±SEM shown for Maternal Pregnancy and lactation diet and post-natal offspring diet respectively (PCC=8, RCC=9; PCA=11, RCA=8). Data transformed to square root "a" and analysed by three-way repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA, with maternal diet and offspring post-natal diet as factors, blocking for animal and litter from which the samples were derived. Pairs of unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

3.3 DISCUSSION

For this study, we assessed the impact of maternal consumption of two different *trans* fat diets (P and R) during pregnancy on the susceptibility of AEL offspring to atherosclerosis in adult life. Quantification of atherosclerosis in the aortic valve lesions was after 12 weeks on post-natal diets, over a distance of 294µm in the aortic valve region. Due to the variation in the reported number of sections quantified over different distances (Table 3.1) and different approaches to quantification used (e.g. qualitative vs. quantitative) it was necessary to assess whether these methods and quantification of smaller subsets of sections were comparative to whole aortic valve analyses.

It was found that the qualitative scoring of lesions was much quicker and simpler compared to the computer aided quantitative analysis. However, using this approach it was not possible to accurately plot the expression of atherosclerosis throughout the aortic valve region. Paigen et al (1987) used a microscope grid eyepiece that they concurred improved lesion assessment accuracy; however, it would also increase the time and effort spent analysing atherosclerosis sections. Additionally, if these sections were needed for reanalysis, there is the drawback that tissue integrity may deteriorate over time and introduce variability. In our study, photomicrograph and computer software quantification produced greater statistical power and facilitated comprehensive data analyses. It also provided an image of the lesions which can be accessed long after the stained sections may have lost their integrity or been archived. This method was worthwhile as it provided accurate, rigorous data which was able to be plotted and assessed visually and statistically. However, this method was labour intensive and time consuming. Our results showed that utilising qualitative scoring (with or without grid eyepiece) would be sufficient for a general overview of atherosclerosis. However, caution is advised in using this solely to quantify atherosclerosis as statistical sensitivity was lower compared to quantitative methods and outcomes could be overlooked.

Overall, our results showed that all sections quantified gave the same results (e.g. maternal diet: P vs R; offspring diet: C vs A) as the smaller subsets of sections analysed. This robust approach

supports the results by other authors who analysed all sections and the reduced number of sections (Paigen et al., 1987, Qiao et al., 1994, Groot et al., 1996). The consistent outcome across these analyses conferred confidence in the results presented and that quantification of a lower number of sections would be appropriate. Although N=5 sections (as per Paigen et al 1987 methodology) gave the same outcome as N=21 sections in our study, caution is warranted as it does not give the investigator a full picture of expression of atherosclerosis as it progresses throughout the valves. Furthermore, closer analysis of the smaller number of sections using Bonferroni post -hoc tests, indicated a lack of sensitivity with two out of five analyses (N=10 at 14µm distance, and N=4at 42µm distance, Table 3.2) not indicating a difference between PCC and PCA diet groups. This suggests that a smaller number of sections may not give a full representation of the results, particularly if later sections leading towards the heart are omitted.

Analysis of subsets of atherosclerosis by repeated measures ANOVA with section number as a factor, gave a good indication of the magnitude of atherosclerosis as it progressed through the aortic valve towards the heart, with a strong effect of section number observed in N=4 sections at 28µm distance (P=0.051, Figure 3.5). Equally quantification N=10 sections at 14µm distance displayed a strong effect of section number (P<0.05), with section x maternal diet interaction (P<0.01). Plotting the maternal diet (see figure 4.9), identified that as the sections progressed towards the heart offspring exposed to P maternal diet started to decrease in atherosclerosis and R maternal increase in atherosclerosis. None of the other subsets of sections showed any effect of section number indicating homogeneity of atherosclerosis between diet groups across the sections quantified.

For our study, we considered that the most robust approach was to quantify all sections (N=21), in conjunction with N=10 sections due to the interaction of the section number with diet over this region. The latter analysis of 10 sections did not detract from the overall results, but added another facet by which to interpret the data and describe the pattern of atherosclerosis as it advanced through the valve sections towards the heart, which is often excluded from the results.

95

3.4 CONCLUSION

For our study, the most robust analysis was N=21 sections and N=10 sections from the aortic valve (Sections 1-27, Figure. 3.5). From the smaller number of sections we analysed (N=3, N=4, N=5, N=10, N=15) we concluded it was inappropriate to use these as a single measurement of atherosclerosis as it could generate incomplete or skewed results. Caution is warranted due to differential atherosclerosis expression throughout the aortic valve region. Therefore, we concluded that the most rigorous and prudent analysis would be for atherosclerosis to be quantified throughout the whole of the aortic valve region using accurate quantification methodology, such as computer aided analysis. Thereafter, a smaller number of sections could be utilised to describe the pattern of expression through the aortic valve region. Combining both analyses, adds weight and credence to the reported results and ensures that key statistical outcomes are not omitted.

CHAPTER 4: THE IMPACT OF A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE)

4. INTRODUCTION

As outlined in the General Introduction epidemiological studies and animal experiments have shown that poor maternal diet during pregnancy can cause increased susceptibility to a range of chronic diseases in the offspring, including hypertension, type 2 diabetes and atherosclerotic CVD (Langley-Evans, 2015, Symonds et al., 2013, Hanson and Gluckman, 2014, Mone et al., 2004).

More recently, it has become apparent that maternal overnutrition, and consumption of energy dense foods rich in SFA and TFA, can manifest in maternal adiposity. In human pregnancy monitoring studies obese mothers are found to have elevated inflammatory markers (Ramsay et al., 2002, Stewart et al., 2007), reduced vascular function (Meyer et al., 2013) and dyslipidaemia (Meyer et al., 2013, Ramsay et al., 2002). Observed outcomes of obese mothers include, pre-term babies, lower birth weight babies and macrosomia babies that have greater susceptibility to obesity and CVDs in childhood and later life (Gademan et al., 2014, Flick et al., 2010, Gaillard et al., 2013). In post-mortem studies of pre-term fetuses. It was found that those offspring of hypercholesterolemic mothers had atherosclerotic lesions within their aortas (Napoli et al., 1999). In animal experiments, it has also been shown that maternal hypercholesterolemia induces atherosclerosis in offspring of rabbits (Napoli et al., 2000), LDLr-knockout mice (Napoli et al., 2002) and ApoE-knockout mice (Goharkhay et al., 2007).

Dietary TFA, particularly those in PHVO rich in *trans* C18:1 isomers, adversely affects lipoprotein concentrations (Mensink et al., 2003) and increase risk of developing atherosclerotic CVD (Mozaffarian and Clarke, 2009). Ruminant-derived meat and dairy products represent another source of dietary TFA. However, while PHVO contains a wide range of isomers, the specific

composition of which depends on the parent oil, ruminant-derived products contain predominantly VA (C18:1 *t11*), which is produced by the bacterial population of the rumen (Figure 1.5). This is particularly significant as a proportion of dietary VA is converted to CLA isomer C18:2*c*9*t*11, through the action of stearoyl CoA desaturase in the tissues of animals, including humans (Turpeinen et al., 2002, Kuhnt et al., 2006). It has also been demonstrated that there are potential beneficial effects of butter enriched in VA and CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11 on lipoprotein profiles (Lock et al., 2005).

In humans and animals, TFA in the maternal diet can be transferred across the placenta into the circulation and tissues of the developing offspring with possible metabolic consequences (Innis, 2006). A human cohort study suggested that maternal TFA consumption, during the second trimester of pregnancy, was positively associated with fetal growth rates (Cohen et al., 2011), although studies in mice exposed to TFA-enriched milk fat show retarded growth rates (Kavanagh et al., 2010).

4.1 AIM AND HYPOTHESIS

In this study, the aim was to investigate the impact of two types of TFA (that associated with ruminant milk and that associated with partially hydrogenated vegetable oil) during pregnancy on the development of atherosclerosis in the offspring using the AEL mouse model (see Methods, Figure 2.3 for experimental design).

Hypothesis: That maternal consumption of ruminant derived TFA during pregnancy and fetal development, will protect the offspring from atherosclerosis, while that associated with PHVO will have the opposite effect.

4.2 DIETS

In order to examine the study's hypothesis, chow diets were supplemented with 13% TFA, equivalent to 4% daily energy in mice. Dietary fats were similar to those initially used by

Chardigny *et al* (2008) in the human TRANSFACT study (see Methods Chapter 2,Table 2.1). Although there are some specific differences including CLAs within the RTFA diet, where possible the distribution and sum of other fatty acids SFA, MUFAs and PUFAs were equivalent in the dietary groups. Fatty acid composition of experimental diets (% FAME) are shown in Chapter 2, Methods, Figure 2.2. See Methods paragraph 2.2.4 for full descriptive of diet groups.

4.3 MICE

Seven-week-old wild type female (n=10 per diet group) C57BL/6J mice (dams) were mated with randomly selected AEL males (sires) (approx. eight weeks age) over a two oestrous cycle period of eight days. Groups were matched for variations in bodyweight. During mating the experimental Ruminant TFA (R), or PHVO TFA (P), diets were fed to both sires and dams. On the eighth day the sires were removed, and dams remained on the allocated experimental TFA diets throughout pregnancy (see Figure 2.2 Sector 1"Pregnancy").

4.3.1. Pregnancy Study (Dams/Fetus): Wild type C57BL/6J mice

On day 17 of pregnancy dams were sacrificed with maternal and fetal tissues harvested (see Methods paragraph 2.3 and results paragraph 4.4).

4.3.2. Study 1 Dams: Wild type C57BL/6J mice

On birth of pups (see Figure 2.2, Sector 2 "Lactation") dams were transferred onto a chow diet (C), thereby exposing their offspring to a chow diet during suckling for a period of 21 days giving two dam diet groups: (i) RTFA/Chow (RC); and (ii) PHVO/Chow (PC). At 21 days age, pups were sexed, genotyped (see Methods paragraph 2.5) and weaned onto a postnatal diet. Dams were culled in accordance with Schedule 1 procedures, ASPA (Home_Office, 1986), no maternal tissues were harvested.

4.3.3. Study 1 Offspring: ApoE*3 Leiden Mice

Female AEL pups were weaned onto a post-natal diet (see Figure 2.2, Sector 3 "Post-natal") of either standard chow "C" or a high fat, high cholesterol Atherogenic diet "A" (see Methods Table 2.3) giving rise to four offspring diet groups:

- PHVO groups: PCC and PCA.
- RTFA groups: RCC and RCA.

Offspring remained on post-natal diets for 12 weeks (84 days). After 12 weeks on experimental diets, at the age of 15 weeks, mice were culled in accordance with Schedule 1 procedures, ASPA and tissues harvested (Home_Office, 1986) (see Methods paragraph 2.3 and offspring results paragraph 4.5).

4.4 RESULTS - THE IMPACT OF CONSUMING A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON MATERNAL PHYSIOLOGY (C57 MOUSE)

4.4.1. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Body Weight

From conception to study end point, it was observed that pregnancy weight gain trajectory and overall weight gain was similar between both diet groups. These effects were corroborated through similar average feed intake and energy efficiency see Table 4.1

	Р	R	T-TEST P Value
Start weight (g)	16.58 ±0.23	17.02 ±0.25	0.664
Bodyweight at day 17 pregnancy (g)	28.73 ±0.53	29.96 ±0.77	0.210
Pregnancy weight gain Day 17 (g)	12.15 ±0.61	12.94 ±0.58	0.377
Average daily feed intake (g)	2.20 ±0.10	1.98 ±0.11	0.182
Feed Efficiency (g weight / g feed intake)	7.62 ±0.34	7.74 ±0.37	0.771

Table 4.1 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet consumed during Pregnancy on Maternal BodyWeight

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5). Significance P<0.05.

4.4.2. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Body Composition and Organ Weight

Organ and tissue weights are expressed as a percentage of body weight (%BW). At day 17 gestation animals that had consumed P had heavier livers compared to those animals that had consumed R during pregnancy (P<0.05, Figure 4.1).





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5). Nonparametric data transformed square root "a" and analysed by T-Test. Significance, *P<0.05.

Animals that had consumed P during pregnancy had larger total visceral adipose depots compared to animals that had consumed R (P<0.05, Figure 4.2). Break down of visceral adipose results showed that P animals had larger perirenal adipose depots (P<0.05) but not gonadal adipose tissue (p=0.082).





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5) and analysed by T-Test. For PAT (Perirenal Adipose Tissue) Significance, *P<0.05.

4.4.3. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Fetal and Placenta Development

There were no differences observed between the two diet groups at day 17 gestation for maternal bodyweight, placental weight or fetus body weight (see Table 4.2 below). Dams consuming R diet during pregnancy had more fetuses present compared to dams consuming P (P=0.001). This difference was observed in the number of fetuses within the left uterine horn (P<0.05).

Table 4.2 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Fetal and PlacentaDevelopment

	Р	R	T-TEST P
Body weight d17 pregnancy	28.73 ±0.53	29.96 ±0.77	0.210
Average number of fetuses	6.17 ±0.40	8.60 ±0.24	0.001
# fetus left uterine horn	1.67 ±0.42	4.00 ±0.82	0.023
# fetus right uterine horn	4.50 ± 0.43	4.75 ±0.85	0.779
Total fetus absorptions	0.83 ± 0.31	0.25 ±.025	0.214
Placenta % BW	0.39 ± 0.13	0.38 ±0.12	0.922
Fetus weight (g)	0.55 ±0.02	0.51 ±0.02	0.313
Fetal/placenta ratio	4.70 ±0.20	4.9 ±0.18	0.778

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5). Fetuses and placentas (P=37, R=43). Significance P<0.05.

4.4.4. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose

Serum Cholesterol and Serum TAG measurements were performed by Colorimetric Assays using Infinity reagents (Method 2.6.1 and Table 2.7). Serum total cholesterol and TAG were found to be greater in animals consuming P compared to R (P<0.05).

Serum glucose was measured by Colorimetric Assay using glucose oxidase reagent (Method 2.6.2) and were found to be similar between both diet groups (Table 4.3).

Table 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet During Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose

	Р	R	T-TEST P
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.08 ±0.16	2.29 ±0.22	0.044
TAG (mmol/L)	2.62 ±0.24	1.63 ±0.28	0.029
Glucose (mmol/L)	12.42 ±1.17	11.72 ±1.46	0.718

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5). Significance P<0.05.

4.4.5. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids

Lipids were extracted from livers (Method 2.7.4) and TAG and cholesterol assays performed (Method 2.7.5). Liver lipids are expressed as mg/total liver. At day 17 pregnancy there were no differences in liver cholesterol (Figure 4.3a). Liver TAG (Figure 4.3b) were higher in animals fed R compared to P (P<0.05).



Figure 4.3 The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Liver Lipids

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5) and analysed by T-Test. Significance *P<0.05.

4.4.6. The Impact of consuming a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Fatty Acid Composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue (%FAME)

FAME FAs were extracted from perirenal adipose tissue and measured (Method 2.7.1., A. Lock, University of Michigan). The distribution of *trans* fatty acids in the perirenal adipose tissue is shown in Figure 4.4. As expected, the TFA isomers in the maternal perirenal adipose tissue reflected that of the diets consumed (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.1). The results showed that animals that had consumed R during pregnancy had greater quantities of Vaccenic Acid (C18:1 *t11*) and CLA (9*c*11*t*) in their perirenal adipose tissue compared to P animals. Those animals that had consumed P during pregnancy had a wider distribution of *trans* isomers across C18:1 6-12*t* isomers, and total C18:1 *trans* compared to R animals.





Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (P=6, R=5). Nonparametric data transformed to Log10 "c" and analysed by T-Test. For each *trans* FA isomer, bars with unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

4.5 RESULTS - THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF A PHVO OR RTFA DIET DURING PREGNANCY ON ATHEROSCLEROSIS DEVELOPMENT IN OFFSPRING (AEL MOUSE)

For a full description of offspring diet groups, see paragraph 2.2.4.

4.5.1. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body Weight of Offspring

AEL female offspring were weaned at approximately three weeks of age and weighed daily over the first seven days. Thereafter animals were weighed weekly for a period of 11 weeks. There were no effects of the maternal diet (P or R) or offspring post-natal diet (C or A) observed on offspring body weight on Day 0 weaning nor after 84 days on post-natal diets, and consequently overall weight gain was similar (Table 4.4). Analysis of weight gain trajectory from Day0 to Day84 by repeated measures ANOVA confirmed that there was no difference in growth patterns between the diet groups.

		Offspring Post-natal Diet				TWO-WAY ANOVA P		
	Maternal diet	С	А	Total	Maternal Diet	Offspring Diet	Maternal x offspring	
Weaning body	Р	7.74 ±0.22	7.77 ±0.32	7.76 ±0.20	0.340	0.775	0.861	
weight Day 0 (g)	R	7.88 ±0.35	8.32 ±0.32	7.95 ±0.23				
	Total	7.81 ±0.21	7.88 ±0.24					
Body weight Day 84 (g)	P R Total	21.61 ±0.51 21.68 ±0.33 21.69 ±0.32	20.91 ±0.41 21.65 ±0.35 21.22 ±0.30	21.21 ±0.35 21.71 ±0.24	0.325	0.366	0.517	
Mean weight gain days 0-84 (g)	P R Total	13.88 ±0.57 13.89 ±0.41 13.88 ±0.17	13.14 ±0.46 13.63 ±0.34 13.34 ±0.30	13.45 ±0.22 13.77 ±0.26	0.589	0.284	0.609	

Table 4.4 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the	Body
Weight of Offspring	

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (PCC=8 RCC=9; PCA=8, RCA=11). Data was analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

4.5.2. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring

Organ and tissue weights are expressed as a percentage of body weight (%BW). There were no effects of the maternal diets) or offspring post-natal diets (C or A) observed on liver size (see Table 4.6).

		Offspring Post-natal Diet				TWO-WAY ANOVA P		
	Maternal diet	С	А	Total	Maternal Diet	Offspring Diet	Maternal x offspring	
Liver (%BW)	Р	5.08 ±0.18	5.34 ±0.17	5.23 ±0.12				
	R	5.06 ±0.16	5.23 ±0.15	5.14 ±0.11	0.720	0.200	0.777	
	Total	5.07 ±0.05	5.30 ±0.11					
Perirenal Adipose	Р	0.35 ±0.04	0.44 ±0.04	0.40 ±0.03	0.112	0.092	0.880	
(%BW)	R	0.43 ±0.04	0.50 ±0.05	0.46 ±0.03				
	Total	0.40 ±00.03	0.46 ±0.0.03					
Gonadal Adipose	Р	0.68 ±0.08	0.86 ±0.08	0.80 ±0.06	0.153	0.056	0.758	
(%BW)	R	0.81 ±0.06	0.93 ±0.08	0.86 ±0.05				
	Total	0.74 ±0.05	0.89 ±0.06					

Table 4.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the BodyComposition and Organ Weights of Offspring

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (PCC=8 RCC=9; PCA=8, RCA=11). Data was analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

There were no effects of the maternal P or R diet observed on visceral adipose depots. However, it was found that there was a trend for offspring that had consumed a post-natal A diet to have greater gonadal adipose depots compared to C (P=0.056, Table 4.5 and Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Visceral Adipose Tissue in offspring

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (Chow: PCC=8 RCC=9; Atherogenic: PCA=8, RCA=11). Data was analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. GAT: Gonadal Adipose Tissue. Significance P<0.05.

4.5.3. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Serum Glucose and Serum Lipids of Offspring

Serum glucose was measured by Colorimetric Assay using glucose oxidase reagent (Method 2.6.2). There were no effects of the maternal pregnancy diet (P or R) or offspring post-natal diet (C or A) observed on serum glucose levels (Table 4.6).

Serum Cholesterol and serum TAG measurements were performed in duplicate with a Randox Imola RX chemistry analyser via a direct clearance method (HDL, LDL) or colorimetric assay (Total Chol, TAG) (Method 2.6.3). There were no effects of maternal P or R diet observed on serum total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, non-HDL-cholesterol, or serum TAG. Total cholesterol and non-HDL cholesterol were higher in offspring post-natal A diet groups compared to C (P<0.05, Figure 4.6). The A diet caused an increase in HDL-cholesterol, and as a result the non-HDL:HDL ratio was reduced in these diet groups when compared to chow (P<0.05). Serum TAG was lower in the A diet groups compared to C (P<0.05, Table 4.6).

		Offspring Pos	st-natal Diet		TWO-WAY ANOVA P			
	Maternal diet	С	Α	Total	Maternal Diet	Offspring Diet	Maternal x offspring	
Glucose (mmol/L)	Р	14.32 ±1.02	14.57 ±0.81	14.47±0.62				
	R	14.04 ±0.91	14.83 ±1.40	14.43±0.81	0.989	0.620	0.797	
	Total	14.18 ±0.66	14.68 ±.029					
TAG (mmol/L)	Р	2.63 ±0.25	1.43 ±0.09	1.94 ±0.18				
	R	2.94 ±0.28	1.59 ±0.12	2.30 ±0.23	0.244	0.0001	0.709	
	Total	[×] 2.80 ±0.25	^y 1.50 ±0.07					

Table 4.6 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on SerumGlucose and Serum TAG of Offspring

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group (PCC=8, RCC=9; PCA=11, RCA=8) and analysed by twoway ANOVA. Unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.



Figure 4.6 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Serum Cholesterol in Offspring

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (Chow: PCC=8 RCC=9; Atherogenic: PCA=8, RCA=11). Data transformed to log 10 "a" and analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Nonparametric data were analysed by Independent sample Mann Whitney "b". For each corresponding cholesterol column (C vs A), unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

4.5.4. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Liver Lipids of offspring

Lipids were extracted from livers (Method 2.7.4) and TAG and cholesterol assays performed (Method 2.7.5). Liver lipids are expressed as mg/total liver. There was no effect of maternal P or R diet on offspring liver cholesterol or TAG. The post-natal A diet group showed a three-fold difference in hepatic cholesterol (Figure 4.7a) compared to C and two-fold higher hepatic TAG P<0.001 (Figure 4.7b).



Figure 4.7 The Impact of a Post-natal Atherogenic Diet on Liver Lipids in Offspring

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (Chow diet groups: PCC=8 RCC=9; Atherogenic diet groups: PCA=8, RCA=11). Nonparametric data was transformed to log 10 "a" and analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. For each liver lipid unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.001.

4.5.5. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue (%FAME)

FAME were extracted from perirenal adipose tissue and measured (Method 2.7.1., A. Lock, University of Michigan). There was no effect of maternal diet (P or R) with no TFAs being found in the adipose tissue. The pattern of FA distribution in the perirenal adipose of offspring (Figure 4.8a) is similar to that contained within the post-natal diets (Figure 4.8b). However, LA C18:2 *c*9, *c*12 that is greater in post-natal C offspring (P<0.05) compared to A offspring, whilst C16:0 Palmitic acid and Stearic Acid was predominant in the adipose of post-natal A offspring (P<0.05) compared to C offspring.

Figure 4.8 The Distribution of Fatty Acids in Post-natal Chow and Atherogenic Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring (%FAME)



<0.1% FAME Not Detected (ND). Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per diet sample (C=3, A= 5). Data analysed by T-Test. For each FA paired column unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.



<0.1% FAME Not Detected (ND). Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations diet group (C=10, A= 10). Data analysed by T-Test. For each FA paired column unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

b) Post-natal Atherogenic and Chow diets (FAME)

4.5.6. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring

As previously described 7 μ m sections were captured onto slides and the lipid stained with Oil Red O (Method 3.1). These were analysed at a distance of 14 μ m between sections from the appearance of the aortic valves from aortic arch towards the heart, and then imaged and quantified (Method 3.2). All analyses were performed blind without knowledge of diet group. Mean atherosclerotic area (μ m²) was calculated for each section and plotted to show pattern of atherosclerosis expression (Figure 3.5). N=10 equidistant sections from each diet group from the three valves joining (Section 1) were analysed for the results.

The effect of maternal diet during pregnancy and the effect of offspring's post-natal diets on the development of atherosclerosis was statistically analysed in two different ways. Initially the data was analysed by two-way ANOVA. The mean results of the 10 sections showed there was no overall effect of maternal pregnancy diet (P=0.383) nor maternal x post-natal offspring diet interaction (P=0.759, Figure 4.9) on offspring's atherosclerosis. However, the results confirmed that there was a strong effect of post-natal atherogenic diet, with three-fold greater atherosclerosis compared to offspring consuming chow in post-natal life (P<0.01).

Secondly, the data was analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA blocking for animal and litter from which offspring were derived. As can be seen in Figure 4.10 there was an effect of section number (P<0.05) with atherosclerosis of R offspring increasing progressively in sections closest to the heart, and atherosclerosis of P offspring decreasing over the same area. This fluctuation in atherosclerosis across sections was reflected by the maternal diet x section interaction (P<0.01). There was no interaction of offspring diet x section number (P=0.877) indicating a consistent difference in atherosclerosis across all sections between post-natal Atherogenic and Chow diet groups. Figure 4.9 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Mean Atherosclerosis Lesion Area in Offspring



Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation, and post-natal diets respectively (PCC=8, RCC=9; PCA=11, RCA=8). Data analysed by two-way ANOVA with Pregnancy diet and post-natal diet as factors and Bonferroni post-hoc test. Significance *P<0.01.

Figure 4.10 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Pattern of Atherosclerosis Expression in Offspring



Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per diet group, showing pregnancy diet groups (P: PCC=8, PCA=11, R: RCC=9, RCA=8). Data transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA, maternal pregnancy diet and offspring post-natal diet were factors, with blocking for each individual animal and litter from which the animals were derived. P values for the effect of diet, section, and interaction between the two are presented. Significance P<0.05.

4.6 **DISCUSSION**

The hypothesis for this study was that fetal exposure to PHVO or RTFA in the maternal diet would have a different impact on maternal physiology and cause a change in the susceptibility to development of atherosclerosis in offspring due to the differing TFA isomer profiles. Study 1 found that there were differences in the pattern of atherosclerosis across the section of aorta analysed between R and P maternal diet groups. It also found that atherogenic post-natal diets increased atherosclerosis three-fold compared to chow post-natal diets. Paragraph 4.6.1 discusses Study 1 and the effects of maternal and post-natal diets on atherosclerosis expression in offspring. Thereafter, Paragraph 4.6.2 discusses the Pregnancy Study that showed that dietary P and R TFAs differentially altered maternal physiology during fetal development.

4.6.1. Study 1: The Impact of a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on the Development of Atherosclerosis in AEL Offspring

There was no effect of the maternal diet on offspring's organ weight, tissue weight, serum glucose or serum lipids. The results indicated differences in atherosclerosis offspring of P and R- fed mothers along the length of aorta studied resulting in a significant maternal diet x section interaction observed P<0.01. Atherosclerosis in P offspring reduced whilst atherosclerosis of R offspring increased as sections 21-27 progressed towards the heart. As outlined in Chapter 3, caution is warranted in ascribing biological significance to these results due to differential atherosclerosis expression throughout the aortic valve region. Further, robust atherosclerosis analyses utilised in this study (see Chapter 3) indicated that this was a variation in atherosclerosis expression over a short number of sections, and not a significant effect of maternal diet on offspring atherosclerosis expression.

However, there were significant effects observed of the post-natal atherogenic diet compared to post-natal chow diet on offspring's lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis.

117

Meta-analyses of FAs and their impact on cholesterol metabolism have shown that high SFAcholesterol rich diets increase lipid metabolism and CHD risk in humans (Figure 1.8, Mensink et al., 2003). It is recognised that replacing SFAs and cholesterol-rich diets with MUFA/PUFA (low fat) diets, have a positive impact on cholesterol metabolism, reducing LDL and increasing HDL, thus lowering CHD risk (Clifton and Keogh, 2017, Mozaffarian et al., 2010). It has consistently been shown in several AEL atherosclerosis studies that a post-natal SFA/cholesterol-rich diet has increased atherosclerotic lesions compared to low fat chow animals (Groot et al., 1996, van Vlijmen et al., 1996, Tonge, 2011, Tarling et al., 2016) with Groot et al., (1996) reporting a 5-fold increase in atherosclerotic lesion area in 6 month old AEL mice. The results of this study were obtained in female AEL mice at 15 weeks of age, after 12 weeks on their respective atherogenic and chow post-natal diets. Considering the cholesterol-atherosclerosis theory explored in paragraph 1.4, it was found that offspring consuming the atherogenic-diet had a two-fold increase in total cholesterol compared to chow-fed offspring (Figure 4.7, P<0.05). This diet induced serum cholesterol metabolism influenced the progression of atherosclerosis with the results showing that the lesion area was three times greater compared to offspring consuming a chow post-natal diet (Figure 4.9 P<0.001). The results of this study supported the AEL studies that female AEL offspring had greater atherogenic-diet induced atherosclerotic lesions compared to chow-fed animals.

4.6.2. Pregnancy Study: The Impact of a P or R Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal and Fetal Physiology

As already discussed, TFAs in the maternal diet are able to passed to the developing offspring across the placenta (Innis, 2006). This study showed that the TFA derived from PHVO and RTFA accumulated in the adipose tissue of dams. R-fed dams accumulated a disproportionately greater amount of CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11 in their adipose tissues predominantly through the action of Stearoyl-CoA desaturase on the C18:1*t*11 in the dietary fat. It is therefore appropriate to assume that the developing fetuses were exposed to different TFA isomers *in utero* dependent on the experimental diet fed.

118

It has been reported that PHVO increases serum cholesterol and other risk factors for atherosclerosis, e.g. serum TAG (Mensink et al., 2003, Mozaffarian and Clarke, 2009). It has also been evidenced in human (Ramsay et al., 2002, Stewart et al., 2007) and animal studies (McCurdy et al., 2009, Oben et al., 2010) that maternal dyslipidaemia can lead to an increase in inflammatory markers such as TNFa and IL6 (Innis, 2007) and reduced vascularity function in mothers (Meyer et al., 2013, Ramsay et al., 2002, Stewart et al., 2013). Furthermore, it has been shown that maternal hypercholesterolemia can cause onset of atherosclerosis in offspring in humans (Napoli et al., 1999) and animal studies (Napoli et al., 2000, Napoli et al., 2002, Goharkhay et al., 2007). In the AEL mouse it has been shown that a maternal high SFA/cholesterol-rich diet doubled maternal serum cholesterol levels through the course of the pregnancy and caused changes in the offspring's lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis burden (Tarling et al., 2016). In this study the P-diet increased maternal serum total cholesterol concentrations by 25% (P<0.05) and serum TAG by 37% (P<0.05) compared to R-fed animals. There was no control chow group to which to compare the R-fed animals, therefore it cannot be ascertained if the R diet had a hyperlipidaemic effect. However, the serum lipid results of the P-fed animals supports the outcomes of previous studies that PHVO increased serum cholesterol and TAG. It is recognised that these factors are not only important to maternal health but can also provide a nutritional insult during fetal development that could contribute to the aetiology of diseases such as atherosclerosis.

At day 17 gestation, there were no differences observed in maternal body weight of dams consuming P or R diets. This outcome was supported by finding no difference in average daily feed intake or feed efficiency measurements. The weights of fetuses and placentas and the fetal:placental ratio were similar between the two diet groups, indicating that the placenta was matching that of fetal growth and no indication of placental hypertrophy that could contribute to impaired fetal development (Bokslag et al., 2016, Langley-Evans, 2001). However, there were significant differences found in the number of fetuses present, with those animals consuming the P diet during pregnancy having significantly less fetuses compared to R-fed dams (P<0.01), with the difference observed in the left uterine horn compared to right uterine horn (P<0.05). It was previously reported that mice have a reduction in local reproductive hormones and reduced vein

vascularity that influenced uterine transmigration of up to 40% of fetuses (Forbes and Taku, 1975). The results of this study that P-fed dams displayed dyslipidaemia that could increase inflammatory markers and reduce vascular function may be pertinent. However, other studies have reported that mice have a bias for fetus survival in the right uterine horn (Wiebold and Becker, 1987), and that the right ovary produce a greater number of ova compared to the left (Brown, 2007). Similar to the result observed in P dams in this study, Wiebold and Becker (1987) noted that the right uterine horn has twice the survival rate compared to the left uterine horn. However, as there were no differences observed in the number of fetuses or placentas in the right uterine horn between R or P-fed dams, the outcome of this result is not conclusive. To confirm these findings further experimental work would be required to compare hormone levels, inflammatory markers, vascular properties and TFA isomers present within fetal and placental tissues from both left and right uterine horns, respectively.

Although final bodyweight was similar between the two diet groups, P-fed dams had a lower number of fetuses which would point a lower final bodyweight being observed in P-fed dams. To account for this disparity, it was found that dams fed the P-diet had greater perirenal adipose depots (P<0.05), and heavier livers (P<0.05) compared to R dams. However, the adiposity in P dams was very modest (combined increased weight of both depots equals about 1.5% of total body weight) and more detailed experiments of body composition would be required to confirm the tissue differences observed in P-fed animals.

The pregnancy study above highlighted that different C18:1 *trans* isomers were present in the maternal adipose and that the P and R diets had a differential impact on maternal lipid profiles. Therefore, it was appropriate to assume that a similar maternal physiology would be present for the Study 1 dams which gave rise to the AEL offspring.

4.6.3. Study Limitations

Although the pregnancy study gave an indication of maternal physiology during pregnancy, the maternal profile for Study 1 offspring cannot be categorically ascertained. Rodents are known to adjust their food intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2011) and as C57 mice are prone to stress-related loss of pregnancy, feed intake data during pregnancy and lactation was not collected and other macronutrient e.g. protein intake during pregnancy could not be ascertained. Additionally, the Study 1 dams nursed their offspring whilst consuming a chow lactation diet for 3 weeks prior to the weaning of pups onto their post-natal diets, and therefore no maternal tissues were harvested during their pregnancies.

It is acknowledged that AEL mice produce very little atherosclerosis on chow post-natal diets (Groot et al., 1996., Yates et al., 2009., Tonge, 2011). It has been reported in other mouse models such as the LDLr knockout mouse, that on a chow diet they require up to 12 months to develop atherosclerotic lesions (Getz and Reardon, 2012). Therefore, it can be suggested that as the AEL offspring in this study were euthanised after 12 weeks on post-natal diets, only a quarter through the reported 12 month timescale, that atherosclerosis development in the chow group could have progressed later in a time respondent manner. Finally, as there was no control group to give a base line for the impact of maternal diet, it is difficult to conclude whether exposure to TFAs *in utero* had a better or worse profile compared to offspring that had not. However, it was interesting to note that AEL offspring of both P and R mothers consuming post-natal chow or atherogenic diets were similar in thereby conferring consistency in reported outcomes.

4.7 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the main outcomes for this study is that in the maternal C57 mouse, consumption of PHVO during pregnancy caused significant changes to maternal perirenal adipose tissue weight, liver weight, increased serum lipid metabolism and decreased fecundity compared to dams consuming RTFA. These results suggest that the maternal PHVO diet conferred a nutritional insult to the mother and an environmental stimulus for the developing fetus and has the potential to contribute to fetal programming pathways. Feeding P and R diets to mothers during pregnancy caused some variability in offspring atherosclerosis across several sections of aortic valve leading towards the heart. However, robust analyses (see Chapter 3) confirmed that neither TFA maternal diet changed overall atherosclerosis expression in offspring. Feeding an atherogenic diet in post-natal life clearly increased the extent of aortic atherosclerosis compared to chow fed offspring.

CHAPTER 5: STUDY 2 - THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN THE APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE

5. INTRODUCTION

As discussed in the General Introduction and Chapter 4 introduction, maternal overnutrition, particularly energy dense high-fat diets, rich in SFA often result in maternal adiposity and can also programme metabolic diseases in the offspring (Flick et al., 2010, Dong et al., 2013). Risk of CVD and premature death in the offspring of obese women has been demonstrated (Reynolds et al., 2013). In animal studies, maternal obesity is associated with increased adiposity, impaired glucose homeostasis, impaired endothelial function and hypertension in the offspring (Samuelsson et al., 2008, Li et al., 2019, McCurdy et al., 2009, Sullivan et al., 2014).

The impact of SFAs and PHVO on increasing lipoprotein metabolism and CHD risk are established (Mensink et al., 2003, Mozaffarian et al., 2009) with the impact of ruminant derived TFA on serum lipoproteins being equivocal in human dietary studies (Chardigny et al., 2008, German et al., 2009, Bendsen et al., 2011). However, RTFA are purported to have potential health benefits with VA being converted to CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11 by the action of Stearoyl Co-A desaturase in tissues of animals and humans (Kuhnt et al., 2006, Turpeinen et al., 2002). It has been shown in animals that butter enriched with CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11 had beneficial effects on lipoprotein profiles (Lock et al., 2005).

Maternal hypercholesterolemia is associated with increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis in both animal models (Napoli et al., 2002, Napoli et al., 2000) and humans (Napoli et al., 1999). In the AEL mouse feeding a diet enriched in animal fat (beef tallow) and cholesterol (similar to the diet fed in this study) raised maternal plasma cholesterol and increased the development of atherosclerosis in offspring, independently of changes in plasma cholesterol or TAG (Tarling et al., 2016).

In humans and animals, maternal intake of TFA is transferred across the placenta and into the circulation and tissues of the developing offspring. (Innis, 2007). SFA and TFAs are incorporated into maternal adipose stores during pregnancy. These fat stores are mobilised during late pregnancy during maximal fetal growth phase and early post-partum periods (Herrera and Ortega-Senovilla, 2014). Studies of human breast milk confirmed that maternal body mass is positively correlated with breast milk TFAs in a dose respondent manner and are representative of the mother's diet (Mueller et al., 2010, Innis, 2007). Studies in humans show that maternal TFAs impair EFA availability in fetal and neonate tissues causing cognitive difficulties and physiological disorders in offspring (Arbex et al., 2015), and propensity for obesity in childhood (Anderson et al., 2010). In animal studies, offspring of obese mothers that continued to suckle through early postnatal development were found to have metabolic disorders such as insulin resistance and vascular endothelial dysfunction (Ghosh et al., 2001, Koukkou et al., 1998, Fan et al., 2013). Oben et al., (2010) concluded that in C57 mice the "critical early postnatal period" lactation diet was pivotal in development of metabolic disease in offspring.

5.1 AIM AND HYPOTHESIS

In this Study we included both sources of TFA (P and R) and also included a "Western" (W) diet group, rich in beef tallow SFAs for comparison. This study aimed to consider the impact of the different maternal fat diets (P, R, W) during different developmental periods: pregnancy or pregnancy and lactation on the susceptibility of offspring to development of atherosclerosis.

Considering the different effects of P, R and SFA/Cholesterol 'Western' diets on lipoprotein metabolism and CHD risk, it was hypothesized that maternal consumption of P diets throughout pregnancy and lactation would alter maternal metabolism and cause development atherosclerosis in their offspring to a greater extent compared to Western diets consumed during the same development periods. It was further considered that maternal consumption of RTFA during the same development periods would decrease susceptibility to atherosclerosis in their offspring to PHVO and Western diets.

5.2 METHOD

In order to examine the study's hypothesis, chow diets were supplemented with 15% TFA, equivalent to 5% daily energy in mice. Dietary fats were similar to those initially used by Chardigny et al (2008) in the human TRANSFACT study (see Methods Chapter 2, Table 2.1). Fatty acid composition of experimental diets (% FAME) are shown in Chapter 2, Methods, Figure 2.2. See Methods paragraph 2.2.5 for full descriptive of diet groups.

Seven-week-old wild type female (n=10 per diet group) C57BL/6J mice (dams) were mated with AEL males (sires, approx eight weeks age) over a two oestrous cycle period (eight days). Diet groups were matched for variations in bodyweight. During mating 25% of the mice were fed Chow "C", with the remaining 75% mice being fed one of three experimental fat diets: P, R, W (Chapter 2 Methods, Figure 2.3 Sector 1- Pregnancy). On the eighth day the sires were removed, and dams remained on their allocated diets throughout pregnancy.

On the birth of the pups (Chapter 2, Methods, Figure 2.3, Sector 2, Lactation) Chow (C) dams remained on a chow diet (C) throughout lactation giving rise to a control Chow group for pregnancy and lactation (CC). The animals consuming fat (P, R, W) in pregnancy either remained on their allocated fat diet giving rise to three fat groups throughout lactation (PP, RR, WW) or were transferred onto a chow diet (C) which gave rise to fat during pregnancy and chow during lactation diet groups (PC, RC, WC). On weaning of pups, dams were sacrificed, and tissues harvested (Chapter 2 Methods, paragraph 2.3).

Maternal Diet Groups (C57 mice)

- Chow group: CC
- RTFA groups: "RR" "RC"';
- PHVO groups: "PP" "PC";
- Western groups: "WW" "WC".
At 21 days of age, pups were sexed and genotyped. Female AEL pups were weaned onto a postnatal atherogenic diet "A" (Figure 2.3 Sector 3, Post-natal). This gave rise to a Chow control group (CCA); three fat in pregnancy and chow lactation groups (PCA, RCA, WCA) and three fat in pregnancy and lactation diet groups (PPA, RRA, WWA). Offspring remained on post-natal diets for 12 weeks (84 days), after which, at the age of 15 weeks, mice were culled by Schedule 1 procedure in accordance with ASPA and tissues harvested (Chapter 2, Methods, paragraph 2.3).

Offspring Diet groups (AEL Mice)

- Chow: "CCA" (control);
- PHVO: "PCA" and "PPA";
- RTFA: "RCA" and RRA";
- Western: "WCA" and "WWA".

5.3 MATERNAL RESULTS – THE IMPACT OF CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON MATERNAL BODY COMPOSITION AND TISSUES

5.3.1. The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA OR Western diet on Pregnancy Weight Gain

The following results reflect data for all dam weight measurements during pregnancy. Each dietary group was matched for bodyweight at day 0 mating (g). There were no differences observed in body weight between dams fed Chow (C) throughout pregnancy compared to any of the fat diets (P, R or W) (Table 5.1).

	Pregnancy	Body Weight	Kruskal-
	Diet	(g)	Wallis (P)
Start Body weight (g) ^d	С	16.98 ±0.43	
	Р	16.00 ±0.31	0.294 ^d
	R	16.03 ±0.22	
	W	16.69 ±0.39	
Day 18 Pregnancy Body weight (g) ^d	C	33.06 ±0.84	
	Р	31.85 ±0.56	0.088 ^d
	R	30.65 ±0.56	
	W	32.23 ±0.90	
Pregnancy weight gain (g) ^d	C	16.08 ±0.65	
	Р	15.35 ±0.45	0.262 ^d
	R	14.62 ±0.44	
	W	15.54 ±0.83	

Table 5.1 The Impact of consumption of PHVO	, RTFA OR Western diet during Pregnancy on
Maternal Body Weight	

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy diet (C=13, P=18, R=20, W=18). Non-parametric data were analysed by Independent sample Kruskal-Wallis "d". Significance P<0.05.

5.3.2. The Impact of Maternal consumption of PHVO, RTFA OR Western diet during Lactation on Post-weaning Maternal Bodyweight

After 3 weeks suckling pups, it was found that those dams that had continued on the fat diet during lactation (PP, RR, WW) had reduced maternal body weight by 11% (P<0.001) independently of the nature of the test fat (Figure 5.1). Due to C57 maternal sensitivity to disruption with potential resultant pregnancy absorption, feed intake was not measured and therefore feed efficiency calculations are not presented.





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, PP=11, RC=6, RR=14, WC=6, WW=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests. For each parameter bars with unlike letters (x, y) are significantly different from each other and from Chow (*). Significance P<0.05.

5.3.3. The Impact of Maternal consumption of P, R or W diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Body Weight, Organs and Tissues

Liver weights were also lower in dam fed fat during pregnancy and lactation (PP, RR, WW) compared to those dams consuming fat in pregnancy alone (PC, RC, WC) independently of test fat (P<0.001) (Table 5.2).

There was no difference in visceral adipose tissue between any of diets consumed during pregnancy and lactation (Table 5.2).

	Pregnancy	Lactation D		n Diet						
	Diet	С		P, R,	W	тот	AL	TWO	D-WAY ANOV	A (<i>P)</i>
		Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg*Lact
Liver (%BW)	С	7.57	0.33							
	Р	7.71	0.32	7.07	0.14	7.31	0.16			
	R	8.43	0.29	7.35	0.34	7.67	0.27	0.232	<0.001	0.506
	W	7.62	0.26	6.32	0.16	6.75	0.20			
	Total	7.91	0.18	6.93	0.16					
Perirenal Adipose	С	0.28	0.03							
(%BW)	Р	0.43	0.11	0.38	0.09	0.40	0.07			
	R	0.49	0.11	0.49	0.07	0.49	0.17	0.355	0.750	0.965
	W	0.38	0.09	0.59	0.16	0.52	0.11			
	Total	0.43	0.06	0.49	0.06					
Gonadal Adipose	С	1.03	0.09							
(%BW)	Р	1.14	0.23	1.57	0.27	1.17	0.14			
	R	1.42	0.29	1.64	0.22	1.58	0.17	0.122	0.381	0.839
	W	1.19	0.19	1.54	0.20	1.42	0.15			
	Total	1.24	0.13	1.47	0.12					

Table 5.2 The Impact of consumption of P, R or W diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Tissue

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, RC=6, WC=6, PP=11, RR=14, WW=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Significance P<0.05.

⁺Post hoc test not significant (P v W P=0.066/R v W P=0.061).

5.3.4. The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose

Serum Cholesterol and serum TAG measurements were performed in duplicate with a Randox Imola RX chemistry analyser via a direct clearance method (HDL, LDL) or colorimetric assay (Total Chol, TAG) (Method 2.6.3). Maternal serum total-, non-HDL-, LDL- and HDL-cholesterol were all increased in animals fed either the P or R (but not W) diets compared to those fed C during pregnancy (Figure 5.2a). Continuing the fat diet (P, R or W) during lactation further increased total-, non-HDL- and HDL-cholesterol independently of the type of test fat. Overall, the highest maternal cholesterol levels were seen in dams fed the R diet throughout pregnancy and lactation (RR), which was 88% higher than that seen in animals fed chow throughout these periods (CC) (Figure 5.2b). However, as LDL, non-HDL- and HDL-cholesterol increased proportionately, there was no difference in the ratios (Table 5.3a). There was a trend (P=0.06) for those animals consuming fat in pregnancy to have a higher LDL:HDL ratio compared to C, although this was not significantly different.

There were no differences observed between maternal pregnancy and lactation diets on serum TAG (Table 5.3a).

Serum glucose was measured by Colorimetric Assay using glucose oxidase reagent (Method 2.6.2). There were no differences observed between maternal pregnancy and lactation diets on serum glucose (Table 5.3b).



Figure 5.2a The Impact of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning)

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, RC=6, WC=6). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc tests. For each parameter bars with unlike letters (x, y) are significantly different from each other. Significance P<0.05. and "*"Post-hoc test not significantly different from Chow.

Figure 5.2b The Impact of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Cholesterol (Post-weaning)



Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PP=11, RR=14,WW=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post-hoc tests. For each parameter bars with unlike letters (x, y, z) are significantly different from each other. Significance P<0.05.

			Lactatio	on Diet						
		С		P, R	, W	тот	AL	TWO-WAY ANOVA (<i>P)</i>		
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg* Lact
Total TAG (mmol/L)	С	1.01	0.10							
	Р	1.45	0.21	1.12	0.12	1.24	0.11			
	R	1.44	0.20	1.37	0.18	1.39	0.13	0.220	0.392	0.572
	W	1.09	0.14	1.13	0.09	1.12	0.07			
	Total	1.33	0.11	1.22	0.08					
Non-HDL:HDL ratio	С	1.08	0.07							
	Р	1.17	0.12	0.93	0.11	1.12	0.08			
	R	1.17	0.15	1.03	0.06	1.07	0.06	0.364	0.151	0.573
	W	1.19	0.12	1.19	0.09	1.19	0.07			
	Total	1.17	0.07	1.06	0.05					
LDL:HDL ratio	С	0.11	0.07							
	Р	0.13	0.01	0.13	0.01	0.13	0.01			
	R	0.14	0.01	0.15	0.01	0.14	0.01	0.06	0.368	0.459
	W	0.12	0.01	0.16	0.01	0.14	0.01			
	Total	0.13	0.01	0.14	0.01					

Table 5.3a The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Lipids

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, RC=6, WC=6, PP=11, RR=14, WW=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Significance P<0.05

Table 5.3b The Impact of consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Serum Glucose

			Lactatio	on Diet							
		С		P, R	P, R, W		AL	TWO-WAY ANOVA (<i>P)</i>			
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg* Lact	
Serum Glucose (mmol/L)	С	9.86	0.93								
	Р	9.55	1.41	8.59	0.49	8.94	0.59				
	R	10.19	1.39	8.14	0.50	8.75	0.57	0.673	0.252	0.304	
	W	8.51	1.40	9.11	0.45	8.91	0.53				
	Total	9.42	0.78	8.59	0.28						

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, RC=6, WC=6, PP=11, RR=14, WW=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc tests. Significance P<0.05

5.3.5. The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Liver Lipids

Lipids were extracted from livers (Method 2.7.4) and TAG and cholesterol assays performed (Method 2.7.5). Liver lipids are expressed as mg/total liver. There were no differences observed in liver cholesterol. Consumption of P diet during pregnancy and lactation increased liver TAG by 35% compared to P in pregnancy alone. Consuming P or R throughout pregnancy and lactation increased liver TAG by 50% compared to Chow (Table 5.4, *P*<0.05). There was no effect of W diet during pregnancy and lactation on liver TAG.

			Lactat	tion Diet						
		С		P, R,	W	тот	AL	TWO-WAY ANOVA (<i>P</i>)		
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg* Lact
Liver Cholesterol	С	6.22	1.24							
(mg/total liver)	Р	4.35	0.32	5.40	0.39	5.02	0.29	0.415 ^d	0.629 ^b	N/A
	R	4.97	0.50	5.25	0.34	5.17	0.34			
	W	5.83	0.90	3.90	0.41	4.54	0.41			
	Total	5.01	0.36	4.87	0.25					
Liver TAG (mg/total liver)	С	*22.56	4.22							
	Р	^x 28.73	7.08	^{y*} 56.74	6.10	44.66	5.38	0.696ª	0.003 ^a	0.122ª
	R	27.91	3.32	*51.58	6.72	43.69	5.38			
	W	33.18	4.44	33.98	3.35	33.95	2.61			
	Total	29.87	3.02	46.62	3.47					

Table 5.4 The Impact of consumption of P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation on Maternal Liver Lipids

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC=13, PC=7, RC=6, WC=6, PP=11, RR=14, WW=12). Non-parametric data transformed to Square root "a" or analysed by Kruskal Wallis "d" and Mann Whitney "b". Different letters (x,y) are significantly different from each other or from Chow "*" P<0.05.

5.3.6. The Impact of consumption of a P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation of the Fatty Acid composition of Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue

FAME were extracted from perirenal adipose tissue and measured (Method 2.7.1., A. Lock, University of Michigan). The fatty acid composition of perirenal adipose tissue in dams culled at weaning are shown in Figure 5.3a and Figure 5.3b. As expected, those mothers fed the P and R diets throughout pregnancy and lactation accumulated TFA in their adipose tissue and the *trans* isomer distribution mirrored that of the diets (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.1). As such, animals fed the P diet accumulated predominately C18:1t9 and those fed the R diet C18:1t11. However, it was notable that the R-fed animals accumulated C18:2c9,t11, in amounts that were disproportionate to the amount in the diet. As would be expected, when dams were transferred to chow during lactation, marked reductions in all TFA were observed in the adipose tissue (Figure 5.3b).

Figure 5.3a Distribution of C18:1 *Trans* FAs in Maternal Perirenal Adipose Tissue of mothers consuming P, R or W Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation (PP, RR, WW)



<0.1% FAME Not Detected (ND). Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC: ND, data not shown, PP=5, RR=5, WW=5)Nonparametric data transformed to square root "a" or log10 "c" and analysed by one-way ANOVA. For each isomer bars with unlike letters (x,y,z) are significantly different P<0.05.





<0.1% FAME Not Detected (ND). Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations showing pregnancy and lactation diet respectively (CC: ND, data not shown, PC=5, RC=5, WC=5,). Nonparametric data transformed to square root "a" or log10 "c" and analysed by one-way ANOVA. For each isomer bars with unlike letters (x,y,z) are significantly different P<0.05.

5.4 OFFSPRING RESULTS – THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (APOE*3 LEIDEN MOUSE)

These results assess the outcome of maternal consumption a high fat P, R, W diet throughout pregnancy and lactation (PP, RR, WW) compared to a chow lactation diet (PC, RC, WC) diet on the development of atherosclerosis in offspring. Offspring were weaned onto an atherogenic post-natal diet (PPA, RRA, WWA vs. PCA, RCA, WCA, and Control CCA).

5.4.1. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Bodyweight of Offspring

There was no impact of maternal diet on final body weight of offspring (Table 5.5). All groups consumed an atherogenic post-natal diet and bodyweight and weight gain trajectory were similar between all diet groups.

	Pregnancy		Lactati	ion Diet						
	Diet	C		P, R	, W	тот	AL	Two	Way ANOVA	(<i>P</i>)
		Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg*Lact
Day 0: weaning body	С	7.26	0.38							
weight (g)	Р	7.02	0.16	5.76	0.28	6.32	0.23			
	R	6.91	0.47	6.60	0.28	6.74	0.26	0.213	0.147	0.148
	W	6.54	0.46	6.66	0.28	6.61	0.25			
	Total	6.80	0.20	6.36	0.17					
Day 84 body weight (g)	С	20.96	0.37							
	Р	19.61	0.54	19.76	0.28	19.72	0.28			
	R	20.06	0.51	19.05	0.32	19.53	0.31	0.923	0.230	0.861
	W	19.83	0.35	19.29	0.46	19.54	0.30			
	Total	19.80	0.35	19.36	0.22					
Mean weight gain (g)	С	13.70	0.37							
days 0-84	Р	12.59	0.56	14.04	0.25	13.93	0.33			
	R	13.15	0.58	12.46	0.32	12.79	0.33	0.185	0.915	0.761
	W	13.29	0.30	12.63	0.26	12.93	0.21			
	Total	13.04	0.02	13.00	0.20					

Table 5.5 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Bodyweight of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, PPA=10, RRA=12, WWA=12). Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

5.4.2. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring

Feeding the R diet during pregnancy increased both perirenal and gonadal tissue weights compared with both P and W diets (P<0.05, Figure 5.4) and increased perirenal adipose (P<0.05) compared to Chow diets.

Figure 5.4 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a RTFA Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Adipose Tissue of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet



Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, P:PCA=8,PPA=10, R:RCA=10, RRA=12, W:WCA=10,WWA=12) Data transformed to log10 "c" and analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Unlike letters (x,y) significantly different for both Gonadal and Perirenal Adipose Tissue. *PAT - Perirenal Adipose Tissue significantly different from Chow P<0.05.

Maternal consumption of fat diet during pregnancy and lactation reduced the weight of livers of offspring, independently of type of test fat compared offspring exposed to chow in lactation (P<0.05, Figure 5.5).





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets, respectively. (CCA=11, Chow Lactation: PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, Fat Lactation: PPA=10 RRA=12, WWA=12). Data analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Unlike letters (x,y) significantly different P<0.05.

5.4.3. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Serum Lipids and Serum Glucose of Offspring

There was no impact of maternal diet on serum total cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol or HDL cholesterol or TAG lipids (Table 5.6a) and this outcome was reflected in both the HDL/non-HDL ratio and LDL/HDL ratio (Table 5.6b).

There was no impact of maternal diet or post-natal diet on offspring serum glucose (Table 5.6c).

		Lactation Diet									
		C		P, R	r, W		TO	TAL	Тwo	Way ANOVA	(P)
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM		Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg*Lact
Total TAG (mmol/L)	С	2.25	0.15								
	Р	2.09	0.14	2.11	0.14		2.10	0.09	0.089	0.725	0.929
	R	2.52	0.16	2.50	0.19		2.51	0.12			
	W	2.40	0.17	2.54	0.22		2.47	0.14			
	Total	2.4	0.17	2.40	0.11	_					
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	С	9.57	0.44								
	Р	[†] 9.04	0.58	8.68	0.32		8.84	0.30	[†] 0.062	0.857	0.971
	R	9.86	0.50	9.35	0.56		9.62	0.37			
	W	⁺ 10.40	0.48	9.43	0.56		9.64	0.31			
	Total	9.60	0.30	9.15	0.25	_					
Non-HDL (mmol/L)	С	7.99	0.43								
	Р	7.22	0.46	7.02	0.41		7.11	0.30	0.192	0.964	0.963
	R	7.75	0.44	7.91	0.95		7.84	0.53			
	W	8.34	0.68	8.41	0.68		8.38	0.47			
	Total	7.81	0.42	7.82	0.31	_					
Total LDL (mmol/L)	С	3.50	0.22								
	Р	3.01	0.23	2.96	0.17		2.98	0.13	0.096	0.696	0.794
	R	3.19	0.23	3.02	0.18		3.11	0.15			
	W	3.47	0.20	3.33	0.16		3.40	0.13			
	Total	3.20	0.13	3.10	0.10	_					
Total HDL (mmol/L)	С	1.64	0.09								
	Р	1.83	0.15	2.02	0.08		1.93	0.07	0.816	0.733	0.929
	R	2.10	0.11	2.00	0.11		2.05	0.08			
	W	2.07	0.10	1.87	0.10		1.96	0.07			
	Total	2.01	0.07	1.96	0.06						

Table 5.6a The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Serum Lipids of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, PPA=10 RRA=12, WWA=12). Data were analysed two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Significance P<0.05. [†]post-hoc test P vs W not significant.

Table 5.6 continued			Lactati	ion Diet						
		(C	P, F	R, W	то	TAL	Two Way ANOVA (<i>P)</i>		
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg*Lact
Non-HDL:HDL ratio	С	4.17	0.37							
	Р	3.52	0.20	3.34	0.20	3.42	0.14	0.758	0.533	0.625
	R	3.74	0.23	3.02	0.22	3.40	0.18			
	W	3.45	0.16	3.40	0.28	3.43	0.16			
	Total	3.58	0.12	3.25	0.13					
LDL:HDL ratio	С	1.90	0.17							
	Р	1.51	0.08	1.48	0.10	1.49	0.06	0.458	0.589	0.694
	R	1.53	0.09	1.31	0.09	1.42	0.07			
	W	1.57	0.07	1.56	0.12	1.56	0.07			
	Total	1.54	0.05	1.45	0.06					

Table 5.6b The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on HDL-LDL and Non-HDL/HDL Ratios of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, PPA=10, RRA=12, WWA=12). Data were analysed two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

Table 5.6c The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Serum Glucose of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

			Lactat	ion Diet						
		(С	P, R, W		TOTAL		Two Way ANOVA (<i>P)</i>		
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg*Lact
Serum Glucose (mmol/L)	С	8.22	0.59							
	Р	7.97	0.99	9.51	0.68	8.83	0.59	0.667	0.606	0.809
	R	8.34	0.51	8.78	0.64	8.57	0.41			
	W	8.76	0.52	7.55	0.37	8.10	0.33			
	Total	8.40	0.40	8.56	0.35					

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, PPA=10, RR=12, WWA=12). Data were analysed two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

5.4.4. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Liver Lipids of Offspring

FAME FAs were extracted from perirenal adipose tissue and measured (Method 2.7.1., A. Lock, University of Michigan). There was no impact of maternal diet (P, R or W) throughout pregnancy and lactation on hepatic cholesterol or hepatic TAG (Table 5.7) of offspring.

Table 5.7 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on Liver Lipids of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

			Lactatio	on Diet						
		C		P, R	, W	тот	AL	Two Way ANOVA (<i>P)</i>		
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Preg* Lact
Liver Cholesterol	С	9.93	0.79							
(mg/total liver)	Р	8.01	1.00	6.60	0.77	7.18	0.62	0.089	0.481	0.240
	R	10.88	1.16	9.02	1.12	9.91	0.81			
	W	7.32	0.79	8.74	1.17	8.13	0.75			
	Total	8.88	0.65	8.18	0.62					
Liver TAG	С	47.61	6.12							
(mg/total liver)	Р	40.19	6.19	28.52	2.59	31.20	2.29	0.085	0.091	0.396
	R	51.70	6.16	35.34	4.24	43.13	4.02			
	W	38.36	4.57	34.31	3.92	36.15	2.94			
	Total	43.65	3.35	32.90	2.15					

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (CCA=11, PCA=8, RCA =10, WCA=10, PPA=10, RRA=12, WWA=12). Data was analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferonni post-hoc test. Significance P<0.05.

5.4.5. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring

There was no impact of maternal diet on the fatty acid composition of offspring perirenal adipose after 12 weeks on post-natal atherogenic diet, with no TFAs observed in those offspring of R and P mothers (Table 5.8).

			Lactatio	ion Diet						
		(2	P, F	R, W	тс	TAL	Tw	o Way ANOV	A (<i>P)</i>
	Pregnancy Diet	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Pregnancy	Lactation	Pregnancy x Lactation
¹ Σ SFA (g/100g fat)	С	33.21	1.47							
	Р	32.68	0.29	33.42	0.35	33.05	0.29	0.216	0.141	0.841
	R	32.18	0.56	32.95	0.48	32.52	0.98			
	W	33.74	0.58	34.02	0.41	33.88	0.34			
	Total	32.87	0.33	33.50	0.25					
² Σ MUFA <i>Cis</i> (g/100g fat)	С	59.44	1.44							
	Р	60.01	0.29	58.61	0.26	59.31	0.30	0.078 ^b	0.121 ^d	N/A
	R	60.32	0.47	59.09	0.51	59.78	0.39			
	W	58.52	0.44	58.31	0.30	58.41	0.25			
	Total	59.62	0.30	58.64	0.21					
³ Σ PUFA <i>Cis</i> (g/100g fat)	С	7.13	0.15							
	Р	6.94	0.18	7.51	0.21	7.23	0.16	0.688	0.051	0.132
	R	7.12	0.14	7.60	0.09	7.36	0.12			
	W	7.45	0.20	7.32	0.21	7.40	0.14			
	Total	7.17	0.11	7.48	0.11					
⁴ Σ <i>Trans</i> FA(g/100g fat)	С	ND								
	Р	ND		ND	ND			N/A	N/A	N/A
	R	ND		ND	ND					
	W	ND		ND	ND					
	Total	ND		ND	ND					
5 Σ CLA (g/100g fat)	С	ND								
	Р	ND		ND	ND			N/A	N/A	N/A
	R	ND		ND	ND					
	W	ND		ND	ND					
	Total	ND		ND	ND					

Table 5.8 The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet

ND – Not Detected <0.1%. Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet respectively, (CCA=5, PCA=5, RCA=5, WCA=5, PPA=5, RRA=5, WWA=5). Data analysed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. Nonparametric data analysed by Mann Whitney "b" or Kruskal-Wallis "d". Significance P<0.05. ¹SFA sum of FAs: C10+C12:0+C14:0+C15:0+C16:0+C17:0+C18:0+C19:0+C20:0+C22:

5.4.6. The Impact of Maternal Consumption of a P, R or W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring

As previously described 7 μ m sections were captured onto slides and the lipid stained with Oil Red O (Method 3.1). These were analysed at a distance of 14 μ m between sections from the appearance of the aortic valves from aortic arch towards the heart, and then imaged and quantified (Method 3.2). All analyses were performed blind without knowledge of diet group. Mean atherosclerotic area (μ m²) was calculated for each section and plotted to show pattern of atherosclerosis expression (data not shown). N=10 equidistant sections from each diet group from the three valves joining (Section 1) were analysed for the results.

The effect of maternal diet during pregnancy on the development of atherosclerosis was statistically analysed in 3 different ways. Initially, the impact of different pregnancy diets (C,P,R.W), followed by C diet during lactation, was analysed by repeated -measures (for section number) ANOVA, with blocking for animal and litter from which offspring were derived. As can be seen in Figure 5.6, the area of atherosclerotic lesions increased progressively in sections closest to the heart, with a strong effect of section number (P<0.001). There was also a significant effect of pregnancy diet (P=0.013), with the two TFA diets clearly resulting in lower levels of atherosclerosis compared to either the C or W diet. There was no significant interaction between pregnancy diet and section number (P=0.510).

Figure 5.6 Impact of maternal pregnancy diet on development of atherosclerosis in the aorta of the offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet



Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (C: CCA=11, P: PCA=8, R: RCA =10, W: WCA=10). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.

Next, the impact of each of the experimental fat diets during pregnancy and lactation was analysed separately (Figure 5.7(a-c)) by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA. In offspring of dams fed the P-rich diets there was a strong effect of lactation diet (Figure 5.7(a), P<0.001), with those offspring from mothers fed P during lactation clearly displaying more atherosclerosis than those fed C. In offspring of mothers fed the R-diet (Figure 5.7(b), P=0.596) or W diet (Figure 5.7(c), P=0.901) there was no effect of continuing to feed the experimental fat diets during lactation.





Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (PCA=8, PPA=10). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.





Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (RCA =10, RRA=12). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.

Figure 5.7c The Impact of Maternal Consumption of W Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring fed an atherogenic (A) diet



Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (WCA=10, WWA=12). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.

Finally, the impact of continuing to feed the experimental fat diet during lactation, was analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with pregnancy diet and lactation diet as factors. While section number had a clear effect (p<0.001) there was no interaction between section number and pregnancy (p=0.868), lactation diet (p=0.371) or both (p=0.139). Therefore, the data presented in Figure 5.8 represents the mean of all sections. These results showed that feeding a maternal TFA diet during pregnancy reduced postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis in offspring compared to offspring of mothers fed W (P=0.002). However, this effect was abolished when feeding of P, but not R, continued into lactation, and the nature of the lactation diet had no effect in the offspring of W-fed dams. Overall, this resulted in a significant interaction between pregnancy and lactation diets (p=0.039).





Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diet, respectively. (PCA=8/PPA=10,RCA =10/RRA=12, WCA=10/WWA=12). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.

5.5 DISCUSSION

The original hypothesis for this study was that fetal and neonatal exposure to the two sources of TFA in the maternal diet would have differing effects on the development of atherosclerosis due to the differing TFA isomers profiles. Few studies have looked at the effects of TFA in the maternal diet on disease susceptibility in the offspring. As already discussed, such fatty acids cross the placenta and are secreted in the mother's milk proportionately to the amount in the diet (Innis, 2006). This study shows that TFA derived from PHVO and those from ruminant milk fat accumulate in the adipose tissue of dams. Those fed R showed a disproportionate accumulation of CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11, predominantly through the action of stearoyl Co-A desaturase on the 18:1*t*11 in the dietary fat. It therefore seems appropriate to assume that the developing fetuses were exposed to different TFA isomer concentrations depending upon the diet fed to the dams. As no impact of maternal diet was seen on maternal body weight, differences in susceptibility of the offspring to atherosclerosis could not be attributed to maternal adiposity.

It has been previously shown that the AEL mouse model MLP diet during pregnancy increased the susceptibility of the offspring to high dietary fat/cholesterol induced atherosclerosis (Yates et al., 2009). However, this was with increased plasma cholesterol concentrations in the offspring. In contrast, it has also been shown that a diet enriched in cholesterol and SFA (similar to the W diet used in this study but including 0.25% cholesterol) also enhanced the development of atherosclerosis but in the absence of changes in plasma cholesterol in the offspring (Tarling et al., 2016). This diet resulted in maternal plasma cholesterol concentrations more than doubling through the course of pregnancy. This supports earlier studies by Napoli et al., (1999) who showed that dramatic hypercholesterolemia induced by feeding cholesterol to pregnant ApoE knock-out mice also increased atherosclerosis in the offspring in the absence of changes to the offspring plasma cholesterol. In this study, no cholesterol was added to the maternal diet and maternal serum cholesterol was not increased in mothers fed the W diet, compared with those fed chow, and the offspring of these animals showed no increased susceptibility to

atherosclerosis. Both the P and R diets tended to modestly increase both non-HDL and HDLcholesterol with no change in the ratio of the two.

It was noticeable that the high fat diets fed during pregnancy had an effect on food intake data for the animals (as C57 mice are prone to stress-related loss of pregnancy, this data was not collected), it is difficult to pinpoint the exact reason for this. However, given that rodents effectively defend energy intake and adjust food intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2011), it is likely that intakes of protein and micronutrients were lower in these groups. This makes comparison of the data in this study to the other previous study of MLP in AEL mice (Yates et al., 2009) particularly pertinent. Demands for protein and micronutrients would be particularly high during lactation.

After offspring had been exposed to an atherogenic post-natal diet for 12 weeks, the impact of maternal diet on the development of atherosclerosis was assessed. The W diet showed no effect (either during pregnancy or pregnancy + lactation) compared with the chow diet (Figure 5.7c). However, both sources of TFA, when fed only during pregnancy, appeared to provide protection from postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis to approximately equal extents (Figures 5.6, 5.7a, 5.7b). When maternal TFA feeding was extended through lactation, much of the protective effect of P was lost and clear differences were seen in the distribution of atherosclerosis along the length of the aorta (Figure 5.7a, Figure 5.8). Unlike the results of Yates et al's (2009) study investigating MLP, these changes in susceptibility were not associated with changes in offspring plasma cholesterol. It is possible that unidentified risk factors are responsible for the observed differences and these could include the aforementioned differences in protein and micronutrient intakes that may exist between chow fed mice and mice fed diets of altered fatty acid composition. However, an alternative explanation may be differences in the development of lesions in neonatal life. This has been previously advocated to explain differences in the development of atherosclerosis in heterozygous ApoE-deficient mice born to wild type or homozygous ApoE knock-out mothers (Palinski and Napoli, 2002). While the offspring showed no difference in plasma lipids, those born of ApoE-deficient mothers exhibited a greater

susceptibility to atherosclerosis. The authors showed specific changes in gene expression in the aortas of affected animals and suggested that susceptibility to atherosclerosis may be imprinted during neonatal life. It is similarly possible that in this experiment, during fetal life alterations to the biology of the developing aorta, in response to the type of fat in the mother's diet, have resulted in the differences in susceptibility to atherosclerosis in later life. In contrast, direct exposure to P during suckling increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis. These results suggest that the impact of TFA on the early genesis of atherosclerosis are complex and that the effects in utero are different to the effects during suckling. The impact of TFA on atherosclerosis in adult animals are well documented. Bassett et al (2009) reported that whilst PHVO induced atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice, ruminant TFA have an anti-atherogenic effect (Bassett et al., 2010), but this is the first report of their effects during early development. It might be speculated that the differential effects of TFA sources during pregnancy and lactation could be due to differences in the pattern of expression of pro- (and/or anti-) inflammatory factors and further work would be required to confirm this. It is of note, however, that such programming persists even when offspring have been challenged with an atherogenic diet for 12 weeks. This adds weight to the hypothesis that the TFA impact upon early lesion development during fetal and neonatal life. Further investigation will be required to examine early lesions in fetal and neonatal vessels in order to confirm this. Combining such an investigation with transcriptomic analysis of the fetal vasculature and maternal liver will contribute to a more detailed mechanistic understanding of the relationship between TFA, maternal cholesterol and early lesion development.

The only other phenotypic effect was an increase in adipose tissue weight, both perirenal and gonadal, in the offspring of mothers fed R. This study provides no obvious explanation for the 'programming' of increased adiposity associated with maternal consumption of R. It should be noted that the effect was very modest (combined increased in weight of both depots equals about 0.4% of total body weight) and that this needs to be confirmed in more detailed experiments of body composition and include measurements of food intake. Feeding high fat diets during lactation had no impact upon offspring body weight or adiposity, which is consistent

with some other, but not all, rodent studies of overfeeding in lactation (Akyol et al., 2012). However, any effect of maternal diet during suckling may have been masked by feeding of the atherogenic diet post-weaning. It has previously been shown in rats that phenotypes programmed in lactation can be modulated by post-weaning diets (Akyol et al., 2012, Gugusheff et al., 2013).

5.6 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, consumption of TFA during pregnancy appeared to protect offspring from later postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis, independently of the isomeric distribution of the TFA. However, if feeding is maintained during lactation, this protection may be partly lost, particularly when TFA derived from P are consumed. The mechanisms underlying these changes remain to be established, but they are not associated with changes in lipoprotein concentrations at the point when atherosclerosis was measured.

CHAPTER 6: STUDY 3 - THE IMPACT OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET THROUGHOUT LIFESPAN ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN THE AEL MOUSE

6. INTRODUCTION

In this study we addressed the impact of exposure to the different TFA isomers (P and R) and SFAs (W) throughout the lifespan of offspring: Dams consumed the different experimental fat diets throughout pregnancy and lactation, and then offspring were weaned onto a corresponding fat diet in post-natal life. As outlined in the General Introduction, the impact of consumption of dietary SFAs and TFA on CHD Risk are established (Mensink et al., 2003, Mozaffarian and Clarke., 2009). Ruminant dairy and meat products contain *trans* VA that can be converted to CLA (C18:2*c*9*t*11) by the action of stearoyl Co-A desaturase in the tissues of animals and humans. In animals diet enriched in CLA (C18:2*c*9*t*11) have been shown to have a beneficial impact on lipoprotein metabolism (Lock et al., 2005).

Energy dense diets rich in SFA and TFA manifest in maternal obesity with dyslipidaemia and elevated inflammatory markers present (Flick et al., 2010, Dong et al., 2013). In humans, maternal obesity has recently been linked with premature death and CVD in offspring (Reynolds et al., 2013). In animal studies offspring of obese mothers that continued to suckle through early postnatal development were found to have increased adiposity and vascular endothelial dysfunction (Ghosh et al., 2001, Koukkou et al., 1998, Fan et al., 2013). Additionally, in humans (Napoli et al., 1999) and the AEL mouse it has been shown that maternal hypercholesterolemia can increase susceptibility to atherosclerosis in offspring (Tarling et al., 2016).

it is recognised that TFAs can be passed across the placenta during development and through breast milk to the neonate (Innis, 2006). In human cohorts, maternal consumption of TFAs during pregnancy have been reported to reduce EFA availability for the developing fetus and neonate, and potentially a negative impact on birth anthropometry (Hornstra et al., 2006, Innis 2007, Desci and Boehm, 2013). Studies in children with low EFAs have been found to have visual impairments and psychological disorders (e.g. attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder) (Arbex et al., 2015). In mice, maternal consumption of TFAs during pregnancy and lactation have also been reported to retard growth of offspring (Kavanagh et al., 2010). Oben et al., (2010) observed that in obese C57 mice the "critical early postnatal period" lactation diet was pivotal in development of metabolic disease in offspring.

The results of the dams are discussed in Chapter 5. However, in summary, dams consuming the fat diets during pregnancy and lactation (PP, RR or WW) significantly increased serum total cholesterol concentration by 80% for all fat diet groups, with RR dams having 88% higher concentrations compared to C. As no cholesterol was added to the diets these results clearly indicate that the fat diets and particularly the R and P diets, increased maternal cholesterol metabolism. Another important factor was that the dams that continued to consume fat diets throughout lactation reduced their bodyweight by 11%, independently of type of test fat. It is acknowledged that mice defend energy intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2012). However, as C57 mice are highly sensitive to stress -induced pregnancy and litter loss, maternal feed intake measurements were not obtained for these studies. It was therefore proposed that as demand for nutrients is high during lactation, protein and micronutrient intake may have been reduced in these dams.

6.1 AIM AND HYPOTHESIS

The previous two chapter were designed to specifically look at the impact of maternal consumption of trans fatty acids, during pregnancy, or pregnancy and suckling, on atherosclerotic risk in the offspring. This final study investigates the effect of exposure of the offspring throughout life (starting at conception) to different sources of trans fatty acids.

Hypothesis: It was hypothesised that exposure PHVO throughout lifespan would increase susceptibility to atherosclerosis in offspring to a greater extent compared to Western and RTFA

diets. It was further considered that the Western diet would have a greater influence on programming atherosclerosis in offspring compared RTFA diet.

6.2 METHOD

In order to examine the study's hypothesis, chow diets were supplemented with 15% TFA, equivalent to 5% daily energy in mice. Dietary fats were similar to those initially used by Chardigny et al (2008) in the human TRANSFACT study (see Methods Chapter 2, Table 2.1). Fatty acid composition of experimental diets (% FAME) are shown in Chapter 2, Methods, Figure 2.2. See Methods paragraph 2.2.6 for full descriptive of diet groups.

Seven-week-old wild type female (n=10 per diet group) C57BL/6J mice (dams) were mated with randomly selected AEL males (sires) (approx. eight weeks age) over a two oestrous cycle period of eight days. Groups were matched for variations in bodyweight. During mating 25% of the mice were fed Chow "C", with the remaining 75% mice being fed one of three experimental fat diets (P, R, W Figure 2.4). On the eighth day the sires were removed and dams remained on their allocated diets throughout pregnancy and lactation (see Figure 2.4 "Pregnancy" and "Lactation").

Female AEL pups were weaned onto either Chow giving rise to a control group C (CCC) or their corresponding maternal experimental fat diet giving rise to three fat diet groups P (PPP), R (RRR), and W (WWW), (Figure 2.4, Sector 3, Post-Natal). The post-natal diets (P, R, W) did not contain additional dietary cholesterol. Offspring remained on post-natal diets for 12 weeks (84 days), after which, at the age of 15 weeks, mice were culled by Schedule 1 procedure in accordance with ASPA (Home Office, 1986) and tissues harvested (Chapter 2, Methods, paragraph 2.3).
6.3 OFFSPRING RESULTS: THE IMPACT OF MATERNAL CONSUMPTION OF PHVO, RTFA OR WESTERN DIET THROUGHOUT LIFESPAN ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN OFFSPRING (AEL MOUSE)

It was observed that exposure to a maternal P or W diet during pregnancy and lactation caused offspring to have significantly lower bodyweight at weaning (Day 0) compared to offspring exposed to C or R diet (Figure 6.1a P<0.01). However, at the end of 12 weeks on their corresponding post-natal diets, (C, P, R or W), P offspring had gained significantly more weight compared to C offspring (Figure 6.1b). However, due to the lower weaning weights of P, R and W offspring there was no difference in the final bodyweight (C: 20.6g±0.37, P: 19.9g±0.41, R: 19.7g±0.33, W: 18:2g±0.52).

Figure 6.1a The Impact of Maternal PHVO or Western Diet throughout Pregnancy and Lactation on the Weaning body weight of Offspring



Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy and actation diets respectively: (C: CC=11, P: PP=10, R: RR=9, W: WW=10). Data analysed by ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.



Figure 6.1b The Impact of a PHVO diet on Weight Gain of Offspring

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10).. Nonparametric data analysed by Mann Witney (b). Unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05. W offspring weight gain not significantly different from P: P=0.057.

6.3.1. The Impact of P, R or W Diet throughout Lifespan on the Body Composition and Organ Weights of Offspring at 15 weeks of age

It was found that offspring exposed to P and W fat diets, had reduced liver weight compared to C offspring (Figure 6.2). R offspring liver weight was lower *P*=0.058 compared to C-offspring.



Figure 6.2 The Impact of a P, R or W diet throughout Lifespan on Liver weight of Offspring

Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data analysed by ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05. *R vs. C *P*=0.058.

Overall, it was found R offspring had significantly more total visceral adipose tissue compared to offspring C, P, and W diet groups (P<0.05). Analysis of the adipose tissue showed that these differences were predominantly found in the amount of perirenal adipose tissue (P<0.01, Figure 6.3).





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data analysed by ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. PAT: Perirenal Adipose Tissue unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

[†]Gonadal Adipose Tissue P=0.047. Bonferroni post hoc test not significant: R vs C Not significant, R vs P *P*=0.078, R vs W *P*=0.096

6.3.2. The Impact of a P, R or W diet throughout Lifespan on Liver Lipids of Offspring at 15 weeks of age

Offspring consuming the P post-natal diet had increased liver TAG compared to offspring consuming the W diet (P<0.05), but not C or R offspring (Figure 6.4, TAG). Offspring consuming the P diet also showed higher levels of liver cholesterol compared to offspring consuming the R, W or C diet (P<0.01, Figure 6.4 Cholesterol).



Figure 6.4 The Impact of P Diet on Liver Lipids of Offspring

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data transformed square root "c" and analysed by ANOVA and Bonferonni post hoc tests. For each liver lipid, unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

6.3.3. The Impact of Different Dietary Fats throughout Lifespan on Serum Glucose and Serum Lipids of Offspring at 15 weeks of age

There were no differences observed between groups for serum glucose or serum TAG (Table 6.1).

Offspring consuming experimental fat diets had almost a two-fold increase in serum cholesterol compared to C offspring, independently of type of test fat (P<0.01, Figure 6.5). There were no differences observed in the LDL:HDL ratio (Table 6.1). However, R offspring had the highest HDL-cholesterol concentrations of all the diet groups and lowest non-HDL cholesterol of the three fat groups (see Figure 6.5). This resulted in a lower Non-HDL:HDL ratio (P=0.058, Table 6.1) compared to chow fed offspring.





Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data transformed to log 10 "a" or Square root "c" and analysed by ANOVA with Bonferonni post-hoc test. Unlike letters (x,y) are significantly different P<0.05.

	Diet	Mean	SEM	ANOVA (P)
Serum Glucose (mmol/L)	С	8.69	0.34	0.508
	Р	8.43	0.79	
	R	9.75	0.59	
	W	9.44	0.93	
	Total	9.19	0.45	
Total TAG (mmol/L)ª	С	2.64	0.14	0.871 ^a
	Р	2.65	0.31	
	R	2.43	0.16	
	W	2.53	0.13	
	Total	2.53	0.12	
Non-HDL:HDL ratio ^{b,d}	С	2.81	0.26	0.058 ^d
	Р	2.26	0.26	
	R	1.89	0.06	
	W	2.10	0.09	
	Total	2.08	0.09	
LDL:HDL ratio	С	0.91	0.07	0.182
	Р	1.05	0.14	
	R	0.78	0.03	
	W	0.96	0.06	
	Total	0.93	0.05	

Table 6.1 The Impact of P, R or W Diet on Serum Glucose, TAG and Cholesterol ratios of Offspring

Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data transformed to log 10 "a" and analysed by ANOVA with Bonferonni post-hoc test. Nonparametric data were analysed by Independent sample Mann Whitney "b" or Kruskal-Wallis "d".

6.3.4. The Impact of P, R and W diets on Perirenal Adipose Tissue fatty acid profile in Offspring at 15 weeks of age

FAME FAs were extracted from perirenal adipose tissue and measured (Method 2.7.1., A. Lock, University of Michigan). The distribution of *trans* fatty acids in the perirenal adipose tissue are shown in Figure 6.6. As expected, the TFA isomers in the offspring perirenal adipose tissue reflected that of the P and R diets consumed (for diets see Table 2.1 and Figure 2.1) with P offspring having greater amounts of C18:1*t*9, and R predominantly C18:*t11* and CLA (P<0.01, Figure 6.6). P Offspring had significantly greater total C18:1 *trans* compared to R and W offspring (P<0.01).



Figure 6.6 C18:1 trans Fatty Acid Composition of Perirenal Adipose Tissue of Offspring

<0.1% FAME Not Detected (ND). Data are shown as mean ±SEM for n observations per group showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, ND data not shown, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10).. Nonparametric data transformed to Log10 "c" and analysed by ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. For each isomer bars with unlike letters (x, y, z) are significantly different P<0.05.

6.3.5. The Impact of Different Dietary Fats throughout Lifespan on the Fetal Programming of Atherosclerosis in Offspring

As previously described 7 μ m sections were captured onto slides and the lipid stained with Oil Red O (Method 3.1). These were analysed at a distance of 14 μ m between sections from the appearance of the aortic valves from aortic arch towards the heart, and then imaged and quantified (Method 3.2). All analyses were performed blind without knowledge of diet group. Mean atherosclerotic area (μ m²) was calculated for each section and plotted to show pattern of atherosclerosis expression (data not shown). N=10 equidistant sections from each diet group from the three valves joining (Section 1) were analysed for the results.

The effect of exposure to a high fat diet (P, R, W) throughout the lifespan of offspring (pregnancy, lactation and 12 weeks on post-natal diets), and consequent susceptibility to atherosclerosis was analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which offspring were derived. There was a significant interaction between section number and diet (P<0.01, Figure 6.7). This was primarily due to a relatively high level of atherosclerosis in earlier sections (12 and 15) of aortas from control-fed animals compared to those on high fat diets. This was confirmed when statistical analysis of high fat diets alone showed no such differences (P=0.577) nor diet x section interaction (P=0.512).

Figure 6.7 The Impact of P, R or W Diet throughout Lifespan on the Development of Atherosclerosis in Offspring



Data are shown as mean \pm SEM for n observations per group, showing pregnancy, lactation and post-natal diets respectively: (C: CCC=11, P: PPP=10, R: RRR=9, W: WWW=10). Data was transformed to square root "a" and analysed by repeated measures (for section number) ANOVA with blocking for animal and litter from which the animals were derived. *P* values for the effect of lactation diet, second number and interaction between the two are presented. Significance *P*<0.05.

6.4 DISCUSSION

This study aimed to ascertain if dietary PHVO and ruminant-derived *trans* fatty acids would have different effects on maternal lipoprotein metabolism during fetal and neonate development that would cause changes in the offspring's physiology and lipid metabolism, increasing their risk to atherosclerosis development in later life. PHVO contain a wide distribution of *trans* isomers, the composition of which is dependent on the parent oil from which they are derived. PHVO adversely affect lipoprotein concentrations (Mensink et al., 2003) and increase CVD risk in humans (Mozaffarian et al., 2009). In contrast, ruminant derived TFA (RTFA) present in dairy and meat products are thought to improve lipoprotein metabolism (Mensink et al., 2003). Ruminantderived products contain predominantly VA (C18:1 *t11*). This is particularly significant as a proportion of dietary VA is converted to CLA isomer C18:2*c*9*t*11, through the action of stearoyl CoA desaturase in the tissues of animals, including humans (Turpeinen et al., 2002, Kuhnt et al., 2006). It has also been demonstrated that there are potential beneficial effects of butter enriched in VA and CLA C18:2c9t11 on lipoprotein profiles in animals (Lock et al., 2005). In humans and animals, maternal dietary PHVO TFAs are transferred across the placenta into the circulation and tissues of developing offspring. Additionally they can be passed to the neonate in the mother's milk.

The hypothesis for this study was that fetal, neonate and post-natal exposure to two sources of TFA (P, R), and SFAs in the Western (W) diet, would have differing effects on the development of atherosclerosis. It is acknowledged that dietary TFAs can cross the placenta and are present in the mother's milk, proportional to maternal dietary intake (Innis, 2006). Both P and R-specific TFA isomers were found to be present in the maternal adipose tissue, with R dams having disproportionate amounts of CLA C18:2*c*9*t*11 through the action of stearoyl Co-A desaturase on dietary VA. In this study offspring were weaned onto their maternal corresponding fat diet (P, R W). Both P and R-specific TFA isomers were found R-specific TFA isomers were found for the maternal corresponding fat diet (P, R W). Both P and R-specific TFA isomers were found in offspring's adipose tissue. As for the maternal analysis above, offspring consuming R showed a disproportionate accumulation of CLA.

173

It was therefore appropriate to conclude that offspring were exposed to these different FA isomers during fetal and neonate development and post-natal life.

In the mouse it has been shown that maternal nutrient availability during pregnancy and lactation can influence atherosclerosis development in their offspring. Yates (2009) showed that a maternal protein-deficient diet increased susceptibility to postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis in AEL offspring, with an associated diet-induced increase in offspring's lipoprotein metabolism. In comparison, Tarling et al., (2016) reported that a maternal SFAcholesterol rich diet (similar to the Western diet but cholesterol was not added in our study) doubled maternal serum cholesterol concentrations during pregnancy and increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis in AEL offspring, but with no changes to offspring lipoprotein metabolism. The impact of the experimental fat diets on maternal physiology are discussed fully in Chapter 5, Paragraph 5.5. However, in summary and relevant to this study it was noted that: (i) maternal serum total cholesterol concentrations were significantly increased, independently of test fat, with R-fed dams having 88% higher concentrations compared to C. As no cholesterol was added to the experimental fat diets it was considered that different TFA isomers and SFA in W diet were pivotal to this outcome. (ii) dams consuming fat diets during suckling reduced their bodyweight by 11%, independently of type of test fat, compared to C. The difference in body weight could not be explained by tissue differences, with adipose depots and liver weights similar between all diet groups. An explanation for this could be that the dams adjusted their feed intake, as rodents defend energy intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2012). However, this data was not collected as C57 mice are prone to stress-related pregnancy loss. Taking this into consideration, it was proposed that intake of protein and micronutrients were lower in these groups, particularly during lactation when demand for nutrients are high. It was therefore appropriate to assume that offspring were exposed to different maternal TFA isomers, hypercholesterolemia and potentially reduced protein and micronutrient availability during fetal development and suckling.

Offspring consuming fat diets in post-natal life had double the serum cholesterol concentrations compared to C offspring, independently of type of test fat. However, it was interesting to note that of the three fat diet groups, offspring consuming R had the highest HDL-cholesterol and lowest Non-HDL cholesterol concentrations, resulting in a lower Non-HDL:HDL ratio compared to C fed animals (P=0.058). The improved serum cholesterol concentrations observed in R-fed offspring is supported by other animal studies that found diets enriched with VA improved serum cholesterol concentrations for example lowering VLDL and IDL/HDL ratio (Tyburcz et al., 2009, Lock et al., 2005) or increasing small-HDL (Rice et al., 2010). In our study, R offspring also displayed significantly greater quantities of CLA and VA within the adipose tissue compared to other offspring. These study outcomes add credence to the hypothesis that endogenous VA-RA CLA synthesis could have a beneficial health impact on serum cholesterol and confer a reduced CHD-risk. Despite the two-fold difference in serum cholesterol concentrations observed in the fat groups no clear effect of diet on atherosclerosis was seen. However, a significant diet x section number interaction was observed in atherosclerosis between all diet groups (C, P, R, W P<0.01). This was primarily due to a relatively high level of atherosclerosis in earlier sections (12 and 15) of aortas from control-fed animals compared to those on high fat diets which was confirmed when statistical analysis of high fat diets alone (P, R, W: P=0.557) showed no differences nor diet x section interaction (P=0.512). As outlined in Chapter 3, there is variation in atherosclerosis expression throughout the aortic valve region. As rigorous analyses of atherosclerosis data did not show any further differences, there is no conclusive explanation for the anomaly observed in the two early sections of aorta of chow fed offspring. However, the lack of difference in atherosclerosis between the fat groups support a previous study in guinea pigs by Rice et al., (2010). They fed post-natal diets rich in P or R (similar to those used in this study) and although the diets increased serum cholesterol concentrations there were no differences in atherosclerosis compared to C-fed animals. It has been suggested that dietary cholesterol is key to the development of atherosclerotic lesions in guinea pigs (Kind et al, 1999). A previous study has shown that maternal Western diets (similar to the diet used in this study but containing 0.25% cholesterol) increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis development in AEL offspring (Tarling et al., 2016). The effect of the lack of cholesterol in the post-natal diets, and subsequent lack of atherosclerosis, in this study is substantiated by comparison with Chapter 5 offspring atherosclerosis results. These offspring were likewise exposed to maternal dietary test fats during pregnancy and suckling but were weaned onto a post-natal atherogenic diet that contained SFAs and 0.25% cholesterol. These offspring had a 30% increase in serum cholesterol concentrations and a remarkable 95% increase in atherosclerosis compared to the offspring on post-natal experimental fat diets in this study. It was also interesting to note that for all offspring exposed to fat during pregnancy and lactation, although significantly different in the amount of atherosclerosis present due to the post-natal A diet, showed similar patterns of atherosclerosis as there were no differences in atherosclerosis between C, P, R, W diet groups. These results confirm that AEL mice are highly sensitive to post-natal high fat/cholesterol diet-induced atherosclerosis. Furthermore, it is noted that in some mouse models (e.g. LDL receptor deficient) mice on chow and low-fat diets, atherosclerotic lesions can take up to 12 months to develop (Getz and Reardon, 2012). Other atherosclerosis studies using the AEL mouse and feeding chow or fat diets without cholesterol confirm this outcome (Yates et al., 2009, Tonge, 2011). The results of our studies support that if a post-natal diet without cholesterol is used for atherosclerosis assessment in AEL mice, the trial should be extended beyond 15 weeks of age to allow for atherosclerosis manifestation.

Another phenotypic outcome in offspring that can be ascribed to maternal dietary factors during pregnancy and suckling, is that P offspring weighed significantly less at weaning compared to C offspring. P offspring 'caught-up' in bodyweight by day 4 post-weaning, presumably by increasing their feed intake, however feed intake data was not available to confirm this. After 12 weeks on post-natal P diet offspring had gained significantly more weight compared to C offspring. It is recognised in MLP rat studies (Langley-Evans, 2000) and human maternal undernutrition and obesity, offspring are prone to low birth weights, and rapid weight gain during early development that is termed "catch up growth" are correlated with increased prevalence of CVDs in later life (Eriksson et al., 2001a, Eriksson et al., 1999, Kajantie et al., 2005). The potential for maternal protein and micronutrient restriction during fetal and neonate development outlined above may be pertinent to this outcome. However, as there were no differences in offspring weaning

176

bodyweight of R and W offspring compared to C, the results indicate that this is a P diet-specific effect of exposure during pregnancy and suckling. Maternal P consumption is shown to have an inverse relationship with EFA availability and offspring birthweight in the first week of life in human cohorts (Hornstra et al., 2006, Innis, 2007), rats (Bayol et al., 2010), and C57 mice (Kavanagh et al., 2010). The pups in our study were not weighed at birth as C57 mice are prone to stress-related litter loss. However, the fact that after suckling for 3 weeks P offspring still showed retarded growth adds weight to this maternal-TFA hypothesis. Additionally, the catch-up growth identified in the first week post-weaning is synonymous with that described in the low-birth weight studies above. To identify if maternal nutrient supply was restricted during suckling (e.g. reduced FAs, protein, or EFAs) in our study, further analyses of milk samples would be required.

Offspring bodyweight at 15 weeks of age was similar between the diet groups. However, there were notable differences in tissue weights. In conjunction with the reported outcome for retarded growth early post-weaning, it was found that offspring consuming P and W diets (but not R, *P*=0.058) had smaller livers compared to chow offspring. Liver lipid analysis showed that P-offspring had significantly greater liver TAG compared to W offspring and liver cholesterol compared to P, R and W offspring. These results support research studies in human cohorts and animals, that maternal undernutrition can cause fetal growth restriction which result in growth retardation of organs such as the liver and kidneys (Greenwood and Bell, 2003, Boito et al., 2002, Langley-Evans et al., 1999). These results add weight to the argument that maternal protein and micronutrients were reduced during fetal and neonate development for all offspring in terms of liver organogenesis. However, the effect of P isomers during fetal and neonate development cannot be ignored, with retarded growth, reduced liver size and elevated liver TAG and cholesterol prevalent.

Adiposity observed in R offspring in this study was not able to be attributed to maternal diet due to offspring consuming fats throughout lifespan. However, offspring exposed to R had significantly more total adipose tissue (for both perirenal and gonadal depots) compared to C, P, and W, offspring. However, it is noted that the effect was very modest (combined increase in both depots equals 0.4% of total body weight) and this would need to be confirmed through detailed experiments of body composition and food intake measurements. It has been shown in rats (Akyol et al., 2012, Gugusheff et al., 2013) and mice (Oben et al., 2010), that phenotypes caused by post-natal diets (from lactation onwards) can be modulated by feeding low fat, chow diets. These outcomes reflect that early life and post-natal nutrition is key.

It is acknowledged that limitations of this study include the lack of feed intake data for C57 mothers due to stress-related pregnancy and litter loss that would have indicated the reason for weight loss and nutrient availability during fetal and neonate development. Also, for the latter reason litters were not disturbed during early development and pup birth weights and daily body weights were not collected over the three weeks during suckling. Therefore, it cannot be categorically ascertained if the offspring of R and W dams had retarded growth during fetal development. In order to understand retarded growth of P and reduced liver size in fat groups was an effect of maternal nutrient deficiency or an effect of the dietary FAs, more detailed investigation into maternal body composition and composition of milk samples would be required.

In order to clarify the effect of FAs during development, investigations of offspring whole body composition, kidneys (potential for reduced nephron number), liver morphology, cellular composition, and hepatic metabolism markers (e.g. PPARα, SREBP).

6.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, although the diets increased maternal and offspring lipoprotein metabolism, there was no effect of maternal P, R, or W diet on the development of atherosclerosis in offspring. Offspring of P-fed dams showed phenotypic outcomes that pertain to maternal undernutrition and/or an effect of the dietary P *trans* isomers. These outcomes included significant growth retardation at weaning compared to C offspring, retarded liver growth and elevated liver TAG and Cholesterol. W offspring (but not R *P*=0.058) also had retarded liver growth. Offspring consuming a post-natal R diet had significantly greater adipose tissue compared to P, W and C offspring.

7. GENERAL DISCUSSION

As discussed in the introduction and Chapter 5, a maternal low protein diet increased risk of atherosclerosis in offspring when fed high fat/cholesterol post-natal diets, with associated increased lipoprotein metabolism (Yates et al., 2009). In contrast, a western maternal diet (similar to the one used in this study but with 0.25% cholesterol added) caused maternal cholesterol metabolism to increase two-fold and elevated risk of atherosclerosis in offspring in the absence of changes to cholesterol metabolism (Tarling et al 2016). PHVO are known to adversely affect serum cholesterol concentrations and increase CVD risk (Mensink et al., 2003). RTFA has been shown to have a beneficial impact on lipoprotein profiles in animals (Lock et al., 2005).

The hypothesis for this study was that fetal, neonate and post-natal exposure to two sources of TFA (P, R), and SFAs in the Western (W) diet, would have differing effects on the risk of atherosclerosis development in later life. It is acknowledged that dietary TFAs can cross the placenta and are present in the mother's milk, proportional to maternal dietary intake and have possible metabolic consequences (Innis, 2006). It is noted that the experimental fat diets (P, R W) fed to dams and offspring in this study did not contain cholesterol and therefore maternal and offspring outcomes are reflective of the FA and *trans* isomer compositions of these diets.

7.1.1. The Effect of Maternal Consumption of P and R Diets on Maternal Physiology and Lipoprotein Metabolism During Pregnancy and Lactation (C57 Mouse)

The maternal results showed that both P and R-specific TFA isomers were found to be present in their adipose tissue, with R dams having disproportionate amounts of CLA (C18:2*c*9*t*11) mainly through the action of stearoyl Co-A desaturase on dietary VA (Fig 1.5). These results confirmed that TFAs were present in the maternal metabolism and able to be passed to the offspring during pregnancy and lactation development periods. During pregnancy (at day 17 gestation) serum total cholesterol and serum TAG concentrations were increased in P-fed animals compared to R. However, in Study 2 when measurements were taken after 3 weeks of suckling, it was found that

P or R-fed animals (but not W) had similar and significant increases in total serum cholesterol compared to C-fed animals. Continuing to consume the fat diets (P, R, W) throughout lactation, caused significant increases in serum total cholesterol concentrations for all experimental fat diet groups (P, R, W) compared to C. R-fed animals had an 88% higher serum total cholesterol compared to C, and significantly greater concentrations compared to both P and W. These results indicated that P and R diets during pregnancy alone, or P, R or W diets consumed during pregnancy and lactation could instigate maternal hypercholesterolemia with the potential to confer perturbations in the fetal and neonate environment during development.

7.1.2. The Effect of Maternal Consumption of P, R, W Diets on Offspring Physiology and Atherosclerosis Development (AEL Mouse)

Study 1 confirmed previous studies that reported AEL mice are highly sensitive to post-natal A diet-induced (rich in SFA and cholesterol) atherosclerosis (Groot et al., 1996, Gijbels et al., 1999) The atherogenic diet increased serum total cholesterol concentrations by 71% and atherosclerotic area by 94% compared to C offspring (P<0.01, Figure 4.9 and 4.10). However, as there was no chow control group for Study 1, the effect of the maternal TFA diets on atherosclerosis risk in offspring could not be categorically confirmed. There was a maternal diet x section interaction observed with atherosclerosis increasing in R offspring and decreasing in P offspring in sections closest to the heart (P<0.01). However, rigorous analysis of the pattern of atherosclerosis expression (see Chapter 3) did not explain this anomaly, with mean lesion area similar between the two maternal diet groups (P=0.383).

Study 2 assessed the impact of P, R and W diets during pregnancy, or pregnancy and lactation on atherosclerosis risk in offspring. All offspring were weaned onto an atherogenic diet for 12 weeks. The atherogenic diet caused a uniform increase in offspring cholesterol metabolism across all diet groups with no differences observed (C, P, R and W). However, it was found that maternal TFA consumption during pregnancy appeared to protect offspring from postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis in later life, irrespective of isomeric distribution of the TFA (P=0.013, Figure 5.6). However, this effect was lost and atherosclerosis increased if the TFA diet was

continued to be fed during lactation and early development periods (Figures, 5.7a, 5.7b and Figure 5.8). Previous maternal studies in several mouse models (e.g. AEL, ApoE deficient, and LDLr deficient mouse) have shown that maternal hypercholesterolemia has induced changes in offspring susceptibility to atherosclerosis, both with (Napoli et al., 2002, Napoli et al., 1999), and without (Tarling et al., 2016), diet-induced changes to offspring lipoprotein metabolism. Napoli et al (1999, 2002) showed specific changes in aortic gene expression may be imprinted during neonatal life. Therefore, it is plausible that in response to maternal dietary TFAs during fetal organogenesis, alterations in aortic biological development could occur resulting in differences to susceptibility to atherosclerosis. It is also of note that offspring displayed this biological difference, even after being challenged by an atherogenic diet for 12 weeks (Figure 5.6 and Figure 5.8). In LDLr deficient mice it has been reported that PHVO have increased atherosclerosis (Bassett et al., 2009), whilst RTFAs have an anti-atherogenic effect (Bassett et al., 2010). However, this is the first report of both P and R TFA having athero-protective effects during early development. It is acknowledged that the effects of pro-anti-inflammatory factors in the TFA diets could have differential effects in pregnancy and lactation development periods.

7.1.3. The impact of P, R or W Throughout Lifespan on Atherosclerosis Development in Offspring (AEL Mouse)

In Study 3, offspring were weaned onto corresponding maternal diets (CCC, PPP, RRR, WWW). The fat diets increased offspring serum cholesterol concentrations by 50% compared to C offspring, with R offspring having the lowest Non-HDL:HDL ratio compared to C (P=0.058). There was a significant interaction between section number and diet (P<0.01, Figure 6.7), with control offspring having greater atherosclerosis in two early sections of aorta. However, rigorous analyses of the atherosclerosis data did not show any further differences between all diet groups with mean atherosclerosis lesion area similar between all groups (P=0.627). There was no conclusive explanation for the anomaly observed in the two early sections of aorta of chow fed offspring. However, it was considered that a lack of cholesterol in the post-natal fat diets contributed to the lack of atherosclerosis observed in these offspring (95% less atherosclerosis compared to offspring that had consumed an atherogenic post-natal diet: CCA, PPA, RRA, WWA

diet groups). Studies in animals and humans of fetal growth restriction and maternal undernutrition suggest that this can result in growth retardation of organs (e.g. liver and kidneys) (Greenwood and Bell, 2003, Boito et al., 2002). In this study we observed that offspring consuming fat diets (P, R and W) had significantly smaller livers compared to C offspring. An explanation for could be that the mothers of these offspring had reduced protein and micronutrient availability during fetal development. C57 mice defend energy intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2012). It was observed that mothers consuming the fat diets throughout pregnancy and lactation had reduced their bodyweight by 11% compared to C, potentially reducing their feed intake. As C57 mice are prone to stress related pregnancy and litter loss, feed intake data was not obtained. However, this explanation is plausible and therefore it was considered that maternal protein and micronutrients would have been lower during this period when demand for nutrients is high.

It is recognised in maternal low protein rat studies (Langley-Evans, 2000) and human maternal undernutrition and obesity, offspring are prone to low birth weights, and rapid weight gain during early development that is termed "catch up growth", and are correlated with increased prevalence of CVDs in later life (Eriksson et al., 2001a, Eriksson et al., 1999, Kajantie et al., 2005). Therefore, the maternal nutrient deficiency proposed above could also have played a role in the retarded growth of P offspring at weaning that "caught up" in body weight by day 4 post-weaning, and after 12 weeks on post-natal diets had gained significantly more weight compared to C offspring. Although all offspring were potentially exposed to maternal nutrient deficiency during development, it is acknowledged that R and W offspring did not display this effect. However, as the effect of retarded growth was still present after 3 weeks of suckling, it adds weight to the outcome that this was an effect of the maternal P-diet on offspring development.

The only other phenotypic effect was an increase in adipose tissue weight in the offspring of mothers fed R in Study 2. However, the combined increase in weight of both gonadal and perirenal adipose depots is very modest (0.4% of total body weight) compared to C, P and W offspring. Finally, adiposity observed in R offspring in Study 3 was not able to be attributed to

183

maternal diet due to offspring consuming fats throughout lifespan. However, as for study 2, Rfed offspring had a significant (but modest 0.4%) increase in both adipose depots compared to C, P and W offspring. In order to confirm these outcomes, feed intake analysis and more detailed experiments on body composition would be required. Feeding high fat diets during lactation had no impact upon offspring body weights or adiposity of P, W and C, which is consistent with some other, but not all, rodent studies of overfeeding in lactation (Akyol et al., 2012). However, any effect of maternal diet during suckling may have been masked by feeding of the atherogenic diet post-weaning. It has been shown in rats (Akyol et al., 2012, Gugusheff et al., 2013) and mice (Oben et al., 2010), that phenotypes caused by post-natal diets (from lactation onwards) can be modulated by feeding low fat, chow diets.

7.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS

In the pregnancy study and study 1, no chow group was included, therefore outcomes for RTFA on maternal physiology and the impact of both maternal PHVO and RTFA during pregnancy on atherosclerosis development in offspring could not be categorically ruled out.

A limitation of Study 2 and Study 3 was that due to the extensive workload and time constraints of large cohort animal studies not all diet groups were included for example, the effect of fat during lactation, (e.g. CPC, CWC, CRC); or the effect of exposure to fat during development and post-natal chow groups, (e.g. PPC, RRC, WWC).

In hindsight in Study 3, Fat throughout Lifespan groups (PPP, RRR, WWW), the addition of cholesterol to the post-natal diets may have instigated differential atherosclerosis outcomes. It has recently been shown that a maternal Western diet (similar to the one used in this study, but with added 0.25% cholesterol) influenced the development of atherosclerosis in AEL offspring (Tarling et al., 2016). In our study without cholesterol, these offspring groups (P, R W) showed remarkably little atherosclerosis at 15 weeks of age and were similar to the C offspring. It is also noted that in some models (e.g. LDL receptor deficient) mice on chow and low-fat diets,

atherosclerotic lesions can take up to 12 months to develop (Getz and Reardon, 2012). Other atherosclerosis studies using the AEL mouse and feeding chow or fat diets without cholesterol confirm this outcome (Yates et al., 2009, Tonge, 2011). The results of our studies support that if a post-natal diet without cholesterol is used for atherosclerosis assessment in AEL mice, the trial should be extended beyond 15 weeks of age to allow for atherosclerosis manifestation.

As previously discussed, rodents defend energy intake when fed hyperenergetic diets (Sampey et al., 2012). Therefore, feeding high fat and TFA-rich diets during pregnancy and lactation could have resulted in the mothers reducing their feed intake. This is particularly pertinent as mothers consuming the fat diets throughout pregnancy and lactation reduced their body weight by 11% compared to C fed mothers. Therefore, it was proposed that these mothers would have reduced protein and micronutrient availability during lactation, when demand for nutrients is high. Collecting Feed intake data of mothers and offspring would have helped to identify changes in feeding patterns. Therefore, caution is advised when considering offspring phenotypic outcomes as reduced protein and micronutrient intake confer an additional perturbation to the developing neonate.

Finally, comparisons are being drawn upon the atherosclerosis presented in murine aortic arch/heart valve samples whereas in humans it would be the heart coronary arteries and associated vasculature (Zadelaar et al., 2007, Kleemann et al., 2007).. It is also acknowledged that mice and humans differ in the lipid and lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis pathways. In human physiology LDL-cholesterol metabolism drives atherosclerosis progression (Wang and Paigen, 2005), whilst in AEL mice Chylomicron, IDL, VLDL and remnants are prevalent (van den Maagdenberg et al., 1993).

7.3 MAIN IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The UK Government's Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-2016 set out key areas for improvement that address reducing premature mortality from CVDs through public health

185

improvements, including reducing the number of low birth weight term babies, implementation and support for breastfeeding initiatives, and, reducing excess body weight in adults and children through diet (DH, 2012c). Langley-Evans (2015) notes that pregnancy and infant nutrition provide a significant opportunity for improving the health of future generations, especially as parents are often more willing to make lifestyle changes during this period for the sake of their children. This makes our studies into maternal consumption of FAs during pregnancy and lactation and their impact on susceptibility to atherosclerosis development in offspring particularly relevant.

The results showed that exposure to TFA during pregnancy protected offspring from atherosclerosis, irrespective of dietary TFA isomer distribution, however this effect was lost if the TFA diets continued to be consumed during lactation. This study indicates that the effects of proand-anti-inflammatory factors in the TFA diets could have differential effects in pregnancy and lactation development periods. For the effect of TFAs and athero-protective outcome observed in Study 2offspring, further investigation and examination of early lesions in fetal and neonate vessels would be required. Combining this with transcriptomic analysis of fetal vasculature and maternal liver will contribute to a more detailed understanding of the relationship between TFA, maternal cholesterol and early lesion development.

Additionally, mothers consuming (P, R or W) throughout pregnancy and lactation, reduced in bodyweight (see study limitations), potentially conferring reduced protein and micronutrient availability during this period. Therefore, in order to clarify the maternal nutrient status further investigation of maternal total body composition and milk samples would be necessary. These investigations would also shed light on the impact of maternal diet on observed outcomes in Study 3 offspring: P offspring had retarded growth at weaning, and all offspring had reduced liver weights. Further studies of whole-body composition for offspring, and morphology of liver and kidney tissue could indicate whether maternal low protein/nutrient restriction was responsible tissue remodelling outcomes. Whole body composition of offspring in Study 2 and 3, would also confirm the phenotype of adiposity in offspring of R-fed dams, and those offspring consuming R in post-natal life.

7.4 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our studies provided an insight into the impact of maternal consumption of different isomers of *trans* fatty acids on the development of atherosclerosis in offspring. Our studies consistently showed that C18:1 *trans* isomers derived from dietary PHVO (predominantly EA) and ruminant milk fat (predominantly VA and CLA) accumulated in the adipose tissue of dams. It was therefore appropriate to assume that the developing fetus and neonate were exposed to different TFA isomer concentrations depending on the diet fed to the dams. However, it was found that maternal consumption of TFA diets during pregnancy conferred an anti-atherogenic effect in offspring fed an atherogenic-diet postnatally independently of the isomeric distribution of the TFA. However, if the maternal TFA diet is maintained during lactation this protection is lost and postnatal atherogenic diet-induced atherosclerosis increases particularly when PHVO TFA are consumed. The mechanisms underlying these changes remain to be established, but they are not associated with changes in lipoprotein concentrations at the point when atherosclerosis was measured. There was an unexpected outcome of no effect of the maternal Western diet on the development of atherosclerosis in offspring. However, this may be due to the absence of added cholesterol in these diets.

REFERENCES

- AHMED, W., ZIOUZENKOVA, O., BROWN, J., DEVCHAND, P., FRANCIS, S., KADAKIA, M., KANDA, T., ORASANU, G., SHARLACH, M., ZANDBERGEN, F. & PLUTZKY, J. 2007. PPARs and their metabolic modulation: new mechanisms for transcriptional regulation? 262, 184-198.
- AKYOL, A., MCMULLEN, S. & LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2012. Glucose intolerance associated with early-life exposure to maternal cafeteria feeding is dependent upon post-weaning diet. *Br J Nutr*, 107, 964-78.
- ALBERTS, A. W., CHEN, J., KURON, G., HUNT, V., HUFF, J., HOFFMAN, C., ROTHROCK, J., LOPEZ, M., JOSHUA, H., HARRIS, E., PATCHETT, A., MONAGHAN, R., CURRIE, S., STAPLEY, E., ALBERS-SCHONBERG, G., HENSENS, O., HIRSHFIELD, J., HOOGSTEEN, K., LIESCH, J. & SPRINGER, J. 1980. Mevinolin: a highly potent competitive inhibitor of hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase and a cholesterol-lowering agent. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 3957-61.
- ALBERTS, B., JOHNSON, A., LEWIS, J., MORGAN, D., RAFF, M., ROBERTS, K. & WALTER, P. 2016. Molecular biology of the cell, 6th edn New York. *NY: Garland Science*.
- ALBUQUERQUE, K. T., SARDINHA, F. L. C., TELLES, M. M., WATANABE, R. L. H., NASCIMENTO, C.
 M. O., DO CARMO, M. G. T. & RIBEIRO, E. B. 2006. Intake of trans fatty acid-rich hydrogenated fat during pregnancy and lactation inhibits the hypophagic effect of central insulin in the adult offspring. *Nutrition*, 22, 820-829.
- ALFARADHI, M. Z., FERNANDEZ-TWINN, D. S., MARTIN-GRONERT, M. S., MUSIAL, B., FOWDEN, A. & OZANNE, S. E. 2014. Oxidative stress and altered lipid homeostasis in the programming of offspring fatty liver by maternal obesity. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 307, R26-R34.
- ALLAHVERDIAN, S., CHEHROUDI, A. C., MCMANUS, B. M., ABRAHAM, T. & FRANCIS, G. A. 2014. Contribution of Intimal Smooth Muscle Cells to Cholesterol Accumulation and Macrophage-Like Cells in Human Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 129, 1551-1559.
- ALMENDINGEN, K., JORDAL, O., KIERULF, P., SANDSTAD, B. & PEDERSEN, J. 1995. Effects of partially hydrogenated fish oil, partially hydrogenated soybean oil, and butter on serum lipoproteins and Lp [a] in men. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 36, 1370-1384.
- ANDERSON, A. K., MCDOUGALD, D. M. & STEINER-ASIEDU, M. 2010. Dietary trans fatty acid intake and maternal and infant adiposity. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 64, 1308-15.
- ANDERSON, R. G. W. 2003. Joe Goldstein and Mike Brown: from cholesterol homeostasis to new paradigms in membrane biology. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 13, 534-539.

- ARBEX, A. K., BIZARRO, V. R., SANTOS, J. C. S., ARAÚJO, L. M. M., DE JESUS, A. L. C., FERNANDES, M. S. A., SALLES, M. M., ROCHA, D. R. T. W. & MARCADENTI, A. 2015. The impact of the essential fatty acids (EFA) in human health. *Open Journal of Endocrine and Metabolic Diseases*, 5, 98.
- ARENZ, S., RÜCKERL, R., KOLETZKO, B. & VON KRIES, R. 2004. Breast-feeding and childhood obesity—a systematic review. *International journal of obesity*, 28, 1247.
- ARMITAGE, J. A., TAYLOR, P. D. & POSTON, L. 2005. Experimental models of developmental programming: consequences of exposure to an energy rich diet during development. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 565, 3-8.
- ASHWELL, M., BARLOW, S., GIBSON, S. & HARRIS, C. 2006. National Diet and Nutrition Surveys: the British experience. *Public Health Nutrition*, 9, 523-530.
- AUSTIN, M. A. 1989. Plasma triglyceride as a risk factor for coronary heart disease. The epidemiologic evidence and beyond. *Am J Epidemiol*, 129, 249-59.
- BADIMON, L., CASANI, L. & VILAHUR, G. 2013. Chapter 10 Models for the Study of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis A2 - Conn, P. Michael. Animal Models for the Study of Human Disease. Boston: Academic Press.
- BADIMON, L., PADRÓ, T. & VILAHUR, G. 2012. Atherosclerosis, platelets and thrombosis in acute ischaemic heart disease. *European Heart Journal. Acute Cardiovascular Care*, 1, 60-74.
- BADIMON, L. & VILAHUR, G. 2014. Thrombosis formation on atherosclerotic lesions and plaque rupture. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 276, 618-632.
- BAER, D. J., JUDD, J. T., CLEVIDENCE, B. A. & TRACY, R. P. 2004. Dietary fatty acids affect plasma markers of inflammation in healthy men fed controlled diets: a randomized crossover study. Am J Clin Nutr, 79, 969-73.
- BARKER, D. J. P., BULL, A. R., OSMOND, C. & SIMMONDS, S. J. 1990. Fetal and Placental Size and Risk of Hypertension in Adult Life. *British Medical Journal*, 301, 259-262.
- BARKER, D. J. P., OSMOND, C., SIMMOND, S. J. & WIELD, G. A. 1993. The relation of small head circumference and thinness at birth to death from cardiovascular disease in adult life. *British Medical Journal*, 306, 422-426.
- BARKER, D. J. P., WINTER, P. D., OSMOND, C., MARGETTS, B. & SIMMONDS, S. J. 1989. WEIGHT IN INFANCY AND DEATH FROM ISCHEMIC HEART-DISEASE. *Lancet*, **2**, 577-580.
- BASSETT, C. M. C., EDEL, A. L., PATENAUDE, A. F., MCCULLOUGH, R. S., BLACKWOOD, D. P., CHOUINARD, P. Y., PAQUIN, P., LAMARCHE, B. & PIERCE, G. N. 2010. Dietary Vaccenic Acid Has Antiatherogenic Effects in LDLr-/- Mice. *Journal of Nutrition*, 140, 18-24.

- BASSETT, C. M. C., MCCULLOUGH, R. S., EDEL, A. L., MADDAFORD, T. G., DIBROV, E., BLACKWOOD, D. P., AUSTRIA, J. A. & PIERCE, G. N. 2009. trans-Fatty acids in the diet stimulate atherosclerosis. *Metabolism*, 58, 1802-1808.
- BAYOL, S. A., FARRINGTON, S. J. & STICKLAND, N. C. 2007. A maternal 'junk food' diet in pregnancy and lactation promotes an exacerbated taste for 'junk food' and a greater propensity for obesity in rat offspring. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 98, 843-851.
- BAYOL, S. A., SIMBI, B. H., BERTRAND, J. A. & STICKLAND, N. C. 2008. Offspring from mothers fed a 'junk food' diet in pregnancy and lactation exhibit exacerbated adiposity that is more pronounced in females. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 586, 3219-3230.
- BAYOL, S. A., SIMBI, B. H., FOWKES, R. C. & STICKLAND, N. C. 2010. A maternal "junk food" diet in pregnancy and lactation promotes nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in rat offspring. *Endocrinology*, 151, 1451-1461.
- BENDSEN, N. T., CHRISTENSEN, R., BARTELS, E. M. & ASTRUP, A. 2011. Consumption of industrial and ruminant trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 65, 773-83.
- BLOCH, K. 1965. The biological synthesis of cholesterol. Science, 150, 19-28.
- BNF. 2018. *Nutrients Food and Ingredients* [Online]. British Nutrition Foundation. Available: <u>https://www.nutrition.org.uk/nutritionscience/nutrients-food-and-ingredients.html</u> [Accessed 21/01/2019].
- BOESTEN, L. S., ZADELAAR, A. S., VAN NIEUWKOOP, A., GIJBELS, M. J., DE WINTHER, M. P., HAVEKES, L. M. & VAN VLIJMEN, B. J. 2005. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes atherosclerotic lesion progression in APOE*3-Leiden transgenic mice. *Cardiovasc Res*, 2005 Apr 1;66(1):179-85.
- BOITO, S. M., LAUDY, J. A., STRUIJK, P. C., STIJNEN, T. & WLADIMIROFF, J. W. 2002. Threedimensional US assessment of hepatic volume, head circumference, and abdominal circumference in healthy and growth-restricted fetuses. *Radiology*, 223, 661-665.
- BOKSLAG, A., VAN WEISSENBRUCH, M., MOL, B. W. & DE GROOT, C. J. 2016. Preeclampsia; short and long-term consequences for mother and neonate. *Early Hum Dev*, 102, 47-50.
- BOS, M. B., DE VRIES, J. H., FESKENS, E. J., VAN DIJK, S. J., HOELEN, D. W., SIEBELINK, E., HEIJLIGENBERG, R. & DE GROOT, L. C. 2010. Effect of a high monounsaturated fatty acids diet and a Mediterranean diet on serum lipids and insulin sensitivity in adults with mild abdominal obesity. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*, 20, 591-8.
- BOURET, S. G. 2010. Role of early hormonal and nutritional experiences in shaping feeding behavior and hypothalamic development. *J Nutr*, 140, 653-7.

- BRAMELD, J. M., FAHEY, A. J., LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. & BUTTERY, P. J. 2003. Nutritional and hormonal control of muscle growth and fat deposition. ARCHIV FUR TIERZUCHT, 46, 143-156.
- BRECKENRIDGE, R. A. 2013. Animal Models for the Study of Human Disease: Chapter 7. Animal Models of Myocardial Disease, Elsevier Inc. Chapters.
- BROUWER, I. A., WANDERS, A. J. & KATAN, M. B. 2013. Trans fatty acids and cardiovascular health: research completed? *Eur J Clin Nutr*.
- BROWN, M. S. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. 1974. Familial hypercholesterolemia: defective binding of lipoproteins to cultured fibroblasts associated with impaired regulation of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 71, 788-792.
- BROWN, M. S. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. 2009a. Cholesterol feedback: from Schoenheimer's bottle to Scap's MELADL. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 50, S15-S27.
- BROWN, M. S. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. 2009b. Cholesterol feedback: from Schoenheimer's bottle to Scap's MELADL. *Journal of lipid research*, 50 Suppl, S15-S27.
- BROWN, N. A., MCCARTHY, A. AND SEO, J. 2007. Development of the Left-Right Axis. *In:* MARSH, D. J. C. A. J. (ed.) *Ciba Foundation Symposium 165 - Postimplantation Development in the Mouse.* Wiley Online Library.
- BZIKOWSKA, A., CZERWONOGRODZKA-SENCZYNA, A., WEKER, H. & WESOLOWSKA, A. 2018. Correlation between human milk composition and maternal nutritional status. *Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig*, 69, 363-367.
- CAMBIEN, F., JACQUESON, A., RICHARD, J. L., WARNET, J. M., DUCIMETIERE, P. & CLAUDE, J. R. 1986. Is the level of serum triglyceride a significant predictor of coronary death in "normocholesterolemic" subjects? The Paris Prospective Study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 124, 624-32.
- CAMPBELL, T. C. 2017. A plant-based diet and animal protein: questioning dietary fat and considering animal protein as the main cause of heart disease. *Journal of geriatric cardiology : JGC*, 14, 331-337.
- CHANG, G.-Q., GAYSINSKAYA, V., KARATAYEV, O. & LEIBOWITZ, S. F. 2008. Maternal High-Fat Diet and Fetal Programming: Increased Proliferation of Hypothalamic Peptide-Producing Neurons That Increase Risk for Overeating and Obesity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 12107-12119.

- CHARDIGNY, J. M., DESTAILLATS, F., MALPUECH-BRUGERE, C., MOULIN, J., BAUMAN, D. E., LOCK, A. L., BARBANO, D. M., MENSINK, R. P., BEZELGUES, J. B., CHAUMONT, P., COMBE, N., CRISTIANI, I., JOFFRE, F., GERMAN, J. B., DIONISI, F., BOIRIE, Y. & SEBEDIO, J. L. 2008. Do trans fatty acids from industrially produced sources and from natural sources have the same effect on cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy subjects? Results of the trans Fatty Acids Collaboration (TRANSFACT) study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87, 558-566.
- CHECHI, K., MCGUIRE, J. J. & CHEEMA, S. K. 2009. Developmental programming of lipid metabolism and aortic vascular function in C57BL/6 mice: a novel study suggesting an involvement of LDL-receptor. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 296, R1029-R1040.
- CHEUNG, P., ALLIS, C. D. & SASSONE-CORSI, P. 2000. Signaling to chromatin through histone modifications. *Cell*, 103, 263-71.
- CHIU, J. J. & CHIEN, S. 2011. Effects of Disturbed Flow on Vascular Endothelium: Pathophysiological Basis and Clinical Perspectives. *Physiological Reviews*, 91, 327-387.
- CHIUVE, S. E., RIMM, E. B., MANSON, J. E., WHANG, W., MOZAFFARIAN, D., STAMPFER, M. J., WILLETT, W. C. & ALBERT, C. M. 2009. Intake of total trans, trans-18:1, and trans-18:2 fatty acids and risk of sudden cardiac death in women. *American Heart Journal*, 158, 761-767.
- CHOI, H. Y., RAHMANI, M., WONG, B. W., ALLAHVERDIAN, S., MCMANUS, B. M., PICKERING, J.
 G., CHAN, T. & FRANCIS, G. A. 2009. ATP-Binding Cassette Transporter A1 Expression and Apolipoprotein A-I Binding Are Impaired in Intima-Type Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells. *Circulation*, 119, 3223-3231.
- CLARK, J. 2009. *Chemiguide: Helping you to understand chemistry*. [Online]. Available: <u>www.chemguide.co.uk</u> [Accessed 30/04/09].
- CLIFTON, P. M. & KEOGH, J. B. 2017. A systematic review of the effect of dietary saturated and polyunsaturated fat on heart disease. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases,* 27, 1060-1080.
- COHEN, J. F., RIFAS-SHIMAN, S. L., RIMM, E. B., OKEN, E. & GILLMAN, M. W. 2011. Maternal trans fatty acid intake and fetal growth. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 94, 1241-7.
- CURHAN, G. C., CHERTOW, G. M., WILLETT, W. C., SPIEGELMAN, D., COLDITZ, G. A., MANSON, J. E., SPEIZER, F. E. & STAMPFER, M. J. 1996a. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. *Circulation*, 94, 1310-5.
- CURHAN, G. C., WILLETT, W. C., RIMM, E. B., SPIEGELMAN, D., ASCHERIO, A. L. & STAMPFER, M. J. 1996b. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. *Circulation*, 94, 3246-50.

- DANIELS, S. R. 2008. Atherosclerosis. *Heart Disease in Infants, Young Children and Adolscents.* Moss and Adams.
- DAWBER, T. R., KANNEL, W. B., REVOTSKIE, N., STOKES, J., KAGAN, A. & GORDON, T. 1959. Some Factors Associated with the Development of Coronary Heart Disease—Six Years' Follow-Up Experience in the Framingham Study. *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health*, 49, 1349-1356.
- DE CASTRO-ORÓS, I., POCOVÍ, M. & CIVEIRA, F. 2010. The genetic basis of familial hypercholesterolemia: inheritance, linkage, and mutations. *The application of clinical genetics*, 3, 53-64.
- DE ROOIJ, S. R., PAINTER, R. C., PHILLIPS, D. I., OSMOND, C., MICHELS, R. P., GODSLAND, I. F., BOSSUYT, P. M., BLEKER, O. P. & ROSEBOOM, T. J. 2006a. Impaired insulin secretion after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. *Diabetes Care*, 29, 1897-901.
- DE ROOIJ, S. R., PAINTER, R. C., ROSEBOOM, T. J., PHILLIPS, D. I., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J., TANCK, M. W., MICHELS, R. P., BOSSUYT, P. M. & BLEKER, O. P. 2006b. Glucose tolerance at age 58 and the decline of glucose tolerance in comparison with age 50 in people prenatally exposed to the Dutch famine. *Diabetologia*, 49, 637-43.
- DE ROOS, B., DUIVENVOORDEN, I., TEUSINK, B., PICKARD, K. & HAVEKES, L. M. 2003. 4P-0937 Effects of dietary fatty acids on lipoprotein metabolism and changes in hepatic protein levels in apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden transgenic mice. *Atherosclerosis Supplements*, 4, 279-280.
- DECSI, T. & BOEHM, G. 2013. trans Isomeric fatty acids are inversely related to the availability of long-chain PUFAs in the perinatal period. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 98, 543S-548S.
- DELHAES, F., GIZA, S. A., KOREMAN, T., EASTABROOK, G., MCKENZIE, C. A., BEDELL, S., REGNAULT, T. R. H. & DE VRIJER, B. 2018. Altered maternal and placental lipid metabolism and fetal fat development in obesity: Current knowledge and advances in non-invasive assessment. *Placenta*, 69, 118-124.
- DELPLANQUE, B., GIBSON, R., KOLETZKO, B., LAPILLONNE, A. & STRANDVIK, B. 2015. Lipid Quality in Infant Nutrition: Current Knowledge and Future Opportunities. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*, 61, 8-17.
- DH 2010. Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health in England. *In:* HEALTH, D. O. (ed.). HMSO.
- DH 2011. Diet and Nutrition Survery of Infants and Young Children, 2011. *In:* LENNOX, A., J. SOMMERVILLE, K. ONG, H. HENDERSON AND R. ALLEN. (ed.) *National Diet and Nutrition Survey*. London: Department of Health and Food Standards Agency.

- DH 2012a. Headline results from Years 1, 2 and 3 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 - 2010/11). *In:* BATES, B., A. LENNOX, A. PRENTICE, C. BATES AND G. SWAN (ed.) *National Diet and Nutrition Survey* London: Department of Health and Food Standards Agency.
- DH 2012b. Headline results from Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 2011/2012). *National Diet and Nutrition Survey.* London: Public Health England and Food Standards Agnecy.
- DH 2012c. The Public Health Outcomes Framework for England, 2013-2016. *In:* DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, P. H. E. (ed.). London: Department of Health.
- DH (ed.) 2014a. *Headline results from Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 2011/2012),* London: Public Health England.
- DH 2014b. Living Well for Longer. *In:* DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, P. H. E. (ed.) *National Support for Local Action to Reduce Premature Avoidable Mortality.* Whitehall, London: Crown.
- DH 2014c. National Diet and Nutrition Survey rolling Programme Years 1-4 (2008/09-201/12). *In:* BATES, B., LENNOX, A., PRENTICE, A., BATES, C., PAGE, P., NICHOLSON, S. & SWAN, G. (eds.) *Obesity and Health.* London: Public Health England.
- DH 2015. Living Well for Longer: One year on. *In:* DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, P. H. E. (ed.). London: Crown copyright.
- DIETSCHY, J. M., TURLEY, S. D. & SPADY, D. K. 1993. Role of liver in the maintenance of cholesterol and low density lipoprotein homeostasis in different animal species, including humans. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 34, 1637-59.
- DONG, M., ZHENG, Q., FORD, S. P., NATHANIELSZ, P. W. & REN, J. 2013. Maternal obesity, lipotoxicity and cardiovascular diseases in offspring. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 55, 111-116.
- DONNELLY, K. B. 2008. Cardiac Valvular Pathology: Comparative Pathology and Animal Models of Acquired Cardiac Valvular Diseases. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 36, 204-217.
- DREWES, T., SENKEL, S., HOLEWA, B. & RYFFEL, G. U. 1996. Human hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 isoforms are encoded by distinct and differentially expressed genes. 16, 925-931.
- EC 2015. Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council regarding trans fats in foods and in the overall diet of the Union population. Brussels, Belgium: EU Commission.
- ELIAS, S. L. & INNIS, S. M. 2001. Infant plasma trans, n-6, and n-3 fatty acids and conjugated linoleic acids are related to maternal plasma fatty acids, length of gestation, and birth weight and length. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 73, 807-814.

- ENDO, A. 2010. A historical perspective on the discovery of statins. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Series B, Physical and biological sciences,* 86, 484-493.
- ENDO, A., KURODA, M. & TANZAWA, K. 1976. Competitive inhibition of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase by ML-236A and ML-236B fungal metabolites, having hypocholesterolemic activity. *FEBS Lett*, 72, 323-6.
- ENJALBERT, F., AND TROEGELER-MEYNADIER, A. 2009. Biosynthesis of *Trans* fatty acids in ruminants. *In:* FREDERIC DESTAILLATS., J. L. S., FABIOLA DIONISI AND JEAN MICHEL CHARDIGNY (ed.) *Trans Fatty Acids in Human Nurtrition.* Second ed. Dridgewater, UK: The Oily Press An imprint of PJ Barnes & Associates.
- ENKE, U., JAUDSZUS, A., SCHLEUSSNER, E., SEYFARTH, L., JAHREIS, G. & KUHNT, K. 2011. Fatty acid distribution of cord and maternal blood in human pregnancy: special focus on individual trans fatty acids and conjugated linoleic acids. *Lipids in health and disease*, 10, 247-247.
- ERIKSSON, J., FORSEN, T., TUOMILEHTO, J., OSMOND, C. & BARKER, D. 2001a. Size at birth, childhood growth and obesity in adult life. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 25, 735-40.
- ERIKSSON, J. G., FORSEN, T., TUOMILEHTO, J., OSMOND, C. & BARKER, D. J. 2001b. Early growth and coronary heart disease in later life: longitudinal study. *Bmj*, 322, 949-53.
- ERIKSSON, J. G., FORSEN, T., TUOMILEHTO, J., WINTER, P. D., OSMOND, C. & BARKER, D. J. 1999. Catch-up growth in childhood and death from coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. *Bmj*, 318, 427-31.
- EVENHOUSE, E. & REILLY, S. 2005. Improved Estimates of the Benefits of Breastfeeding Using Sibling Comparisons to Reduce Selection Bias. *Health Services Research*, 40, 1781-1802.
- FAN, L., LINDSLEY, S. R., COMSTOCK, S. M., TAKAHASHI, D. L., EVANS, A. E., HE, G. W., THORNBURG, K. L. & GROVE, K. L. 2013. Maternal high-fat diet impacts endothelial function in nonhuman primate offspring. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 37, 254-62.
- FINKING, G. & HANKE, H. 1997. Nikolaj Nikolajewitsch Anitschkow (1885–1964) established the cholesterol-fed rabbit as a model for atherosclerosis research. *Atherosclerosis*, 135, 1-7.
- FLICK, A. A., BROOKFIELD, K. F., DE LA TORRE, L., TUDELA, C. M., DUTHELY, L. & GONZALEZ-QUINTERO, V. H. 2010. Excessive weight gain among obese women and pregnancy outcomes. *Am J Perinatol*, 27, 333-8.
- FORBES, T. R. & TAKU, E. 1975. Vein size in intact and hysterectomized mice during the estrous cycle and pregnancy. *Anat Rec*, 182, 61-5.

- FRAYN, K. 2010. *Metabolic Regulation : A Human Perspective (3rd Edition),* Hoboken, NJ, USA, Wiley-Blackwell.
- FREDRICKSON, D. S., LEVY, R. I. & LEES, R. S. 1967. Fat Transport in Lipoproteins—An Integrated Approach to Mechanisms and Disorders. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 276, 273-281.
- FUKE, G. & NORNBERG, J. L. 2017. Systematic evaluation on the effectiveness of conjugated linoleic acid in human health. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 57, 1-7.
- GADEMAN, M. G. J., VERMEULEN, M., OOSTVOGELS, A. J. J. M., ROSEBOOM, T. J., VISSCHER, T.
 L. S., VAN EIJSDEN, M., TWICKLER, M. T. B. & VRIJKOTTE, T. G. M. 2014. Maternal prepregancy BMI and lipid profile during early pregnancy are independently associated with offspring's body composition at age 5-6 years: the ABCD study. *PloS one*, 9, e94594-e94594.
- GAILLARD, R., DURMUŞ, B., HOFMAN, A., MACKENBACH, J. P., STEEGERS, E. A. P. & JADDOE, V.
 W. V. 2013. Risk factors and outcomes of maternal obesity and excessive weight gain during pregnancy. *Obesity*, 21, 1046-1055.
- GDALEVICH, M., MIMOUNI, D. & MIMOUNI, M. 2001. Breast-feeding and the risk of bronchial asthma in childhood: a systematic review with meta-analysis of prospective studies. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 139, 261-266.
- GEBAUER, S. K., DESTAILLATS, F., DIONISI, F., KRAUSS, R. M. & BAER, D. J. 2015. Vaccenic acid and trans fatty acid isomers from partially hydrogenated oil both adversely affect LDL cholesterol: a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 102, 1339-46.
- GERMAN, J. B., GIBSON, R. A., KRAUSS, R. M., NESTEL, P., LAMARCHE, B., VAN STAVEREN, W. A., STEIJNS, J. M., DE GROOT, L., LOCK, A. L. & DESTAILLATS, F. 2009. A reappraisal of the impact of dairy foods and milk fat on cardiovascular disease risk. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 48, 191-203.
- GETZ, G. S. & REARDON, C. A. 2012. Animal Models of Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 32, 1104-1115.
- GHOSH, P., BITSANIS, D., GHEBREMESKEL, K., CRAWFORD, M. A. & POSTON, L. 2001. Abnormal aortic fatty acid composition and small artery function in offspring of rats fed a high fat diet in pregnancy. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 533, 815-822.
- GIJBELS, M. J. J., VAN DER CAMMEN, M., VAN DER LAAN, L. J. W., EMEIS, J. J., HAVEKES, L. M., HOFKER, M. H. & KRAAL, G. 1999. Progression and regression of atherosclerosis in APOE3-Leiden transgenic mice: an immunohistochemical study. *Atherosclerosis*, 143, 15-25.

- GILLMAN, M. W. 2005. Developmental origins of health and disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 353, 1848-1850.
- GOFMAN, J. W., DELALLA, O., GLAZIER, F., FREEMAN, N. K., LINDGREN, F. T., NICHOLS, A. V., STRISOWER, B. & TAMPLIN, A. R. 2007. The serum lipoprotein transport system in health, metabolic disorders, atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease. *Journal of Clinical Lipidology*, **1**, 104-141.
- GOFMAN, J. W., LINDGREN, F. T. & ELLIOTT, H. 1949. Ultracentrifugal Studies of Lipoproteins of Human Serum. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 176, 973-979.
- GOHARKHAY, N., SBRANA, E., GAMBLE, P. K., TAMAYO, E. H., BETANCOURT, A., VILLARREAL, K., HANKINS, G. D. V., SAADE, G. R. & LONGO, M. 2007. Characterization of a murine model of fetal programming of atherosclerosis. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 197, 416.e1-416.e5.
- GOLDBERG, A. D., ALLIS, C. D. & BERNSTEIN, E. 2007. Epigenetics: a landscape takes shape. *Cell*, 128, 635-638.
- GOLDSTEIN, J. L. & BROWN, M. S. 1977. Atherosclerosis: The low-density lipoprotein receptor hypothesis. *Metabolism*, 26, 1257-1275.
- GOLDSTEIN, JOSEPH L. & BROWN, MICHAEL S. 2015. A Century of Cholesterol and Coronaries: From Plaques to Genes to Statins. *Cell*, 161, 161-172.
- GOLDSTEIN, J. L., DEBOSE-BOYD, R. A. & BROWN, M. S. 2006. Protein Sensors for Membrane Sterols. *Cell*, 124, 35-46.
- GORDON, T., CASTELLI, W. P., HJORTLAND, M. C., KANNEL, W. B. & DAWBER, T. R. 1977. High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. *Am J Med*, 62, 707-14.
- GOTTO, A. M. 1992. Hypertriglyceridemia: Risks and perspectives. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 70, H19-H25.
- GREENWOOD, P. L. & BELL, A. W. 2003. Consequences of intra-uterine growth retardation for postnatal growth, metabolism and pathophysiology. *Reprod Suppl*, 61, 195-206.
- GREGORIO, B. M., SOUZA-MELLO, V., CARVALHO, J. J., MANDARIM-DE-LACERDA, C. A. & AGUILA, M. B. 2010. Maternal high-fat intake predisposes nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in C57BL/6 offspring. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*, 203, 495. e1-495. e8.
- GROOT, P. H. E., VANVLIJMEN, B. J. M., BENSON, G. M., HOFKER, M. H., SCHIFFELERS, R., VIDGEONHART, M. & HAVEKES, L. M. 1996. Quantitative assessment of aortic atherosclerosis in APOE*3 Leiden transgenic mice and its relationship to serum cholesterol exposure. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, 16, 926-933.
- GUGUSHEFF, J. R., VITHAYATHIL, M., ONG, Z. Y. & MUHLHAUSLER, B. S. 2013. The effects of prenatal exposure to a 'junk food' diet on offspring food preferences and fat deposition can be mitigated by improved nutrition during lactation. *J Dev Orig Health Dis*, **4**, 348-57.
- GURR, M. I., HARWOOD, J. L., AND FRAYN, K. N. (ed.) 2016. *Lipids : biology and health,* Chichester : : Wiley Blackwell.
- HAN, S. N., LEKA, L. S., LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., AUSMAN, L. M., SCHAEFER, E. J. & MEYDANI, S. N.
 2002. Effect of hydrogenated and saturated, relative to polyunsaturated, fat on immune and inflammatory responses of adults with moderate hypercholesterolemia. *J Lipid Res*, 43, 445-52.
- HANSON, M. A. & GLUCKMAN, P. D. 2014. Early developmental conditioning of later health and disease: physiology or pathophysiology? *Physiol Rev*, 94, 1027-76.
- HANSSON, G. K. 2005. Mechanisms of disease Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 352, 1685-1695.
- HAWKINS, P., STEYN, C., MCGARRIGLE, H. H., CALDER, N. A., SAITO, T., STRATFORD, L. L., NOAKES, D. E. & HANSONA, M. A. 2000. Cardiovascular and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis development in late gestation fetal sheep and young lambs following modest maternal nutrient restriction in early gestation. *Reprod Fertil Dev*, 12, 443-56.
- HERNANDEZ, E. M. A. K.-E., A. 2013. *Institute of Food Technologists Series : Processing and Nutrition of Fats and Oils,* Somerset, NJ, USA, John Wiley & Sons.
- HERRERA, E. & ORTEGA-SENOVILLA, H. 2014. Lipid metabolism during pregnancy and its implications for fetal growth. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol*, 15, 24-31.
- HOFKER, M. H., VAN REE, J. H., VAN VLIJMEN, B. J. M., VAN DEN BROEK, W. J. A. A., WIERINGA, B., GROOT, P. H. E., FRANTS, R. R. & HAVEKES, L. M. 1994. Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis in transgenic mice with an altered APOE expression is influenced by gender, age, diet and gene dosage. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 55, A342.
- HOLMAN, R. T., JOHNSON, S. B. & OGBURN, P. L. 1991. Deficiency of essential fatty acids and membrane fluidity during pregnancy and lactation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 88, 4835-4839.
- HOME_OFFICE 1986. Animal (Scientifc Procedures) Act. London: Home Office.

- HORNSTRA, G., VAN EIJSDEN, M., DIRIX, C. & BONSEL, G. 2006. Trans fatty acids and birth outcome: Some first results of the MEFAB and ABCD cohorts. *Atherosclerosis Supplements*, 7, 21-23.
- HOUWELINGEN, A. C. V. & HORNSTRA, G. 1994. Trans fatty acids in early human development. *World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics; Fatty acids and lipids: Biological aspects*, 175-178.
- HUTH, P. J. 2007. Do ruminant <I>trans</I> fatty acids impact coronary heart disease risk? *Lipid Technology*, 19, 59-62.
- INNIS, S. M. 2006. Trans fatty intakes during pregnancy, infancy and early childhood. *Atherosclerosis Supplements*, **7**, 17-20.
- INNIS, S. M. 2007. Dietary lipids in early development: relevance to obesity, immune and inflammatory disorders. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*, 14, 359-64.
- JACOBS, D. R., JR., MEBANE, I. L., BANGDIWALA, S. I., CRIQUI, M. H., TYROLER, H. A. & PROGRAM, F. T. L. R. C. 1990. High density lipoprotein cholesterol as a predictor of cardiovascular disease mortality in men and women: The follow-up study of the lipid research clinics prevalence study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 131, 32-47.
- JACOME-SOSA, M. M., BORTHWICK, F., MANGAT, R., UWIERA, R., REANEY, M. J., SHEN, J., QUIROGA, A. D., JACOBS, R. L., LEHNER, R., PROCTOR, S. D. & NELSON, R. C. 2014. Diets enriched in trans-11 vaccenic acid alleviate ectopic lipid accumulation in a rat model of NAFLD and metabolic syndrome. J Nutr Biochem, 25, 692-701.
- JACOME-SOSA, M. M., LU, J., WANG, Y., RUTH, M. R., WRIGHT, D. C., REANEY, M. J., SHEN, J., FIELD, C. J., VINE, D. F. & PROCTOR, S. D. 2010. Increased hypolipidemic benefits of cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid in combination with trans-11 vaccenic acid in a rodent model of the metabolic syndrome, the JCR:LA-cp rat. Nutr Metab (Lond), 7, 60.
- JANSSON, T. & POWELL, T. L. 2006. Human Placental Transport in Altered Fetal Growth: Does the Placenta Function as a Nutrient Sensor? – A Review. *Placenta*, 27, 91-97.
- JENUWEIN, T. & ALLIS, C. D. 2001. Translating the histone code. *Science*, 293, 1074-80.
- JOSEPH, A., BOXMAN, J., COHEN, R. V., REIF, S. & KLEMENT, E. 2004. Breastfeeding and risk of inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 80, 1342-1352.
- KADYROV, N., KOSANKE, G., KINGDOM, J. & KAUFMANN, P. 1998. Increased fetoplacental angiogenesis during first trimester in anaemic women. *The Lancet*, 352, 1747-1749.

- KAJANTIE, E., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J. P., FORSEN, T., PHILLIPS, D. I. W. & ERIKSSON, J. G. 2005. Size at birth as a predictor of mortality in adulthood: a follow-up of 350 000 person-years. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 34, 655-663.
- KANNEL, W. B., DAWBER, T. R., KAGAN, A., REVOTSKIE, N. & STOKES, J., 3RD 1961. Factors of risk in the development of coronary heart disease--six year follow-up experience. The Framingham Study. *Ann Intern Med*, 55, 33-50.
- KAVANAGH, K., SAJADIAN, S., JENKINS, K. A., WILSON, M. D., CARR, J. J., WAGNER, J. D. & RUDEL, L. L. 2010. Neonatal and fetal exposure to trans-fatty acids retards early growth and adiposity while adversely affecting glucose in mice. *Nutrition Research*, 30, 418-426.
- KEESEY, R. E. & HIRVONEN, M. D. 1997. Body weight set-points: determination and adjustment. *J Nutr*, 127, 1875s-1883s.
- KELLER, G., ZIMMER, G., MALL, G., RITZ, E. & AMANN, K. 2003. Nephron number in patients with primary hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348, 101-108.
- KEYS, A., ANDERSON, J. T. & GRANDE, F. 1965a. Serum cholesterol response to changes in the diet: II. The effect of cholesterol in the diet. *Metabolism*, 14, 759-65.
- KEYS, A., ANDERSON, J. T. & GRANDE, F. 1965b. Serum cholesterol response to changes in the diet: IV. Particular saturated fatty acids in the diet. *Metabolism*, 14, 776-87.
- KEYS, A., KIMURA, N., KUSUKAWA, A., BRONTE-STEWART, B., LARSEN, N. & KEYS, M. H. 1958. Lessons from serum cholesterol studies in Japan, Hawaii and Los Angeles. *Ann Intern Med*, 48, 83-94.
- KEYS, A., MENOTTI, A., KARVONEN, M. J., ARAVANIS, C., BLACKBURN, H., BUZINA, R., DJORDJEVIC, B. S., DONTAS, A. S., FIDANZA, F., KEYS, M. H. & ET AL. 1986. The diet and 15-year death rate in the seven countries study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 124, 903-15.
- KHALIL, M. F., WAGNER, W. D. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 2004. Molecular Interactions Leading to Lipoprotein Retention and the Initiation of Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology,* 24, 2211-2218.
- KHAN, I. Y., DEKOU, V., DOUGLAS, G., JENSEN, R., HANSON, M. A., POSTON, L. & TAYLOR, P. D. 2005. A high-fat diet during rat pregnancy or suckling induces cardiovascular dysfunction in adult offspring. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative* and Comparative Physiology, 288, R127-R133.
- KHETARPAL, S. A. & RADER, D. J. 2015. Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins and Coronary Artery Disease Risk. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 35, e3-e9.

- KIND, K. L., CLIFTON, P. M., GRANT, P. A., OWENS, P. C., SOHLSTROM, A., ROBERTS, C. T., ROBINSON, J. S. & OWENS, J. A. 2003. Effect of maternal feed restriction during pregnancy on glucose tolerance in the adult guinea pig. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 284, R140-R152.
- KIND, K. L., CLIFTON, P. M., KATSMAN, A. I., TSIOUNIS, M., ROBINSON, J. S. & OWENS, J. A.
 1999. Restricted fetal growth and the response to dietary cholesterol in the guinea pig. *Am J Physiol*, 277, R1675-82.
- KIND, K. L., SIMONETTA, G., CLIFTON, P. M., ROBINSON, J. S. & OWENS, J. A. 2002. Effect of maternal feed restriction on blood pressure in the adult guinea pig. *Exp Physiol*, 87, 469-77.
- KINGSBURY, K. J. & BONDY, G. 2003. Understanding the Essentials of Blood Lipid Metabolism. *Progress in Cardiovascular Nursing*, 18, 13-18.
- KLEEMANN, R., VERSCHUREN, L., VAN ERK, M. J., NIKOLSKY, Y., CNUBBEN, N. H. P., VERHEIJ, E. R., SMILDE, A. K., HENDRIKS, H. F. J., ZADELAAR, S., SMITH, G. J., KAZNACHEEV, V., NIKOLSKAYA, T., MELNIKOV, A., HURT-CAMEJO, E., VAN DER GREEF, J., VAN OMMEN, B. & KOOISTRA, T. 2007. Atherosclerosis and liver inflammation induced by increased dietary cholesterol intake: a combined transcriptomics and metabolomics analysis. *Genome Biology*, 8.
- KOLETZKO, B., BRANDS, B., POSTON, L., GODFREY, K., DEMMELMAIR, H. & EARLY NUTRITION, P.
 2012. Early nutrition programming of long-term health. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 71, 371-378.
- KOLETZKO, B. & MULLER, J. 1990. Cis- and trans-isomeric fatty acids in plasma lipids of newborn infants and their mothers. *Biol Neonate*, 57, 172-8.
- KOLETZKO, B., THIEL, I. & ABIODUN, P. O. 1992. The fatty acid composition of human milk in Europe and Africa. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 120, S62-S70.
- KOMATSUZAKI, N., EDA, A., KAMEOKA, R. & NAKASHIMA, Y. 2013. Effects of Intake of Maternal Dietary Elaidic Acids during Pregnancy and Lactation on the Fatty Acid Composition of Plasma, Erythrocyte Membrane, and Brain in Rat Pups. *Journal of nutrition and metabolism*, 2013, 701818-701818.
- KOOISTRA, T., VERSCHUREN, L., DE VRIES-VAN DER WEIJ, J., KOENIG, W., TOET, K., PRINCEN, H.
 & KLEEMANN, R. 2006. Fenofibrate Reduces Atherogenesis in ApoE* 3Leiden Mice Evidence for Multiple Antiatherogenic Effects Besides Lowering Plasma Cholesterol. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology,* 26, 2322-2330.

- KOPPE, S. W. P., ELIAS, M., MOSELEY, R. H. & GREEN, R. M. 2009. Trans fat feeding results in higher serum alanine aminotransferase and increased insulin resistance compared with a standard murine high-fat diet. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 297, G378-G384.
- KOUKKOU, E., GHOSH, P., LOWY, C. & POSTON, L. 1998. Offspring of normal and diabetic rats fed saturated fat in pregnancy demonstrate vascular dysfunction. *Circulation*, 98, 2899-2904.
- KOUZARIDES, T. 2007. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell, 128, 693-705.
- KRAFT, J., SPILTOIR, J. I., SALTER, A. M. & LOCK, A. L. 2011. Differential effects of the trans-18:1 isomer profile of partially hydrogenated vegetable oils on cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism in male F1B hamsters. J Nutr, 141, 1819-26.
- KRITCHEVSKY, D., TEPPER, S. A., WRIGHT, S., CZARNECKI, S. K., WILSON, T. A. & NICOLOSI, R. J. 2004. Conjugated linoleic acid isomer effects in atherosclerosis: growth and regression of lesions. *Lipids*, 39, 611-6.
- KRITCHEVSKY, D., TEPPER, S. A., WRIGHT, S., TSO, P. & CZARNECKI, S. K. 2000. Influence of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) on establishment and progression of atherosclerosis in rabbits. J Am Coll Nutr, 19, 472s-477s.
- KUHNT, K., KRAFT, J., MOECKEL, P. & JAHREIS, G. 2006. Trans-11-18 : 1 is effectively Delta9desaturated compared with trans-12-18 : 1 in humans. *Br J Nutr*, 95, 752-61.
- LAITINEN, J., POWER, C. & JARVELIN, M. R. 2001. Family social class, maternal body mass index, childhood body mass index, and age at menarche as predictors of adult obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 74, 287-94.
- LANGENVELD, J., LU, F., BYTAUTIENE, E., ANDERSON, G. D., SAADE, G. R. & LONGO, M. 2008. In utero programming of adult vascular function in transgenic mice lacking low-density lipoprotein receptor. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 199, 165.e1-165.e5.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2000. Critical differences between two low protein diet protocols in the programming of hypertension in the rat. *Int J Food Sci Nutr*, 51, 11-7.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2001. Fetal programming of cardiovascular function through exposure to maternal undernutrition. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society,* 60, 505-513.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2009. Nutritional programming of disease: unravelling the mechanism. *Journal of Anatomy*, 215, 36-51.

- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2013. Fetal programming of CVD and renal disease: animal models and mechanistic considerations. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society,* FirstView, 1-9
- M3 10.1017/S0029665112003035.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2015. Nutrition in early life and the programming of adult disease: a review. *J Hum Nutr Diet*, 28 Suppl 1, 1-14.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. & MCMULLEN, S. 2010. Developmental Origins of Adult Disease. *Medical Principles and Practice*, 19, 87-98.
- LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C., WELHAM, S. J. & JACKSON, A. A. 1999. Fetal exposure to a maternal low protein diet impairs nephrogenesis and promotes hypertension in the rat. *Life Sci*, 64, 965-74.
- LANGLEY, S. C. & JACKSON, A. A. 1994. Increased systolic blood pressure in adult rats induced by fetal exposure to maternal low protein diets. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 86, 217-22; discussion 121.
- LARQUE, E., ZAMORA, S. & GIL, A. 2000. Dietary trans fatty acids affect the essential fatty-acid concentration of rat milk. *J Nutr*, 130, 847-51.
- LARQUE, E., ZAMORA, S. & GIL, A. 2001. Dietary trans fatty acids in early life: a review. *Early Human Development*, 65, S31-S41.
- LEE, S. D. & TONTONOZ, P. 2015. Liver X receptors at the intersection of lipid metabolism and atherogenesis. *Atherosclerosis*, 242, 29-36.
- LI, C., JENKINS, S., CONSIDINE, M. M., COX, L. A., GEROW, K. G., HUBER, H. F. & NATHANIELSZ, P.
 W. 2019. Effect of maternal obesity on fetal and postnatal baboon (Papio species) early life phenotype. J Med Primatol, 48, 90-98.
- LI, J., HU, S. B., HE, Y. M., ZHUO, C. F., ZHOU, R. L., CHEN, F., LI, H. Y. & DENG, Z. Y. 2018. 9c11tCLA modulates 11t18:1 and 9t18:1 induced inflammations differently in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Sci Rep*, 8, 1535.
- LIANG, C., OEST, M. E. & PRATER, M. R. 2009. Intrauterine Exposure to High Saturated Fat Diet Elevates Risk of Adult-Onset Chronic Dirseases in C57BL/6 Mice. *Birth Defects Research Part B-Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology*, 86, 377-384.
- LIBBY, P. 2002. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 420, 868-874.
- LIBBY, P., RIDKER, P. M. & HANSSON, G. K. 2009. Inflammation in Atherosclerosis: From Pathophysiology to Practice. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 54, 2129-2138.

- LIBBY, P., RIDKER, P. M. & MASERI, A. 2002. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 105, 1135-1143.
- LICHTENSTEIN, A. H. 1998. Trans fatty acids and blood lipid levels, Lp(a), parameters of cholesterol metabolism, and hemostatic factors. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 9, 244-248.
- LILLYCROP, K. A., PHILLIPS, E. S., JACKSON, A. A., HANSON, M. A. & BURDGE, G. C. 2005. Dietary Protein Restriction of Pregnant Rats Induces and Folic Acid Supplementation Prevents Epigenetic Modification of Hepatic Gene Expression in the Offspring. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 135, 1382-1386.
- LLOYD, L. J., FOSTER, T., RHODES, P., RHIND, S. M. & GARDNER, D. S. 2012. Protein-energy malnutrition during early gestation in sheep blunts fetal renal vascular and nephron development and compromises adult renal function. *The Journal of physiology*, 590, 377-393.
- LOCK, A. L., HORNE, C. A. M., BAUMAN, D. E. & SALTER, A. M. 2005. Butter naturally enriched in conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid alters tissue fatty acids and improves the plasma lipoprotein profile in cholesterol-fed hamsters. *Journal of Nutrition*, 135, 1934-1939.
- LOPEZ-GARCIA, E., SCHULZE, M. B., MEIGS, J. B., MANSON, J. E., RIFAI, N., STAMPFER, M. J., WILLETT, W. C. & HU, F. B. 2005. Consumption of trans fatty acids is related to plasma biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. *J Nutr*, 135, 562-6.
- LOPUHAA, C. E., ROSEBOOM, T. J., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J., RAVELLI, A. C., BLEKER, O. P., VAN DER ZEE, J. S. & VAN DER MEULEN, J. H. 2000. Atopy, lung function, and obstructive airways disease after prenatal exposure to famine. *Thorax*, 55, 555-61.
- LUMEY, L., STEIN, A. D., KAHN, H. S., VAN DER PAL-DE BRUIN, K. M., BLAUW, G., ZYBERT, P. A. & SUSSER, E. S. 2007. Cohort profile: the Dutch Hunger Winter families study. *International journal of epidemiology*, 36, 1196-1204.
- LUMEY, L. H. 1998. Compensatory placental growth after restricted maternal nutrition in early pregnancy. *Placenta*, 19, 105-11.
- LUSIS, A. J. 2000. Atherosclerosis. Nature, 407, 233-241.
- MADSEN, C., DAGNÆS-HANSEN, F., MØLLER, J. & FALK, E. 2003. Hypercholesterolemia in pregnant mice does not affect atherosclerosis in adult offspring. *Atherosclerosis*, 168, 221-228.
- MAHMOOD, S. S., LEVY, D., VASAN, R. S. & WANG, T. J. 2014. The Framingham Heart Study and the epidemiology of cardiovascular disease: a historical perspective. *Lancet (London, England),* 383, 999-1008.

- MANNINEN, V., TENKANEN, L., KOSKINEN, P., HUTTUNEN, J. K., MÄNTTÄRI, M., HEINONEN, O.
 P. & FRICK, M. H. 1992. Joint effects of serum triglyceride and LDL cholesterol and HDL cholesterol concentrations on coronary heart disease risk in the Helsinki Heart Study. Implications for treatment. *Circulation*, 85, 37-45.
- MANTTARI, M., ELO, O., FRICK, M. H., HAAPA, K., HEINONEN, O. P., HEINSALMI, P., HELO, P., HUTTUNEN, J. K., KAITANIEMI, P., KOSKINEN, P. & ET AL. 1987. The Helsinki Heart Study: basic design and randomization procedure. *Eur Heart J*, 8 Suppl I, 1-29.
- MASSBERG, S., BRAND, K., GRUNER, S., PAGE, S., MULLER, E., MULLER, I., BERGMEIER, W., RICHTER, T., LORENZ, M., KONRAD, I., NIESWANDT, B. & GAWAZ, M. 2002. A critical role of platelet adhesion in the initiation of atherosclerotic lesion formation. *J Exp Med*, 196, 887-96.
- MAZZOCCHI, A., D'ORIA, V., DE COSMI, V., BETTOCCHI, S., MILANI, G. P., SILANO, M. & AGOSTONI, C. 2018. The Role of Lipids in Human Milk and Infant Formulae. *Nutrients*, 10.
- MCCURDY, C. E., BISHOP, J. M., WILLIAMS, S. M., GRAYSON, B. E., SMITH, M. S., FRIEDMAN, J. E. & GROVE, K. L. 2009. Maternal high-fat diet triggers lipotoxicity in the fetal livers of nonhuman primates. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 119, 323-335.
- MCMULLEN, S. & MOSTYN, A. 2009. Animal models for the study of the developmental origins of health and disease: Workshop on 'Nutritional models of the developmental origins of adult health and disease'. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 68, 306-320.
- MENNITTI, L. V., OLIVEIRA, J. L., MORAIS, C. A., ESTADELLA, D., OYAMA, L. M., OLLER DO NASCIMENTO, C. M. & PISANI, L. P. 2015. Type of fatty acids in maternal diets during pregnancy and/or lactation and metabolic consequences of the offspring. J Nutr Biochem, 26, 99-111.
- MENSINK, R. P. & KATAN, M. B. 1990. Effect of dietary trans fatty acids on high-density and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels in healthy subjects. *N Engl J Med*, 323, 439-45.
- MENSINK, R. P., ZOCK, P. L., KESTER, A. D. & KATAN, M. B. 2003. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 77, 1146-55.
- MEYER, B. J., STEWART, F. M., BROWN, E. A., COONEY, J., NILSSON, S., OLIVECRONA, G., RAMSAY, J. E., GRIFFIN, B. A., CASLAKE, M. J. & FREEMAN, D. J. 2013. Maternal obesity is associated with the formation of small dense LDL and hypoadiponectinemia in the third trimester. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 98, 643-52.
- MONE, S. M., GILLMAN, M. W., MILLER, T. L., HERMAN, E. H. & LIPSHULTZ, S. E. 2004. Effects of environmental exposures on the cardiovascular system: prenatal period through adolescence. *Pediatrics*, 113, 1058-69.

- MOTARD-BELANGER, A., CHAREST, A., GRENIER, G., PAQUIN, P., CHOUINARD, Y., LEMIEUX, S., COUTURE, P. & LAMARCHE, B. 2008. Study of the effect of trans fatty acids from ruminants on blood lipids and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87, 593-599.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. 2006. Trans fatty acids Effects on systemic inflammation and endothelial function. *Atherosclerosis Supplements*, **7**, 29-32.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D., ARO, A. & WILLETT, W. C. 2009. Health effects of trans-fatty acids: experimental and observational evidence. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, S5-S21.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. & CLARKE, R. 2009. Quantitative effects on cardiovascular risk factors and coronary heart disease risk of replacing partially hydrogenated vegetable oils with other fats and oils. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, S22-S33.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D., KATAN, M. B., ASCHERIO, A., STAMPFER, M. J. & WILLETT, W. C. 2006. Medical progress - Trans fatty acids and cardiovascular disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 354, 1601-1613.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D., MICHA, R. & WALLACE, S. 2010. Effects on coronary heart disease of increasing polyunsaturated fat in place of saturated fat: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS medicine*, 7, e1000252.
- MUELLER, A., THIJS, C., RIST, L., SIMOES-WUST, A. P., HUBER, M. & STEINHART, H. 2010. Trans fatty acids in human milk are an indicator of different maternal dietary sources containing trans fatty acids. *Lipids*, 45, 245-51.
- MYATT, L. 2006. Placental adaptive responses and fetal programming. *The Journal of Physiology*, 572, 25-30.
- MYERS, G. L., COOPER, G. R., WINN, C. L. & SMITH, S. J. 1989. The Centers for Disease Control-National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute Lipid Standardization Program: An Approach to Accurate and Precise Lipid Measurements. *Clinics in Laboratory Medicine*, 9, 105-136.
- NAPOLI, C., DE NIGRIS, F., WELCH, J. S., CALARA, F. B., STUART, R. O., GLASS, C. K. & PALINSKI, W. 2002. Maternal hypercholesterolemia during pregnancy promotes early atherogenesis in LDL receptor-deficient mice and alters aortic gene expression determined by microarray. *Circulation*, 105, 1360-1367.
- NAPOLI, C., GLASS, C. K., WITZTUM, J. L., DEUTSCH, R., D'ARMIENTO, F. P. & PALINSKI, W. 1999. Influence of maternal hypercholesterolaemia during pregnancy on progression of early atherosclerotic lesions in childhood: Fate of Early Lesions in Children (FELIC) study. *Lancet*, 354, 1234-1241.

- NAPOLI, C., WITZTUM, J. L., CALARA, F., DE NIGRIS, F. & PALINSKI, W. 2000. Maternal hypercholesterolemia enhances atherogenesis in normocholesterolemic rabbits, which is inhibited by antioxidant or lipid-lowering intervention during pregnancy - An experimental model of atherogenic mechanisms in human fetuses. *Circulation Research*, 87, 946-952.
- NHLBI 2013. Evidence Report: Managing Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Systematic Evidence Review from the Cholesterol Expert Panel 2013. *In:* GIBBONS, G. H. (ed.). National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute.
- NHS. 2014. *Live Well 5 A Day* [Online]. NHS England. Available: <u>http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/5ADAY/Pages/5ADAYhome.aspx</u> [Accessed 27/06/2014].
- O'FALLON, J. V., BUSBOOM, J. R., NELSON, M. L. & GASKINS, C. T. 2007. A direct method for fatty acid methyl ester synthesis: Application to wet meat tissues, oils, and feedstuffs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 1511-1521.
- OBEN, J. A., MOURALIDARANE, A., SAMUELSSON, A.-M., MATTHEWS, P. J., MORGAN, M. L., MCKEE, C., SOEDA, J., FERNANDEZ-TWINN, D. S., MARTIN-GRONERT, M. S. & OZANNE, S.
 E. 2010. Maternal obesity during pregnancy and lactation programs the development of offspring non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. *Journal of hepatology*, 52, 913-920.
- OPHARDT, C. E. 2003. Virtual Chembook [Online]. Available: www.elmhurst.edu/~chm/vchembook/209cistrans.html [Accessed 30/4/09].
- OSSO, F. S., MOREIRA, A. S. B., TEIXEIRA, M. T., PEREIRA, R. O., DO CARMO, M. D. T. & MOURA, A. S. 2008. Trans fatty acids in maternal milk lead to cardiac insulin resistance in adult offspring. *Nutrition*, 24, 727-732.
- PAIGEN, B., MORROW, A., HOLMES, P. A., MITCHELL, D. & WILLIAMS, R. A. 1987. Quantitative assessment of atherosclerotic lesions in mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 68, 231-40.
- PAINTER, R. C., ROSEBOOM, T. J., VAN MONTFRANS, G. A., BOSSUYT, P. M., KREDIET, R. T., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J. & BLEKER, O. P. 2005. Microalbuminuria in adults after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 16, 189-194.
- PALINSKI, W. & NAPOLI, C. 2002. The fetal origins of atherosclerosis: maternal hypercholesterolemia, and cholesterol-lowering or antioxidant treatment during pregnancy influence in utero programming and postnatal susceptibility to atherogenesis. *Faseb Journal,* 16, 1348-1360.
- PARIZA, M. W., PARK, Y. & COOK, M. E. 2001. The biologically active isomers of conjugated linoleic acid. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 40, 283-298.

- PELIAS, M. N. 1983. Classics in arteriosclerosis research: On experimental cholesterin steatosis and its significance in the origin of some pathological processes by N. Anitschkow and S. Chalatow, translated by Mary Z. Pelias, 1913. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 3, 178-82.
- PETERSEN, O. (ed.) 2007. *Lecture Notes: Human Phsyiology,* Malden, Mass: Blackwell Publishing.
- PETTERSEN, J. & OPSTVEDT, J. 1991. Trans fatty acids. 4. Effects on fatty acid composition of colostrum and milk. *Lipids*, 26, 711-7.
- PETTERSEN, J. & OPSTVEDT, J. 1992. trans fatty acids, 5. Fatty acid composition of lipids of the brain and other organs in suckling piglets. *Lipids*, 27, 761-769.
- PFEUFFER, M. & SCHREZENMEIR, J. 2006. Impact of trans fatty acids of ruminant origin compared with those from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils on CHD risk. *International Dairy Journal*, 16, 1383-1388.
- PIMENTEL, G. D., LIRA, F. S., ROSA, J. C., OLIVEIRA, J. L., LOSINSKAS-HACHUL, A. C., SOUZA, G. I., DAS GRACAS, T. D. C. M., SANTOS, R. V., DE MELLO, M. T., TUFIK, S., SEELAENDER, M., OYAMA, L. M., OLLER DO NASCIMENTO, C. M., WATANABE, R. H., RIBEIRO, E. B. & PISANI, L. P. 2012. Intake of trans fatty acids during gestation and lactation leads to hypothalamic inflammation via TLR4/NFkappaBp65 signaling in adult offspring. *J Nutr Biochem*, 23, 265-71.
- PLAGEMANN, A., HARDER, T., SCHELLONG, K., SCHULZ, S. & STUPIN, J. H. 2012. Early postnatal life as a critical time window for determination of long-term metabolic health. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism,* 26, 641-653.
- POSTON, L. 2006. Endothelial dysfunction in pre-eclampsia. *Pharmacol Rep*, 58 Suppl, 69-74.
- POWELL, R. C. & VACCA, J. B. 1961. Serum lipid studies in familial hypercholesterolemic xanthomatosis. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 31, 828-836.
- QIAO, J. H., XIE, P. Z., FISHBEIN, M. C., KREUZER, J., DRAKE, T. A., DEMER, L. L. & LUSIS, A. J. 1994. PATHOLOGY OF ATHEROMATOUS LESIONS IN INBRED AND GENETICALLY-ENGINEERED MICE - GENETIC DETERMINATION OF ARTERIAL CALCIFICATION. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis*, 14, 1480-1497.
- RADER, D. J., ALEXANDER, E. T., WEIBEL, G. L., BILLHEIMER, J. & ROTHBLAT, G. H. 2009. The role of reverse cholesterol transport in animals and humans and relationship to atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res*, 50 Suppl, S189-94.
- RAHMAN, M. M., BHATTACHARYA, A., BANU, J. & FERNANDES, G. 2007. Conjugated linoleic acid protects against age-associated bone loss in C57BL/6 female mice. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 18, 467-474.

- RAINGER, G., CHIMEN, M., HARRISON, M. J., YATES, C. M., HARRISON, P., WATSON, S. P., LORDKIPANIDZÉ, M. & NASH, G. B. 2015. The role of platelets in the recruitment of leukocytes during vascular disease. *Platelets*, 26, 507-520.
- RAMSAY, J. E., FERRELL, W. R., CRAWFORD, L., WALLACE, A. M., GREER, I. A. & SATTAR, N. 2002. Maternal obesity is associated with dysregulation of metabolic, vascular, and inflammatory pathways. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 4231-7.
- RANDOX. 2011a. *Randox Reagents: Direct HDL-Cholesterol* [Online]. Crumlin, Co. Antrim, UK: Randox Laboratories Ltd. Available: <u>www.randox.com/hdl-cholesterol/</u> [Accessed 19/07/2011 2011].
- RANDOX. 2011b. *Randox Reagents: Direct LDL-Cholesterol* [Online]. Crumlin, Co. Antrim, UK: Randox Laboratories Ltd. Available: <u>www.randox.com/ldl-cholesterol/</u> [Accessed 19/07/2011 2011].
- RANDOX. 2011c. *Randox Reagents: Total Cholesterol CHOD-PAP* [Online]. Crumlin, Co. Antrim, UK: Randox Laboratories Ltd. Available: <u>www.randox.com/total-cholesterol/</u> [Accessed 19/07/11 2011].
- RANDOX. 2011d. Randox Reagents: Triglycerides GPO-PAP [Online]. Crumlin, Co. Antrim, UK: Randox Laboratories Ltd. Available: <u>www.randox.com/triglycerides/</u> [Accessed 19/07/11 2011].
- RAVELLI, A. C., VAN DER MEULEN, J. H., MICHELS, R. P., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J., HALES, C. N.
 & BLEKER, O. P. 1998. Glucose tolerance in adults after prenatal exposure to famine.
 Lancet, 351, 173-7.
- REYNOLDS, R. M., ALLAN, K. M., RAJA, E. A., BHATTACHARYA, S., MCNEILL, G., HANNAFORD, P.
 C., SARWAR, N., LEE, A. J., BHATTACHARYA, S. & NORMAN, J. E. 2013. Maternal obesity during pregnancy and premature mortality from cardiovascular event in adult offspring: follow-up of 1 323 275 person years. *Bmj*, 347, f4539.
- RICE, B. H., KRAFT, J., DESTAILLATS, F., BAUMAN, D. E. & LOCK, A. L. 2010. Ruminant-produced trans-fatty acids raise plasma total and small HDL particle concentrations in male Hartley guinea pigs. *J Nutr*, 140, 2173-9.
- ROSEBOOM, T. J., PAINTER, R. C., VAN ABEELEN, A. F., VEENENDAAL, M. V. & DE ROOIJ, S. R. 2011. Hungry in the womb: what are the consequences? Lessons from the Dutch famine. *Maturitas*, 70, 141-5.
- ROSEBOOM, T. J., VAN DER MEULEN, J. H., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J., RAVELLI, A. C. & BLEKER, O. P. 2000a. Plasma lipid profiles in adults after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 72, 1101-6.

- ROSEBOOM, T. J., VAN DER MEULEN, J. H., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. J., RAVELLI, A. C.,
 SCHROEDER-TANKA, J. M., VAN MONTFRANS, G. A., MICHELS, R. P. & BLEKER, O. P.
 2000b. Coronary heart disease after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine, 1944-45. *Heart*, 84, 595-8.
- ROSENTHAL, M. D. & DOLORESCO, M. A. 1984. The effects of trans fatty acids on fatty acyl delta 5 desaturation by human skin fibroblasts. *Lipids*, 19, 869-74.
- ROSENTHAL, M. D. & WHITEHURST, M. C. 1983. Selective effects of isomeric cis and trans fatty acids on fatty acyl Δ9 and Δ6 desaturation by human skin fibroblasts. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 753, 450-459.
- RYE, K. A., BURSILL, C. A., LAMBERT, G., TABET, F. & BARTER, P. J. 2009. The metabolism and anti-atherogenic properties of HDL. *J Lipid Res*, 50 Suppl, S195-200.
- SACN 2011. The influence of maternal, fetal and child nutrition on the development of chronic disease in later life. *In:* NUTRITION, S. A. C. O. (ed.). UK: Public Health England.
- SACN 2018. The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) report on feeding in the first year of life. *In:* COMMITTEE, S. A. N. A. (ed.). UK: Public Health England.
- SALSBERRY, P. J. & REAGAN, P. B. 2005. Dynamics of early childhood overweight. *Pediatrics*, 116, 1329-38.
- SALTER, A. M. & TARLING, E. J. 2007. Regulation of gene transcription by fatty acids. *Animal,* Oct, 1(9), 1314-20.
- SAMPEY, B. P., VANHOOSE, A. M., WINFIELD, H. M., FREEMERMAN, A. J., MUEHLBAUER, M. J., FUEGER, P. T., NEWGARD, C. B. & MAKOWSKI, L. 2011. Cafeteria Diet Is a Robust Model of Human Metabolic Syndrome With Liver and Adipose Inflammation: Comparison to High-Fat Diet. *Obesity*, 19, 1109-1117.
- SAMUELSSON, A. M., MATTHEWS, P. A., ARGENTON, M., CHRISTIE, M. R., MCCONNELL, J. M., JANSEN, E. H., PIERSMA, A. H., OZANNE, S. E., TWINN, D. F., REMACLE, C., ROWLERSON, A., POSTON, L. & TAYLOR, P. D. 2008. Diet-induced obesity in female mice leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity, hypertension, and insulin resistance: a novel murine model of developmental programming. *Hypertension*, 51, 383-92.
- SATO, R. 2010. Sterol metabolism and SREBP activation. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 501, 177-181.
- SCHACK-NIELSEN, L. & MICHAELSEN, K. F. 2007. Advances in our understanding of the biology of human milk and its effects on the offspring. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 137, 503S-510S.
- SCHAEFER, E. J. 2002. Lipoproteins, nutrition, and heart disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 75, 191-212.

- SCHELLONG, K., SCHULZ, S., HARDER, T. & PLAGEMANN, A. 2012. Birth weight and long-term overweight risk: systematic review and a meta-analysis including 643,902 persons from 66 studies and 26 countries globally. *PLoS One*, 7, e47776.
- SCHOENHEIMER, R. & BREUSCH, F. 1933. Synthesis and destruction of cholesterol in the organism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 103, 439-448.
- SCHULZ, L. C. 2010. The Dutch Hunger Winter and the developmental origins of health and disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 16757-16758.
- SI-TAYEB, K., LEMAIGRE, F. P. & DUNCAN, S. A. 2010. Organogenesis and Development of the Liver. *Developmental Cell*, 18, 175-189.
- SITIA, S., TOMASONI, L., ATZENI, F., AMBROSIO, G., CORDIANO, C., CATAPANO, A.,
 TRAMONTANA, S., PERTICONE, F., NACCARATO, P., CAMICI, P., PICANO, E., CORTIGIANI,
 L., BEVILACQUA, M., MILAZZO, L., CUSI, D., BARLASSINA, C., SARZI-PUTTINI, P. & TURIEL,
 M. 2010. From endothelial dysfunction to atherosclerosis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 9,
 830-834.
- SKEAFE, C. M., WILLISCROFT, K., MANN, J. & CHISHOLM, A. 2004. Replacing cows' with sheep's dairy fat lowers plasma cholesterol concentration in participants consuming dairy fatrich diets. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 250-257.
- SLADEK, F. M., ZHONG, W. M., LAI, E. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 1990. Liver-enriched transcription factor HNF-4 is a novel member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. *Genes Dev*, 4, 2353-65.
- SPADY, D. K. & DIETSCHY, J. M. 1983. Sterol synthesis in vivo in 18 tissues of the squirrel monkey, guinea pig, rabbit, hamster, and rat. *J Lipid Res*, 24, 303-15.
- SPRAGUE, A. H. & KHALIL, R. A. 2009. Inflammatory cytokines in vascular dysfunction and vascular disease. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **78**, 539-552.
- STACHOWSKA, E., BASKIEWICZ, M., MARCHLEWICZ, M., CZUPRYNSKA, K., KACZMARCZYK, M., WISZNIEWSKA, B., MACHALINSKI, B. & CHLUBEK, D. 2010. Conjugated linoleic acids regulate triacylglycerol and cholesterol concentrations in macrophages/foam cells by the modulation of CD36 expression. *Acta Biochim Pol*, 57, 379-84.
- STEUR, M., SMIT, H. A., SCHIPPER, C. M., SCHOLTENS, S., KERKHOF, M., DE JONGSTE, J. C., HAVEMAN-NIES, A., BRUNEKREEF, B. & WIJGA, A. H. 2011. Predicting the risk of newborn children to become overweight later in childhood: the PIAMA birth cohort study. *Int J Pediatr Obes*, 6, e170-8.

- STEWART, F. M., FREEMAN, D. J., RAMSAY, J. E., GREER, I. A., CASLAKE, M. & FERRELL, W. R. 2007. Longitudinal assessment of maternal endothelial function and markers of inflammation and placental function throughout pregnancy in lean and obese mothers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 92, 969-75.
- SUBAR, A. F., FREEDMAN, L. S., TOOZE, J. A., KIRKPATRICK, S. I., BOUSHEY, C., NEUHOUSER, M.
 L., THOMPSON, F. E., POTISCHMAN, N., GUENTHER, P. M., TARASUK, V., REEDY, J. &
 KREBS-SMITH, S. M. 2015. Addressing Current Criticism Regarding the Value of Self-Report Dietary Data. *The Journal of nutrition*, 145, 2639-2645.
- SULLIVAN, E. L., NOUSEN, E. K. & CHAMLOU, K. A. 2014. Maternal high fat diet consumption during the perinatal period programs offspring behavior. *Physiol Behav*, 123, 236-42.
- SWALI, A., MCMULLEN, S., HAYES, H., GAMBLING, L., MCARDLE, H. J. & LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2011. Cell Cycle Regulation and Cytoskeletal Remodelling Are Critical Processes in the Nutritional Programming of Embryonic Development. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e23189.
- SYMONDS, M. E., MENDEZ, M. A., MELTZER, H. M., KOLETZKO, B., GODFREY, K., FORSYTH, S. & VAN DER BEEK, E. M. 2013. Early life nutritional programming of obesity: mother-child cohort studies. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 62, 137-45.
- SZABO, E., BOEHM, G., BEERMANN, C., WEYERMANN, M., BRENNER, H., ROTHENBACHER, D. & DECSI, T. 2007. trans Octadecenoic acid and trans octadecadienoic acid are inversely related to long-chain polyunsaturates in human milk: results of a large birth cohort study. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 85, 1320-6.
- TANNOCK, L. R. & KING, V. L. 2010. Animal models of atherosclerosis: More than mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 212, 32-33.
- TARANTINO, N., SANTORO, F., DE GENNARO, L., CORREALE, M., GUASTAFIERRO, F., GAGLIONE, A., DI BIASE, M. & BRUNETTI, N. D. 2017. Fenofibrate/simvastatin fixed-dose combination in the treatment of mixed dyslipidemia: safety, efficacy, and place in therapy. Vascular health and risk management, 13, 29-41.
- TARLING, E. J., RYAN, K. J., AUSTIN, R., KUGLER, S. J., SALTER, A. M. & LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. 2016. Maternal high-fat feeding in pregnancy programs atherosclerotic lesion size in the ApoE* 3 Leiden mouse. *Journal of developmental origins of health and disease*, 7, 290-297.
- TEEGALA, S. M., WILLETT, W. C. & MOZAFFARIAN, D. 2009. Consumption and Health Effects of Trans Fatty Acids: A Review. *Journal of Acac International*, 92, 1250-1257.
- THOMPSON, J. R., VALLEAU, J. C., BARLING, A. N., FRANCO, J. G., DECAPO, M., BAGLEY, J. L. & SULLIVAN, E. L. 2017. Exposure to a High-Fat Diet during Early Development Programs Behavior and Impairs the Central Serotonergic System in Juvenile Non-Human Primates. *Frontiers in endocrinology*, **8**, 164-164.

- TONGE, L. M. 2011. The impact of altering the fatty acid composition of diets enriched with beef on the development of atherosclerosis. PhD, University of Nottingham.
- TOWNSEND, N., BHATNAGER, P., WICKRAMASINGHE, K., SCARBOROUGH, P., FOSTER, C. & RAYNER, M. 2012a. Physical Activity Statistics 2012. *In:* WEISSBERG, P. (ed.) July 2012 ed. London: British Heart Foundation.
- TOWNSEND, N., WICKRAMASINGHE, K., BHATNAGER, P., SMOLINA, K., NICHOLS, M., LEAL, J., LUENGO-FERNANDEZ, R. & RAYNER, M. 2012b. Coronary Heart Disease Statistics. *In:* WEISSBERG, P. (ed.) *A compendium of health statistics.* 2012 ed. London: British Heart Foundation.
- TURPEINEN, A. M., MUTANEN, M., ARO, A., SALMINEN, I., BASU, S., PALMQUIST, D. L. & GRIINARI, J. M. 2002. Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 76, 504-10.
- TYBURCZ, C., MAJOR, C., LOCK, A. L., DESRAILLATS, F., LAWRENCE, P., BRENNA, J. T., SALTER, A.
 M. & BAUMAN, D. E. 2009. Individual Trans Octadecenoic Acids and Partially Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil Differentially Affect Hepatic Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism in Golden Syrian Hamsters. *Journal of Nutrition*, 139, 257-263.
- VALENZUELA, A. & MORGADO, N. 1999. Trans fatty acid isomers in human health and in the food industry. *Biological Research*, 32, 273-287.
- VAN DEN HOEK, A. M., VAN DER HOORN, J. W. A., MAAS, A. C., VAN DEN HOOGEN, R. M., VAN NIEUWKOOP, A., DROOG, S., OFFERMAN, E. H., PIETERMAN, E. J., HAVEKES, L. M. & PRINCEN, H. M. G. 2014. APOE*3Leiden.CETP transgenic mice as model for pharmaceutical treatment of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, 16, 537-544.
- VAN DEN MAAGDENBERG, A. M., HOFKER, M. H., KRIMPENFORT, P. J., DE BRUIJN, I., VAN VLIJMEN, B., VAN DER BOOM, H., HAVEKES, L. M. & FRANTS, R. R. 1993. Transgenic mice carrying the apolipoprotein E3-Leiden gene exhibit hyperlipoproteinemia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268, 10540-10545.
- VAN HOUWELINGEN, A. C., FOREMAN-VAN DRONGELEN, M. M., NICOLINI, U., NICOLAIDES, K. H., AL, M. D., KESTER, A. D. & HORNSTRA, G. 1996. Essential fatty acid status of fetal plasma phospholipids: similar to postnatal values obtained at comparable gestational ages. *Early Hum Dev*, 46, 141-52.
- VAN VLIJMEN, B. J., VAN 'T HOF, H. B., MOL, M. J., VAN DER BOOM, H., VAN DER ZEE, A., FRANTS, R. R., HOFKER, M. H. & HAVEKES, L. M. 1996. Modulation of very low density lipoprotein production and clearance contributes to age- and gender- dependent hyperlipoproteinemia in apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 97, 1184-1192.

- VAN VLIJMEN, B. J. M., GERRITSEN, G., FRANKEN, A. L., BOESTEN, S. M., KOCKX, M. M., GIJBELS, M. J., VIERBOOM, M. P., VAN ECK, M., VAN DE WATER, B., VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. & HAVEKES, L. M. 2001. Macrophage p53 deficiency leads to enhanced atherosclerosis in APOE*3-Leiden transgenic mice. *Circulation Research*, 88, 780-786.
- VANVLIJMEN, B. J. M., VANDENMAAGDENBERG, A., GIJBELS, M. J. J., VANDERBOOM, H., HOGENESCH, H., FRANTS, R. R., HOFKER, M. H. & HAVEKES, L. M. 1994. DIET-INDUCED HYPERLIPOPROTEINEMIA AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN APOLIPOPROTEIN E3 LEIDEN TRANSGENIC MICE. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 93, 1403-1410.
- VILADOMIU, M., HONTECILLAS, R. & BASSAGANYA-RIERA, J. 2016. Modulation of inflammation and immunity by dietary conjugated linoleic acid. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 785, 87-95.
- VITALI, C., KHETARPAL, S. A. & RADER, D. J. 2017. HDL Cholesterol Metabolism and the Risk of CHD: New Insights from Human Genetics. *Current Cardiology Reports*, 19, 132.
- WANG, X., BRIGGS, M. R., HUA, X., YOKOYAMA, C., GOLDSTEIN, J. L. & BROWN, M. S. 1993. Nuclear protein that binds sterol regulatory element of low density lipoprotein receptor promoter. II. Purification and characterization. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 14497-504.
- WANG, X., SATO, R., BROWN, M. S., HUA, X. & GOLDSTEIN, J. L. 1994. SREBP-1, a membranebound transcription factor released by sterol-regulated proteolysis. *Cell*, 77, 53-62.
- WANG, X. S. & PAIGEN, B. 2005. Genetics of variation in HDL cholesterol in humans and mice. *Circulation Research*, 96, 27-42.
- WANG, Y., JACOME-SOSA, M. M., RUTH, M. R., GORUK, S. D., REANEY, M. J., GLIMM, D. R., WRIGHT, D. C., VINE, D. F., FIELD, C. J. & PROCTOR, S. D. 2009. Trans-11 vaccenic acid reduces hepatic lipogenesis and chylomicron secretion in JCR:LA-cp rats. *J Nutr*, 139, 2049-54.
- WARDELL, M. R., WEISGRABER, K. H., HAVEKES, L. M. & RALL, S. C. 1989. Apolipoprotein E-3 Leiden contains a 7-amino acid insertion that is a tandem reapeat of residues 121-127. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 21205-21210.
- WELHAM, S. J., WADE, A. & WOOLF, A. S. 2002. Protein restriction in pregnancy is associated with increased apoptosis of mesenchymal cells at the start of rat metanephrogenesis. *Kidney Int*, 61, 1231-42.
- WHO 2008. 2008-2013 Action Plan for the Global Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases: Prevent and control cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases and diabetes. Geneva: WHO Document Production Services.
- WHO 2013a. 2013-2020 Action Plan for the Global Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases: Prevent and control cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic respiratory diseases and diabetes. Geneva.

- WHO 2013b. Essential Nutrition Actions: improving maternal, newborn, infant and young child health and nutrition. WHO Document Production Services, Geneva, Switzerland. : World Health Organization.
- WHO. 2015. *Cardiovascular Diseases (CVD) Factsheet No.317* [Online]. World Health Organisation. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/</u> [Accessed 13/12/2015].
- WIEBOLD, J. L. & BECKER, W. C. 1987. Inequality in function of the right and left ovaries and uterine horns of the mouse. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 79, 125-134.
- WILLIAMS, L., SEKI, Y., VUGUIN, P. M. & CHARRON, M. J. 2014. Animal models of in utero exposure to a high fat diet: A review. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1842, 507-519.
- WILSON, P. W. F. 2013. Lipids and Vascular Disease: A Framingham Perspective. *Global Heart*, 8, 25-33.
- WOODALL, S. M., JOHNSTON, B. M., BREIER, B. H. & GLUCKMAN, P. D. 1996. Chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat leads to delayed postnatal growth and elevated blood pressure of offspring. *Pediatr Res*, 40, 438-43.
- YATES, Z., TARLING, E. J., LANGLEY-EVANS, S. C. & SALTER, A. M. 2009. Maternal undernutrition programmes atherosclerosis in the ApoE*3-Leiden mouse. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101, 1185-1194.
- ZADELAAR, S., KLEEMANN, R., VERSCHUREN, L., DE VRIES-VAN DER WEIJ, J., VAN DER HOORN, J., PRINCEN, H. M. & KOOISTRA, T. 2007. Mouse models for atherosclerosis and pharmaceutical modifiers. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 27, 1706-1721.
- ZANDI-NEJAD, K., LUYCKX, V. A. & BRENNER, B. M. 2006. Adult hypertension and kidney disease: the role of fetal programming. *Hypertension*, 47, 502-508.

Calculated Analysis

NUTRIENTS		Total	Supp (9)
Proximate Analysis			
Moisture (1)	%	10.00	
Crude Oil	%	2.71	
Crude Protein	%	14.38	
Crude Fibre	%	4.65	
Ash	%	6.00	
Nitrogen Free Extract	%	61.73	
Digestibility Co-Efficients (7)			
Digestible Crude Oil	%	2.47	
Digestible Crude Protein	%	12.92	
Carbohydrates, Fibre and Non	Starch F	Polysaccharide	s (NSP)
Total Dietary Fibre	%	17.05	
Pectin	%	1.52	
Hemicellulose	%	10.17	
Cellulose	%	4.32	
Lignin	%	1.68	
Starch	%	44.97	
Sugar	%	4.05	
Energy (5)			
Gross Energy	Mike	14.74	
Digestible Energy (15)	Mikg	11.90	
Metabolisable Energy (15)	Mi/kg	10.74	
Atwater Fuel Energy (AFE)(8)	Mj/kg	13.75	
AFE from Oil	%	7.42	
AFE from Protein	%	17.49	
AFE from Carbohydrate	%	75.09	
Fatty Acids			
Saturated Fatty Acids			
C12:0 Lauric	%	0.02	
C14:0 Myristic	%	0.14	
C16:0 Palmitic	%	0.31	
C18:0 Stearic	%	0.04	
Monounsaturated Fatty Acids			
CI4:I Myristoleic	%	0.02	
C16:1 Paimitoleic	76	0.09	
C.18:1 CIEIC Polyupesturated Eatty Acide	%	0.77	
(187(m6) Lipoloic	e.	0.69	
C183(a3) Linolenic	ŝ	0.06	
(70:4(m6) Arachidonic	ŝ	013	
C22:5(ω3) Clupanodonic	%	0.15	
Amino Acids			
Arginine	%	0.91	
Lysine (6)	%	0.66	0.07
Methionine	%	0.22	0.04
Cystine	%	0.24	
Tryptophan	%	0.18	
Histidine	%	0.35	
Threonine	%	0.49	
Isoleucine	%	0.54	
Leucine	%	0.98	
Phenylalanine	%	0.66	
Valine	%	0.69	
Tyrosine	%	0.49	
Taurine	%		
Gyane	%	1.11	
Aspartic Acid	36	0.67	

NUTRIENTS		Total	Supp (9)	
Chatamir Arid	9/	217		
Broline	75 9/	1.20		
Froine	75 9/	0.54		
Ladrosomolina	75 9/	0.36		
Hydroxyproline	75 9/			
Alapina	75 9/	0.14		
Alanne	76	0.16		
Macro Minerals				
Calcium	%	0.73	0.63	
Total Phosphorus	%	0.52	0.04	
Phytate Phosphorus	%	0.24		
Available Phosphorus	%	0.28	0.04	
sodum	75	0.25	0.19	
Chloride	% ov	0.38	0.32	
Hotassium	75	0.67		
Magnesium	Ж	0.23		
Micro Minerals				
Iron	mg/kg	159.30	82.50	
Copper	mg/kg	11.50	1.94	
Manganese	mg/kg	72.44	19.22	
Zinc	mg/kg	35.75		
Cobalt	μg/kg	634.10	550.00	
lodine	μg/kg	1202.69	1085.00	
Selenium	μg/kg	298.99	100.00	
Fluorine	mg/kg	10.49		
Vitamins				
β-Carotene (2)	mg/kg	0.16		
Retinol (2)	μg/kg	2566.38	2400.00	
Vitamin A (2)	iu/kg	8554.27	8000.00	
Cholecalciferol (3)	μg/kg	15.54	15.00	
Vitamin D (3)	iu/kg	621.70	600.00	
α-Tocopherol (4)	mg/kg	76.45	56.82	
Vitamin E (4)	iu/kg	84.10	62.50	
Vitamin B ₁ (Thiamine)	mg/kg	8.58	1.96	
Vitamin B ₂ (Riboflavin)	mg/kg	4.33	2.94	
Vitamin B ₆ (Pyridoxine)	mg/kg	4.81	0.98	
Vitamin B ₁₂ (Cyanocobalamine)	μg/kg	7.49	6.00	
Vitamin C (Ascorbic Acid)	mg/kg	2.59		
Vitamin K (Menadione)	mg/kg	10.17	9.36	
Folic Acid (Vitamin B ₂)	mg/kg	0.79	2.45	
Nicotinic Acid (Vitamin PP) (6)	mg/kg	61.32	2.45	
Paritothenic Acid (Vitamin B ₃₅)	mg/kg	20.17	5.80	
Choine (Vitamin B ₉₇)	mg/kg	1080.14	366.60	
Distin (Vitamin LD. (C)	mg/kg	2369.59		
 I. All values are calculated using a moisture basis of 10%. Typical moisture levels will range between 9.5 - 11.5%. 2. a. Vitamin A includes Refinol and the Retinol equivalents of β-carotene b. Retinol includes the Retinol equivalents of β-Carotene. c. 0.48 μg Retinol = 1 μg β-carotene = 1.6 iu Vitamin A activity d. 1 μg Retinol = 3.33* iu Vitamin A activity e. 1 iu Vitamin A = 0.3 μg Retinol = 0.6 μg β-carotene f. The standard analysis for Vitamin A does not detect β-carotene 3. 1 μg Cholecalciferol (D₀) = 40.0 iu Vitamin D 4. 1 mg al-roc-a-tocopherol = 1.1 iu Vitamin E activity ing al-roc-a-tocopherol = 1.1 iu Vitamin E activity 5. 1 MJ = 239.23 Kalories = 239.23 Calories = 239.230 calories 6. These nutrients coming from natural raw materials such as coreals may have low availabilities due to the interactions with other compounds. 7. Based on in-vitro digetability analysis. 8. AF Energy = Atwater Fuel Energy = ((COS/100)*9000)+ ((CPS/100)*4000)+((NEEX/100)*4000)/239.23 9. Supolemented putrings from manufactured and mined courses 				
15. Calculated.				